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2023
THETT
HK$'000
OPERATING RESULTS
Revenue 1,227,190
Gross profit 210,646
Operating profit 21,370
Profit for the year attributable to equity
holders of the Company 1,245
Basic and diluted earnings per share
(HK cents) 1.2
FINANCIAL POSITION
Current assets 822,662
Current liabilities 748,322
Non-current assets 142,969
Non-current liabilities 67,016
Equity attributable to equity holders of
the Company 150,293
KEY FINANCIAL RATIOS
Gross profit margin 17.2%
Net profit margin 0.1%
Return on equity (Note 1) 0.8%
Return on total assets (Note 2) 0.1%

Current ratio

Net gearing ratio (Note 3)

B 5E

1.
B LAT100%:THE -

2. MEBERRRDNRFRNRFBUNBEENTALE 2.
B E R IA100%ETHE -

3. FEABBLRDNERGRTERNBRESRES 3.

Notes:

1.1f&times

12.0%

W B E TR F N R MR ABEZSN TII4& 1. The calculation of return on equity is based on profit for the year divided by
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average balance of total equity and multiplied by 100%.

The calculation of return on total assets is based on profit for the year divided by
average balance of total assets and multiplied by 100%.

The calculation of net gearing ratio is based on total bank borrowings net of cash
and cash equivalents, and term deposits with original maturity over three months,
divided by total equity and multiplied by 100%. As the Group was in a net cash
position as at 31 December 2024, no net gearing ratio was presented.
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Five-Year Financial Summary

mEXEE CONSOLIDATED RESULTS
BZE12A318LLEE
For the year ended 31 December

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

F#&ET FHET FET FET FET

HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000

g Revenue 1,260,799 1,227,190 1,335,549 1,047,330 819,503

KR A Operating profit 98,764 21,370 32,107 34,978 14,692

RARERFER A Profit for the year
JEAE F Mg A attributable to equity
holders of the Company 72,234 1,245 15,134 20,120 1,451
meEEHSE CONSOLIDATED ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
M12A31H
As at 31 December

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

F#ET FHET FET FET T T

HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000

mEEE Current assets 805,254 822,662 866,773 798,815 637,049

mEEE Current liabilities 661,363 748,322 794,879 726,397 582,013

ERENEEE Non-current assets 128,245 142,969 110,743 98,394 108,517

EREBEE Non-current liabilities 50,997 67,016 26,602 18,068 25,848
RRBESFA A Equity attributable to

FEf equity holders of the
Company 221,139 150,293 156,035 152,744 137,705
BEREERERAT 5
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On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors” and
each a “Director”) of Wise Ally International Holdings Limited (the
“Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”), | am pleased
to present to the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) the
annual results and consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2024 (“FY2024” or the “reporting period”)
together with the comparative figures for the year ended 31 December
2023 (“FY2023").

In 2024, we successfully navigated a dynamic global landscape
marked by subdued consumer spending, ongoing geopolitical tension
and volatile interest rate environment. Despite these headwinds, we
demonstrated resilience, achieving a 2.7% increase in revenue and a
robust 17.7% rise in gross profit. These results underscore the disciplined
execution and effectiveness of our business strategy and the strength of
our operational model. Our operations in China remain the backbone of
our production, delivering efficiency and scale that keep us competitive
in the global marketplace.

A pivotal development in 2024 was the launch of strategic partnership
in Batam, Indonesia, aligning with the “China Plus One” strategy.
This initiative enhances our supply chain flexibility and resilience to
geopolitical and logistical risks, which positions us to better serve our
customers. By diversifying our manufacturing base, we are not only
responding to market trends but also laying the groundwork for sustained
growth in an increasingly interconnected world.

Our 2023 pick of Batam as an alternative manufacturing site progressed
well. We successfully ramped up full-scale production for a major client
at this strategic partnership in early 2024. To ensure seamless operations,
we deployed a specialised on-site team, backed by our experienced
team in China. This arrangement helps us maintain quality in technical,
manufacturing, and logistical services. Given the low geopolitical
risk, competitive labour costs and productivity and proximity to our
China base, we plan to further expand production capacity in Batam,
reinforcing our long-term commitment to operational diversification.

Innovation remains at the heart of our strategy. In 2024, our research
and development pipeline products made significant strides, with key
products transitioning to mass production in early 2024. These efforts,
underpinned by our dedicated teams in China and Batam, further
strengthen our reputation for quality, reliability and technological
excellence.

While 2024 was a year of strong performance and strategic progress, we
are poised to build on this momentum and remain vigilant in the face of
ongoing global uncertainties, including tariff fluctuations, supply chain
disruptions, and economic volatility. However, our solid foundation,
adaptability, and proactive approach position us well to navigate these
challenges and capitalize on emerging opportunities.

6 WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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PROSPECTS

Predictably unpredictable, the opening scenes of 2025 have nations and
businesses across the world all but caught up in an excruciating swirl
of geopolitical maelstrom. And as tariff calls face pushbacks from the
tariffed and other conflicts spiral upwards, the world sits perilously at the
cusp of a major recession — if not a depression.

For us to button up in a capricious world, the following are highlights:
In 2024, our Original Design Manufacturer and Joint Development
Manufacturing projects we pursued panned out successfully in the
consumer electronics sector. Riding on this success, we will further
expand our in-house capabilities with wider coverage of turnkey
solutions encompassing software, firmware development, design
optimizations in electronics, electro-mechanics, as well as enhancing our
core manufacturing services to our customers. To strengthen our global
presence, we will increase participation in international trade shows,
showcasing our diverse capabilities and services to attract new clients
worldwide.

As part of our commitment to technological advancement, we will
collaborate with universities and industry partners in HKSAR and
China to leverage our expertise in Al and 5G-enabled electronic
and mechanical products, including application-specific robotics.
Recognising the rapid evolution of the electric vehicle (“EV”) sector,
we will actively identify opportunities to expand into this high-growth
industry. Our deep expertise in consumer electronics and electro-
mechanics uniquely positions us to support the development of next-
generation EV technologies and components.

Looking ahead to 2025, we are committed to minimising and managing
interest rate exposure by narrowing down the bank borrowing. This will
help strengthen our financial performance, enhance our balance sheet,
and provide greater financial flexibility to support our strategic objectives
moving forward.

So, by escalating competence and innovation, as well as swiftly adapting
to the dictates of reality, we shall ride out whatever impending storms to
stridently pull ahead.

We've only just begun.

BEERERERAR 7
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APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to express
my sincere appreciation to our customers, business partners and
Shareholders for their continuous support. | would like to also thank the
management team and all staff members for their contribution during the
year.

Chu Wai Hang Raymond
Chairman, Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 26 March 2025
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group recorded revenue of HK$1,260.8 million for FY2024 (FY2023:
HK$1,227.2 million), reflecting an increase of HK$33.6 million, or 2.7%.
Such increase was mainly due to the increase in customer orders from a
few key customers in FY2024.

For FY2024, our products were shipped to over 27 (FY2023: 25)
countries and regions. The Philippines became our largest market,
contributing HK$377.2 million (FY2023: HK$228.1 million), or 29.9%
(FY2023: 18.6%) of our total revenue. The U.S. sales revenue showed a
drop of 21.0%, which is the result of notable increases in sales in other
regions, such as Philippines and Chinese Mainland, in FY2024. The
changes in the sales mix to other major countries around the world were
primarily due to the new products ramped up from our key customers
which led to an increase in the customer orders for our products and a
change in the distribution strategy from some of our major customers
between countries.

Gross profit for FY2024 amounted to HK$247.9 million (FY2023:
HK$210.6 million), which increased by HK$37.3 million, or 17.7%,
and gross profit margin increased from 17.2% for FY2023 to 19.7% for
FY2024. The increase in gross profit was mainly due to the change in
product mix, which led to an increase in the customer orders for our
products with relatively higher contribution margin as well as a reduction
in material costs of our products. This aligns with the increase in revenue
in FY2024.

Selling and distribution expenses and administrative expenses for FY2024
were HK$171.9 million (FY2023: HK$161.6 million), reflecting an
increase of HK$10.3 million or 6.4%. The cost increase was mainly due
to a strategic increase in headcount for product innovation marketing
efforts to capture future business opportunities.

Net finance costs decreased by HK$0.3 million, or 1.9% from HK$15.9
million for FY2023 to HK$15.6 million for FY2024. The slight decrease
was mainly due to the Group intending to narrow down its bank
borrowing, reducing the utilization from HK$292.6 million to HK$188.3
million, while global interest rates remained relatively high during
FY2024.

EFBEERARAR] 9
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EEENWETN

Management Discussion and Analysis

202457 B &5 FI K08 18 00 B2 B R~
CSEMNFERFHOFERT RGN BHE
FHREMEBEZEF BEYRaNERG #E
o GDERMEROMER A BBERE: &
(ii)202457 B[S AN S (830 48 8 5 4R A FERT
AERZERMEENAFEZSNIMER-
B B AT 2024 BN FE FE AR D RIAE SR B
BABEFERERN A72285 88 T (202384
BEE 12888 7m) ®BN71.088 8wk
5,701.9% ©

Iz =

EEG N ER 20245 B F [E R E 7] R &8
f% 5 (20238 EVFE - ) o

RBETRMBER

AEBFEFRESRETHEENRNIE
SRBITERBRDES REAFTRKIEHE
& 2024F 128318 REBRITERA
188.3BE BB T (2023F12A31H :1292.6F &
BIL) mMAEERE RASEEY KRR
HRBE=EAZEBEFERAE2839B8E T
(2023512 A31H : 2746 BBEHETT) °

2024128310 AEBEFIR S 8% (RE
HEABBE-EAZEHAGEHURREREE
VIR EERZSH) B95.68 &8 7T (20234
12A318 EFUFELNI18.08 & HBL) M
wiE A221.18 88T (2023F12 8318 :
150.3B BB T) - N2024F12 8318 AR A
SEERNFHRSRL BV EZINELRE
B & (2023512 A831H :12.0% ) - ZEXRE
B EDNZRBERNBESRASSEDR
REE B A=A 2T 87 R A B
BIRA100%:1E -

AEBABRENRDECRNEBR KA
BEOEEESHR

CENCEYS TS

P04 EE  AREBEEBLERFAN104
BEB7T Q03HBFE 13.88&ET) * A
RAREME BEMEEAREREE-

R2024F 128318 - AEBHEA BT 4B M
FEBECHBERE LK 2 EARFIEIIAR
B8 (2023128318 :12.8A&HB L) °

10

Annual Report 2024

The remarkable increase in profit for FY2024 was mainly attributable
to (i) the new products ramped up from our key customers which led
to an increase in the customer orders for our products with a relatively
higher contribution margin; (ii) an effective reduction in material costs
of our products; and (iii) the Group did not record any loss on fair value
changes of financial asset at fair value through profit or loss for FY2024.
As a result of the foregoing, profit for the year attributable to equity
holders of the Company for FY2024 was HK$72.2 million (FY2023:
HK$1.2 million), reflecting an increase of HK$71.0 million or 5,701.9%.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of any final dividend for
FY2024 (FY2023: nil).

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group funded its liquidity and capital requirements primarily
through a combination of internally generated funds from its operating
activities and bank borrowings. As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s
bank borrowings were HK$188.3 million (31 December 2023:
HK$292.6 million) while the Group’s cash and cash equivalents and
term deposits with original maturity over three months were HK$283.9
million (31 December 2023: HK$274.6 million).

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s total net cash (which equals
to the term deposits with original maturity over three months and
cash and equivalents less borrowings) amounted to HK$95.6 million
(31 December 2023: net borrowing of approximately HK$18.0 million)
while its total equity amounted to HK$221.1 million (31 December
2023: HK$150.3 million). As the Group was in a net cash position as at
31 December 2024, no gearing ratio was presented (31 December 2023:
12.0%). The net gearing ratio is calculated as total borrowings net of
cash and cash equivalents and term deposits with original maturity over
three months divided by total equity and multiplied by 100%.

The Group has adequate liquidity to meet its current and future working
capital requirements.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES AND COMMITMENTS

The Group incurred total capital expenditures of HK$10.4 million during
FY2024 (FY2023: HK$13.8 million) for additions of properties, plant and
equipment and intangible assets.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had capital commitments in relation
to the purchase of plant and machinery contracted but not provided for
in the amount of HK$1.9 million (31 December 2023: HK$2.8 million).

WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2024, to the best knowledge of the Board, the Group
was not involved in any legal proceedings pending or threatened against
our Group which could have a material adverse effect on our business
or operations. Besides, the Group did not have any significant contingent
liabilities as at 31 December 2024.

CHARGES ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, there were no charges over the
assets of the Group.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

The Group did not have any significant investments, material acquisition
or disposal of subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures during the year
ended 31 December 2024.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

Save as aforesaid convertible bond included in the financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss, the Group did not make or hold any
significant investments (including any investment with a value of 5% or
more of the Company’s total assets as at 31 December 2024) during the
year ended 31 December 2024.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group operates in Hong Kong and Chinese Mainland and is
exposed to foreign exchange risk arising primarily with respect to the
United States dollars (“USD”) and Chinese Renminbi (“RMB”). Most of
the Group's sales proceeds are received in USD and some of the Group's
purchases and operating expenses are denominated in RMB. The Group
closely monitors its overall foreign exchange exposure from time to
time and will adopt a proactive but prudent approach to minimize the
relevant exposures.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The shares of the Company have been listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange since 10 January 2020 (the “Listing Date”). As at 31
December 2024, the Company’s total number of issued shares was
100,000,000 at HK$0.2 each (31 December 2023: 100,000,000 shares
at HK$0.2 each).

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's capital structure consisted of bank
borrowings and equity attributable to equity holders of the Company,
comprising issued share capital and reserves. There was no material
change in capital structure of the Group during FY2024.

EFBEERARAR] 1 1
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EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group employed approximately
1,900 (31 December 2023: 1,600) employees in Hong Kong and
Chinese Mainland. The increase in the number of employees can be
attributable to a 2.7% rise in revenue. Total staff costs for FY2024
amounted to HK$257.0 million (FY2023: HK$223.5 million). The
Group adopts a remuneration policy which is commensurate with job
nature, qualification and experience of employees. In addition to the
provision of annual bonuses and employee related insurance benefits,
discretionary bonuses are also rewarded to employees based on
individual performance. The remuneration packages and policies are
reviewed periodically. The Group also provides in-house and external
training programs to its employees. The emoluments of the Directors are
decided by the Board and the remuneration committee of the Company
having regard to the Group’s operating results, individual performance
and comparable market statistics.

The Group has also adopted a share option scheme on 10 December
2019 for the purpose of providing incentives to eligible participants of
the scheme, including Directors, full-time employees and advisers and
consultants to the Group. No option was granted during FY2024 and, as
at 31 December 2024, there was no outstanding option granted under
the scheme.
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SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE
REPORTING PERIOD

On 10 February 2025, Wise Ally Holdings Limited (the “Vendor”), an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and the Company
entered into the sale and purchase agreement with Ms. Chang Wai
Han Vivian (the “Purchaser”) and TTL, pursuant to which the Vendor
conditionally agreed to sell, and the Purchaser has conditionally agreed
to purchase, 10% issued shares of TTL at a consideration of HK$730,000
(the “Disposal”). The Disposal has been completed on 13 February 2025.
Upon completion of the Disposal, the Vendor ceased to hold any equity
interest in TTL.

On 10 February 2025, Mr. Chu Wai Hang Raymond (“Mr. Chu”), the
chairman, executive Director and chief executive officer of the Company,
entered into a termination deed (“Termination Deed”) with TTL and the
Purchaser, pursuant to which, among others, all the rights and obligations
of Mr. Chu and TTL under the put option agreement dated 12 September
2023 entered into between Mr. Chu and TTL in relation to the grant of
the right to require Mr. Chu to purchase new shares of TTL, to the extent
that the Vendor and Mr. Chu shall together hold 30% of the total number
of shares issued by the TTL after the new issue of shares of TTL at the
exercise price of HK$44,000,000, was terminated with immediate effect
upon execution of the Termination Deed.

On the same date, the Vendor received a deed of undertaking
(“Undertaking”) issued by Mr. Chu, in favour of the Vendor, pursuant to
which Mr. Chu unconditionally and irrevocably agrees and undertakes
to pay, within 14 business days after the Extended Maturity Date, to the
Vendor for and on behalf of TTL the outstanding principal amount of the
CB, together with all outstanding accrued interests accrued up to and
including the Extended Maturity Date (collectively, the “Outstanding
CB Principal and Interest”), pursuant to the terms and conditions of the
CB Subscription Agreement. As of the date of this annual report, the
Outstanding CB Principal and Interest have been fully paid by Mr. Chu
pursuant to the Undertaking.

This is a non-adjusting event after the financial year end and does not
result in any adjustments to the consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2024.

For details of the Disposal and the Undertaking, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 10 February 2025.

Saved as disclosed in this annual report, there was no significant event
affecting the Group which occurred since the end of the reporting
period.
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Executive Directors

Mr. Chu Wai Hang Raymond (“Mr. Raymond Chu”), aged 72, is our
Chairman, an executive Director and one of the founders of our Group
and has been the Chief Executive Officer of the Company since 30
September 2021. He is also a member of the Nomination Committee
and Remuneration Committee and an authorized representative of the
Company. He is responsible for the leadership of the Board, corporate
governance promotion, strategic planning, and major decision-making of
our Group.

Mr. Raymond Chu is a director of various subsidiaries of the Company.
Prior to the establishment of our Group in July 2010, Mr. Raymond Chu
had worked for Defond Holdings (H.K.) Co. Limited and its subsidiaries
since June 1990 as the chairman responsible for technical, information
technology and research and development functions and later for the
management and operation of the electronics manufacturing services
(“EMS”) division. From May 1977 to early 1990s, Mr. Raymond Chu had
worked as an engineer for a company principally engaged in the supply
of electromechanical motion systems and solutions.

Mr. Raymond Chu graduated from the University of California, Berkeley
in the U.S. with a bachelor of science in mechanical engineering in
March 1977.

Mr. Raymond Chu is the father of Mr. Chu Man Yin Arthur Newton,
Executive Director and the Managing Director of original brand
development, and the elder brother of Mr. Chu Wai Cheong Wilson (a
controlling and substantial shareholder of the Company). He is also a
controlling and substantial shareholder of the Company and a director
and shareholder of each of Smart Union Global Group Limited and
Smartview Investments Limited, each of which has an interest in the
shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571, Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”).

Mr. Chu Man Yin Arthur Newton (“Mr. Arthur Chu”), aged 42, was
appointed as an Executive Director on 2 July 2021. He joined the Group
in January 2021 with the position as the Managing Director of original
brand development responsible for overall operation of the New Branded
Division of the Group. His duties include formulation of the marketing
strategy of self-developed products, identification and development of
new sales opportunities, and maintaining long-term relationships with
internal and external partners.

WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Arthur Chu had worked for Cornerstone
Developments Limited as research and development senior manager
from December 2015 to January 2021, responsible for research, planning
and overseeing development of new LED lighting products. Mr. Arthur
Chu joined Defond Electrical Industries Limited (“DEIL”) as a mechanical
engineer in April 2008, and was responsible for monitoring product
design and development, testing schedule, collaborating with different
departments to drive and control the project progress. He was later
promoted to senior program manager in February 2013, responsible for
overseeing the new projects launching, budget control, coordination
and implementation of products, and handling commercial issues
with customers. Mr. Arthur Chu'’s last position in DEIL was research
and development senior manager from April 2015 to November 2015,
responsible for research, planning and implementing new programs
development into the organization.

Mr. Arthur Chu graduated from the University of Southern California with
a Bachelor Degree of Science in Mechanical Engineering in 2006.

Mr. Arthur Chu is the son of Mr. Raymond Chu, the Chairman, the
Chief Executive Officer, an Executive Director, and a controlling and
substantial shareholder of the Company. Mr. Arthur Chu is also the
nephew of Mr. Chu Wai Cheong Wilson, a controlling and substantial
shareholder of the Company.

Mr. Lau Shui Fung (“Mr. Lau”), aged 58, was appointed as the Chief
Financial Officer of the Company on 31 October 2021 and became
an executive Director on 1 December 2021. He is entrusted with the
financial and accounting management of the Group.

Prior to his tenure with the Group, Mr. Lau held the position of Chief
Financial Officer at Defond Holdings (H.K.) Co Ltd., which was the
holding company of Wise Ally Holdings Limited, an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, prior to its reorganisation of the listing
of the Company’s shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (the
“Listing”), where he undertook various responsibilities, including those
of Vice President of Finance and Company Secretary, from April 2016 to
October 2021. Between September 2013 and March 2016, he served as
the Vice President of Finance at Computime Group Limited, a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 320). Mr.
Lau also held several positions at Nam Tai Electronics, Inc. (currently
known as Nam Tai Property Inc.), a company listed on the New York
Stock Exchange (stock code: NTE), from November 2001 to September
2013, including Vice President of Finance, Group Financial Controller
and Corporate Secretary. Additionally, Mr. Lau served as an independent
non-executive director of Nam Tai Property Inc., a company listed on
the New York Stock Exchange (stock code: NTP), from June 2018 to June
2019, and as an independent non-executive director of Kaisa Health
Group Holdings Limited (Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code:
0876) from August 2019 to March 2020.
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Mr. Lau obtained a bachelor of commerce degree in Accounting from
The University of Southern Queensland in Australia, as well as a master
of professional accounting degree from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University. He is a Fellow Member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, a Certified Practising Accountant of CPA Australia,
and a Fellow Member of the Association of International Accountants.
Mr. Lau possesses over 24 years of extensive experience in accounting,
auditing, and finance, acquired through his work with high-tech
companies listed in both the United States and Hong Kong.

Independent non-executive Directors

Ms. Law Elizabeth (“Ms. Law”), aged 70, obtained a Bachelor of
Commerce degree in Accounting from McGill University of Canada
in 1976. Ms. Law is the Managing Director of Law & Partners CPA
Limited and Proprietor of Stephen Law & Company. She is a Chartered
Professional Accountant, Chartered Accountant of Canada, a Certified
Public Accountant (Practising) in Hong Kong, a fellow member of the
Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and a fellow
member of the CPA Australia. Ms. Law is an independent non-executive
director of Sunwah Kingsway Capital Holdings Limited (stock code:
0188), Clifford Modern Living Holdings Limited (stock code: 3686), The
Wharf (Holdings) Limited (stock code: 0004), Onewo Inc. (stock code:
2602) and Starlite Holdings Limited (stock code: 0403), all of which are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Lee Wa Lun Warren (“Mr. Lee”), aged 61,
independent non-executive Director on 10 December 2019. He is
mainly responsible for providing independent advice to our Group. He
is also the chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of the

was appointed as an

Remuneration Committee and the Audit Committee.

WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Mr. Lee was one of the founding directors of Yu Ming Investment
Management Limited (“Yu Ming”) in July 1996 and has worked in Yu
Ming ever since, responsible for overseeing business development,
maintaining client relationship, monitoring industry developments and
supervising corporate finance advisory and asset management teams
on the provision of services to clients. Mr. Lee is an executive director
of Da Yu Financial Holdings Limited, the holding company of Yu Ming,
which has been listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 1073) since July 2019. Mr. Lee was an executive director and
the chairman of the board of SHK Hong Kong Industries Limited which
was listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 666)
in December 1990 but was delisted on 23 April 2021 subsequent to its
successful privatization. Mr. Lee first joined SHK Hong Kong Industries
Limited as a manager in July 1992 and became an executive director in
September 2004. He was appointed as the chairman of the board and
ceased to act as the managing director of SHK Hong Kong Industries
Limited in March 2009. From November 2007 to March 2015, Mr. Lee
was a non-executive chairman of Rotol Singapore Ltd which was listed
on the main board of the Singapore Exchange Limited until August 2011.
He acted as an executive director of Viva China Holdings Limited, a
company listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8032),
from June 2010 to June 2013. From February 2013 to April 2013, he
was a non-executive director of China Kingstone Mining Holdings
Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 1380). From December 2006 to May 2007, he was the
chief executive officer of Nam Tai Electronics, Inc. (currently known as
Nam Tai Property Inc.), an electronics manufacturing services provider
listed on the New York Stock Exchange (stock code: NTP). From March
2004 to February 2006, he was an independent non-executive director
of Nam Tai Electronic & Electrical Products Limited, and from February
2006 to April 2007, he was re-designated as a non-executive director.
At the time of his directorship, Nam Tai Electronic & Electrical Products
Limited was listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
2633). From January 2007 to April 2007, he was also a non-executive
director of J.I.C. Technology Company Limited (currently known as China
Renewable Energy Investment Limited), which is listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 987). Mr. Lee was appointed
as independent non-executive director of TIH Limited, a company listed
on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (stock code: T55)
since May 2024.

Mr. Lee graduated from The University of East Anglia in England in
1986 with a bachelor of science and obtained a distinction in master of
science from The City University Business School in London in 1988.

Mr. Lee is a responsible officer licensed to conduct type 1 (dealing in
securities), type 4 (advising on securities), type 6 (advising on corporate
finance) and type 9 (asset management) regulated activities under the
SFO.
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Mr. Szeto Yuk Ting (“Mr. Szeto”), aged 57, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 10 December 2019. He is
mainly responsible for providing independent advice to our Group. He is
also the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of the
Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee.

Mr. Szeto was admitted as a solicitor in Hong Kong in September 1992
and is currently a practicing solicitor in Hong Kong. Mr. Szeto is the co-
founder of Messrs. Y.T. Szeto & Co., Solicitors that was established in
September 1996 and has served as the sole proprietor of Messrs. Szeto
& Co., Y.T. since January 2001. Mr. Szeto worked for Messrs. Paul Chan
& Co., Solicitors from October 1993 to August 1996 as an assistant
solicitor. Prior to that, Mr. Szeto served as an articled clerk in Messrs.
Norman Yung & Co., Solicitors from September 1990 to September 1992
and then as an assistant solicitor with the same firm from September
1992 to October 1993.

Mr. Szeto graduated from the University of Hong Kong in Hong Kong
with a bachelor of laws in December 1989 and was awarded the
postgraduate certificate of laws by the University of Hong Kong in
Hong Kong in June 1990. Since June 2017, Mr. Szeto has served as
an independent non-executive director of Evergreen Products Group
Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 1962). Since 4 March 2022, Mr. Szeto has served as an
independent non-executive director of Chiho Environmental Group
Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 976).

Senior Management

Mr. WEI Andrew, Yick Siu, (“Mr. Wei”) age 55, was promoted to Chief
Marketing Officer on 1 January 2023, who was initially appointed as
Vice President of Client Base Management of the Company on 3 August,
2021. He participates in strategic planning and business development
for our Group. Prior to joining our Group, from October 2017 to June
2021, Mr. Wei was managing the EMS Business Unit as a Director at PC
Partner Limited, a subsidiary of PC Partner Group Limited, a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1263), the
principal business of which is to develop and manufacture an OBM
line of gaming PCs as well as graphics interface cards. Mr. Wei was
responsible for developing new business, establishing new technology
platform and leading R&D for the EMS Business Unit. From 2000 to
2017, Mr. Wei joined Electronics Tomorrow Limited, a subsidiary of
Tomorrow International Holdings Limited, a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Former stock code: 760) principally
engaged in the designing and manufacturing of LCD time piece and LCD
connected consumer electronics for global markets. His last position
for the group was Chief Operation Officer. From 1995 to 2000, Mr. Wei
joined Hiraoka & Co., HK. Limited, as Departmental Senior Manager, a
renowned Japanese Trading firm that managed outsource manufacturing
and product development for appliance & consumer electronics with
majority of clientele from Japan. Mr. Wei graduated from the University
of Toronto in June 1992 with a Bachelor Degree in Economics &
Japanese Studies. During his years in the University of Toronto, he has
participated in an exchange program with Sophia University in Japan for
his Japanese proficiency since 1990.
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Ms. Choi Yuet Mei Mercury, (“Ms. Choi”) aged 53, has been appointed
as the Vice President of the Supply Base Management of the Group
since October 2021, and is primarily responsible for overseeing the
procurement team of the Group. Ms. Choi leads the procurement team
to negotiate prices and terms, promotes the formulation of alternative
procurement plans to improve material cost competitiveness, formulates
strategic arrangements for suppliers, establishes supplier partnerships,
and manages suppliers service performance.

Before joining the Group, Ms. Choi worked in the electronics and
enclosure manufacturing industry for nearly 30 years, responsible for
procurement, supply chain, logistics operation, production operation
management, program management. Ms. Choi joined Karrie Group (stock
code: 1050), a Hong Kong listed company, from July 2017 to September
2021 as the Assistant General Manager of Procurement — Supply Chain
Management, responsible for formulating overall procurement strategic
management, procurement policy direction, and ensuring the stability
of supply chain management. From July 2009 to October 2013, she
worked for a Chinese based EMS enterprise listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange, Shenzhen Sea Star Technology Co., Ltd. (stock code: 2137),
as the Vice General Manager, responsible for managing the Program
Management Department, Purchasing Department, Logistics Supply
Chain and Operations Management.

Ms. Choi graduated from Macquarie University, Australia in July 2009
with a Master Degree in Logistics and Operations Management.

Mr. Chan Wai Ho, (“Mr. Chan”) aged 55, joined our Group on 6 April
2020 as general manager of our Group. He is responsible for overseeing
production operation of our Group.

Mr. Chan has over 30 years’ experience in various multinational
companies in EMS and manufacturing industry. Before joining our
Group, from January 2018 to April 2020, Mr. Chan worked for an EMS
company as general manager and was promoted to the position of vice
president of operations, with the responsibility of formulating overall
strategy and establishing policies to ensure production runs smoothly
and efficiently. Mr. Chan worked for Meter Technology Limited, a wholly
owned subsidiary of The Hong Kong & China Gas Company Limited,
a company listed on Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
3), principally engaged in design and manufacturing of utility gas flow
meter with micro electro mechanical system (MEMS) technology for
China market, from November 2012 to January 2018, where he was
the assistant general manager of operation, responsible for gas meter
production, gas flow senor design enhancement and improvement,
quality improvement, metrology development and manufacturing process
development and supplier development.
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During September 2010 to November 2012, Mr. Chan worked as the
head of manufacturing of IDT Technology Limited, a company listed
on Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock code: 167), principally
engaged in design and manufacturing of radio control clocks, electronic
thermometers, barometers and weather stations, wearable sport & fitness
product, wireless product like including DECT phone & DECT based
conference phone where he was responsible for managing the affairs of
the manufacturing operations.

From April 2008 to September 2010, Mr. Chan worked for Rohm and
Haas Electronic Material Dongguan Limited, a company principally
engaged in design and manufacturing of specialty chemical for print
circuit board production use, as a deputy general manager and was
responsible for daily operation, including supply chain management
team and quality & analytical laboratory.

Mr. Chan obtained a Post Certification in Manufacturing System
Engineering from University of Warwick in the United Kingdom in
July 1999 where he attended the course in Hong Kong and obtained a
bachelor of engineering in computer aided engineering from Liverpool
John Moores University in the United Kingdom in July 1993.
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The Board is pleased to present this report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2024.

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability on 15 January 2019 and was registered as
a non-Hong Kong company under Part 16 of the Companies Ordinance
(Cap. 622, Laws of Hong Kong) on 14 March 2019. The Shares have
been listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange since 10 January
2020 by way of Hong Kong public offering and international placing (the
“Global Offering”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
subsidiaries of the Company are primarily engaged in the manufacturing
and sales of electronic products.

RESULTS AND FINAL DIVIDEND

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on page 105.

The Board does not recommend the payment of any final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: nil).

There is no arrangement under which a Shareholder has waived or
agreed to waive any dividends.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The 2025 AGM is scheduled to be held on Monday, 2 June 2025. For
determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the 2025 AGM, the
register of members of the Company will be closed from Wednesday,
28 May 2025 to Monday, 2 June 2025, both days inclusive, during
which period no transfer of share(s) of the Company will be registered.
In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the 2025 AGM, unregistered
holder(s) of share(s) of the Company should ensure that all share transfer
document(s) accompanied by the relevant share certificate(s) must be
lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in
Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance
Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong, for registration not later than
4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 27 May 2025.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the Group’s business for the year ended 31 December 2024
including an analysis of the Group’s performance using key financial
performance indicators, principal risks and uncertainties facing by the
Company, important events affecting the Company that have occurred
since the end of FY2024, and a discussion on the Group’s future business
development are provided in the “Chairman’s Statement” on pages 6 to
8 and “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 9 to 13 of this
annual report. These discussions form part of this Report of the Directors.
Other than the events set out in other parts of this annual report, no
other significant event affecting the Group has occurred since the end of
the year under review and up to the date of this annual report.

Environmental Policy and Performance

The Group is committed to environmental responsibility through
minimizing the impacts to the community and environment while
safeguarding the health and safety of the public. More details regarding
the Group’s environmental policies and performance are provided in the
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” on pages 62 to 97 of
this annual report.

Compliance with the Relevant Laws and Regulations

To the best knowledge of the Board, during the year under review, the
Group has complied in material respects with the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the business and operation
of the Company. Further details regarding the Group’s compliance with
the applicable laws relating to the environmental and social aspects
are provided in the “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” on
pages 62 to 97 of this annual report.

Key Relationships with Employees, Customers and
Suppliers

The Group recognises that employees are one of the valuable assets
of the Group. The Group aims to continue establishing a caring
environment to its employees and emphasise the personal development
of its employees.

WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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The Group maintains a good relationship with its customers and
suppliers. Despite the challenging business conditions, the Group aims
to continue providing products and services that meet or exceed its
customers’ requirement or expectation for quality, reliability and value.
In accomplishing this goal, the Group endeavours to build long-term
and mutually beneficial relationships with its suppliers, ensuring reliable
delivery to its customers.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, there was no significant and
material dispute between the Group and its employees, suppliers and/or
customers.

DONATIONS

During the reporting period, the Group made charitable donation
amounting to HK$514,000.

PROPERTIES, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in properties, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note 12
to the consolidated financial statements.

EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

Details of the significant event occurring after the reporting period are
set out in the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” on
page 13 of this Annual Report.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company as at 31
December 2024 are set out in note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company during the
year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note 27 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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SHARES ISSUED

In preparation for the Listing, the Company underwent series of
reorganisation arrangements, which are more particularly described in
the subsection headed “History, Reorganisation and Corporate Structure”
in the Prospectus.

The Company had 1,000,000 issued Shares immediately before
the capitalisation issue and the Global Offering. On 10 January
2020, immediately before the Global Offering, the Company issued
1,499,000,000 new Shares to the Shareholders whose name appeared
on the register of members of the Company at the close of business
on a date prior to the Global Offering by way of capitalisation of an
amount of HK$14,990,000 standing in the share premium account of
the Company credited as a result of the Global Offering. On 10 January
2020, pursuant to the Global Offering, the Company issued 500,000,000
new Shares at HK$0.25 each. The net proceeds received by the
Company from the Global Offering (after deducting the underwriting fees
and other related listing expenses), amounted to approximately HK$74.0
million. Details of the Global Offering were disclosed in the Prospectus.
Immediately upon completion of the Global Offering, the total number
of issued shares of the Company was 2,000,000,000. On 5 August 2022,
the Board proposed to implement the Share Consolidation on the basis
that every twenty (20) issued and unissued existing shares of par value
of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the Company be consolidated
into one (1) Consolidated Share of par value of HK$0.2. The Share
Consolidation became effective on 16 September 2022 and as at the
date of this report, the total number of issued shares of the Company is
100,000,000.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2024, distributable reserves of the Company
amounted to HK$77,804,000.

DIVIDEND POLICY

Details of the Company’s dividend policy are set out in the section
headed “Corporate Governance Report” in this annual report.

WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association (the “Articles of Association”) or the laws of the
Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares
on a pro-rata basis to its existing Shareholders.

RELIEF OF TAXATION

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s securities.

BANK BORROWINGS

Particulars of the bank borrowings of the Group as at 31 December 2024
are set out in note 26 to the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, certain Group’s bank borrowings
and banking facilities were secured through the undertakings given by
Mr. Raymond Chu, an executive director and Controlling Shareholder
of the Company, and Mr. Wilson Chu, a Controlling Shareholder of the
Company. The undertakings given by Mr. Raymond Chu and Mr. Wilson
Chu stipulate that for so long as these bank facilities are available to the
Company, Mr. Raymond Chu and Mr. Wilson Chu undertake to (i) notify
the bank before pledging their shares of the Company; if their shares are
pledged, a facility review of the Company will be triggered; and (ii) at all
times collectively maintain at least 51% of the beneficial shareholding
interest in the Company and collectively remain the single largest
shareholder of the Company.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the previous financial years is set out in the section headed “Five-Year
Financial Summary” in this annual report.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company did not enter into
any equity-linked agreements, save for the Share Option Scheme (as
defined in this annual report) of the Company as disclosed under the
section headed “Share Option Scheme” in this Report of the Directors.
As at 31 December 2024, no share option had been granted by the
Company under the Share Option Scheme.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2024, neither the Company nor any
of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
listed securities, including sale of treasury shares (the “Treasury Shares”)
within the meaning under the Listing Rules. As at 31 December 2024,
the Company did not hold any Treasury Shares.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the
date of this report are as follows:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Chu Wai Hang Raymond (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Chu Man Yin Arthur Newton
Mr. Lau Shui Fung (Chief Financial Officer)

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Ms. Law Elizabeth

Mr. Lee Wa Lun Warren

Mr. Szeto Yuk Ting

Pursuant to Article 123 of the Articles of Association, Mr. Chu Wai Hang
Raymond and Mr. Lau Shui Fung shall retire from office by rotation at
the 2025 AGM and be eligible for re-election at the 2025 AGM.

Mr. Chu Wai Hang Raymond and Mr. Lau Shui Fung, being eligible, will
offer themselves for re-election at the 2025 AGM.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Raymond Chu, an Executive Director, has entered into a director
service agreement with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from the Listing Date and the term has been renewed for
a further period of three years commencing from 10 January 2023 while
each of Mr. Arthur Chu and Mr. Lau Shui Fung, executive Directors, has
entered into director service agreement with the Company for terms
of three years commencing from 2 July 2021 and 1 December 2021
respectively, and the term has been renewed for a further period of three
years commencing from 1 July 2024 and 1 December 2024 respectively
(all are subject to termination in certain circumstances as stipulated in
the relevant director service agreement, including termination by giving
to the other party three months’ written notice or payment in lieu of
notice).

WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Each of Mr. Lee Wa Lun Warren, Mr. Szeto Yuk Ting and Ms. Law
Elizabeth, the independent non-executive Directors, has entered into
a letter of appointment with the Company on 1 March 2023, 1T March
2023 and 1 June 2023 respectively, which did not specify the term of
appointment but their appointment may be terminated by not less than
three months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other.

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the 2025 AGM
has a service agreement or letter of appointment with the Company
which is not determinable by the Company within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Group entered into certain transactions with “related parties” as
defined under applicable accounting standards during the financial
year ended 31 December 2024 which were disclosed in note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements. Save as the related parties transactions
involving purchase of goods from Defond Electrical Industries Limited
(note 31(b)(i)) and payment of remuneration to certain key management
of the Group (including directors) (note 31(c)), which constituted
continuing connected transactions fully exempt from the connected
transaction requirements under Rule 14A.76(1) or Rule 14A.95 of the
Listing Rules, no related parties transactions disclosed in the consolidated
financial statements constituted a connected transaction as defined under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements,
and in the section headed “Connected Transactions” in this annual
report, no transaction, arrangement or contract of significance in relation
to the Group’s businesses to which the Company, any of its subsidiaries,
or any of its holding companies was a party and in which a director
of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year ended 31
December 2024.
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DIRECTORS” EMOLUMENTS

Details of the remuneration of the Directors are set out in note 32 to the
consolidated financial statements.

With effect from 1 January 2025, monthly remuneration of Mr. Raymond
Chu has been increased from HK$405,000 to HK$490,000, monthly
remuneration of Mr. Chu Man Yin Arthur Newton has been increased
from HK$125,000 to HK$140,000 and monthly remuneration of Mr. Lau
Shui Fung has been increased from HK$205,000 to HK$231,000.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director shall be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets of the Company from
and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses
which he/she shall or may incur or sustain by reason of any act done,
concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of his/her duty or
supposed duty in his/her respective offices or trusts.

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance coverage for the
Directors” and officers” liabilities in respect of legal actions against its
Directors and senior management arising out of corporate activities. As
at the date of this annual report, the permitted indemnity provision is
currently in force for the benefits of the Directors.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no contracts concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of
the business of the Company were entered into or existed during the
year ended 31 December 2024.
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EEnA

Name of Director

S st E

Capacity/Nature of interest

DIRECTORS” AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE
COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company in the Shares, underlying
Shares and debentures of the Company and/or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including any interests or short positions
which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO); or as recorded in the register required to be kept under Section
352 of the SFO; or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix C3 to
the Listing Rules were as follows:

(1) Long position in the Shares

EARDTRAE

WA B DL

Approximate

EEREE
Number of
ordinary Shares

percentage of
shareholding
in the Company

2EkE
Mr. Raymond Chu

FzE:  12,000,0000% i% {5 LASmart Union Global
Group Limited ([Smart Union |)#) %
F &3 MSmart Uniond) & #E 21T %
MBARSELEEZEHRF 51,000,000
[i% }% 1% LASmartview Investments Limited
([ Smartview | ) B FHEE + il Smartview
BI50%E BITRMBRZBEEES R
BEFRBEGRA REELXERER
A Smart Union & Smartview#% & B 2 2%
DR -

SEbIEE R

Interest in controlled corporations

63,000,000 63.0%

(PE)

(Note)
Note: 12,000,000 of the Shares are registered in the name of Smart Union
Global Group Limited (“Smart Union”), all the issued shares of which
are wholly-owned by Mr. Raymond Chu. 51,000,000 of the Shares are
registered in the name of Smartview Investments Limited (“Smartview”),
50% of the issued shares of which are owned by Mr. Raymond Chu.
Under the SFO, Mr. Raymond Chu is deemed to be interested in all the
Shares held by Smart Union and Smartview.
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(2) Long position in the shares of associated corporations

16 MR B R R R
MOBE D
Approximate
percentage of

HBEE A8 shareholding
Name of B, Eanyg ®AEE interest in the
EEnR associated Capacity/Nature &z 35 5l Number of associated
Name of Director corporation of interest Class of interest share(s) corporation
KEELRAE Smartview EnlEA A gl
Mr. Raymond Chu Smartview Beneficial owner  Ordinary 1 50.0%
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B TR 22 HE

FERRREMALTREARTR
DREBERDHHNEER AR

B EATA R2024F12A831H LT AL
(BEERARBEBITRABRIN ARG &
ARG P EA LR IREZS LSRR
FIEARREGFEN ST MABEZF L
HEEFI EXVERF2 3D B AR A D ) LB
P T LA R 5%k A AR S

30

Annual Report 2024

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the Directors
or chief executives of the Company had any interests or short positions
in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including any interests or short
positions which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO); or as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES

Save as otherwise disclosed in this annual report, at no time during
the year ended 31 December 2024 was the Company, or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors or their
associates to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares in
the Company or any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

So far as known to the Directors, as at 31 December 2024, the following
persons (other than the Directors and chief executives of the Company)
had interests in 5% or more of the Shares and underlying Shares as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO or which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO:
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TERRESE BB

Name of substantial Shareholder

Long position in the Shares

54 RmME

Capacity/Nature of interest

EERDFREN

A SIER

Approximate

EEREE percentage of
Number of shareholding

ordinary Shares

in the Company

Smartview
Smartview

Smart Union
Smart Union

Grandview Group Holdings Limited
([ Grandview ] )
Grandview Group Holdings Limited
(“Grandview”)

AREELE
Mr. Chu Wai Cheong Wilson

BEELL

Ms. Tam Wai Yee Czarina

REZL
Ms. Ng Ching Annetta

B & -

PRI A
EmiEm

Beneficial interest 51,000,000 51.0%
et ¥
Beneficial interest 12,000,000 12.0%
B s
Beneficial interest 12,000,000 12.0%
2 R B
Interest in controlled corporations 63,000,000 63.0%
(P &ET)
(Note 1)
AL B
Interest of spouse 63,000,000 63.0%
(Hf&E2)
(Note 2)
Bic (B 4 2
Interest of spouse 63,000,000 63.0%
(HI5E3)
(Note 3)

Notes:

12,000,0008% A% 17 LA Grandviewt) % & & &0 &
EHRARAEBELENERIRABELELE
A 2 51,000,0008% % 13 LA Smartview ) & & &
i H50%BARABREAEHE - REZHFR
HA BRI K BB 5T A 4R {E ¥ B Grandview &
Smartview T4 2 2% (70 KO #E &5 o

BERELXLIRABELENRB-REZS LY
Pl BEBLLIHRRERRBEEENESD
BEAEERNERSE RN EEES-

REZTARBEAENRB-REZSRHAE
Pl RELZTHRRERREEEERERER
EmMERSE RO EGERS -

M

12,000,000 of the Shares are registered in the name of Grandview, the entire
share capital of which is wholly-owned by Mr. Chu Wai Cheong Wilson (the
younger brother of Mr. Raymond Chu). 51,000,000 of the Shares are registered in
the name of Smartview, 50% of the share capital of which is owned by Mr. Chu
Wai Cheong Wilson. Under the SFO, Mr. Chu Wai Cheong Wilson is deemed to
be interested in all the Shares held by Grandview and Smartview.

Ms. Tam Wai Yee Czarina is the spouse of Mr. Raymond Chu. Ms. Tam Wai Yee
Czarina is deemed to be interested in the same number of Shares in which Mr.
Raymond Chu is interested by virtue of the SFO.

Ms. Ng Ching Annetta is the spouse of Mr. Chu Wai Cheong Wilson. Ms. Ng
Ching Annetta is deemed to be interested in the same number of Shares in which
Mr. Chu Wai Cheong Wilson is interested by virtue of the SFO.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, no person (other
than the Directors and chief executives of the Company) had interests
in 5% or more of the Shares and underlying Shares as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the
SFO or which would fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock
Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) pursuant to the written resolutions of the then Shareholders
passed on 10 December 2019 (the “Adoption Date”). No share option
has been granted by the Company under the Share Option Scheme since
the Adoption Date and up to the date of this report.

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the Share Option
Scheme.

(@) Purpose

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to recognise and
acknowledge the Eligible Participants (as defined in paragraph (b)
below) who have contributed and will contribute to the Group.
The Share Option Scheme will provide the Eligible Participants an
opportunity to have a personal stake in the Company with the view
to achieving the following objectives:

(i) motivating the Eligible Participants to optimize their performance
efficiency for the benefit of the Group; and

(i) attracting and retaining or otherwise maintaining on-going
business relationships with the Eligible Participants whose
contributions are or will be beneficial to the long-term growth
of the Group.

(b) Participants
The “Eligible Participants” are:

(i) any full-time or part-time employees, executives or officers of
the Company or any of its subsidiaries;

(ii) any directors (including non-executive directors and
independent non-executive directors) of the Company or any of
its subsidiaries;

(iii) any advisers, consultants, suppliers, customers and agents to the
Company or any of its subsidiaries; and

WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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(iv) such other persons who, in the sole opinion of our Board, will
contribute or have contributed to the Group, the assessment
criteria of which are:

e contribution to the development and performance of the
Group;

e quality of work performed for the Group;

e initiative and commitment in performing his/her duties; and

e length of service or contribution to the Group.

(c) Total number of Shares available for issue

The maximum number of Shares issuable upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Company must not in aggregate
exceed 10% of all the Shares in issue as at the Listing Date,
being 200,000,000 Shares, and this number has been adjusted
to 10,000,000 Shares (the “Limit”) (representing 10% of the total
number of Shares in issue as at the date of this annual report)
following the Share Consolidation. The Board may renew the Limit
subject to approval of the Shareholders and/or other requirements
prescribed under the Listing Rules and the Share Option Scheme but
the Limit must not exceed 30% of the issued Shares from time to
time.

(d) Maximum number of options to any one individual

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of the options granted to each Eligible Participant (including both
exercised and outstanding options and Shares which were the
subject of options which have been granted and accepted under
the Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the Company but subsequently canceled) under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company in any
12-month period up to the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the
Shares in issue as of the date of grant. Any further grant of options
in excess of this 1% of the issued shares of the Company should be
subject to approval of the Shareholders and/or other requirements
prescribed under the Listing Rules and the Share Option Scheme.
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(h)

Time of exercise of option

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme at any time after the date upon which the
option is deemed to be granted and accepted and prior to the expiry
of ten years from that date. The Board may at its absolute discretion
determine any minimum period for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised and/or any performance targets which
must be achieved before the option can be exercised, except that
no option may be exercised more than ten years after it has been
granted.

Amount payable on acceptance of the option and the
payment period

To accept the grant of an option, HK$1.0 as consideration for the
grant of an option must be paid by the grantee to the Company
on or before the relevant acceptance date, as defined in the Share
Option Scheme, which is a date not later than 30 days after the date
of grant.

Basis of determining the exercise price

The exercise price shall be such price determined by the Board in
its absolute discretion but in any event shall not be less than the
highest of:

(i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotation sheets on the date of grant, which must be a day
on which the Stock Exchange is open for the business of dealing
in securities (“Business Day”);

(ii) the average of the closing prices of the Shares as stated in the

Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five Business

Days immediately preceding the date of grant; and

(iii) the nominal value of a Share.

Life of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of
ten years commencing from 10 January 2020 up to and including 9
January 2030.
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During the year ended 31 December 2024 and as at 31 December 2024
and up to the date of this annual report, no share options had been
granted or agreed to be granted under the Share Option Scheme. As a
result, the total number of Shares available for issue under the Share
Option Scheme as of the date of this annual report was 10,000,000
Shares, representing 10% of the total number of Shares in issue as of the
date of this annual report.

With effect from 1 January 2023, Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules has
been amended. As provided under the transitional arrangements under
the amended Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules, the Company would
continue to make grants to participants eligible under the existing Share
Option Scheme until refreshment or expiry of the existing scheme
mandate, upon which the Company will be required to amend the terms
of the scheme to comply with the amended Chapter 17 of the Listing
Rules and seek shareholders’ approval for a new scheme mandate.

As at 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this annual report, the
Company has not adopted any share schemes (as defined under Chapter
17 of the Listing Rules) other than the Share Option Scheme.

MATERIAL CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the consolidated financial statements, no controlling
Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries has any material contract (including
material contract for the provision of services to the Company or any
of its subsidiaries) with the Company or its subsidiaries during the year
ended 31 December 2024.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentages of sales and purchases for the year ended 31 December
2024 attributable to the Group’s major customers and suppliers are as
follows:

Sales
—  the largest customer: 20.1% of the Group’s total sales
— five largest customers combined: 60.6% of the Group’s total sales

Purchases

— the largest supplier: 14.6% of the Group’s total purchases

— five largest suppliers combined: 40.2% of the Group's total
purchases

None of the Directors, their close associates or any Shareholder (who to
the best knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the number
of issued shares of the Company) had an interest in the above major
customers and suppliers.
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RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Details of the Group’s retirement benefit schemes are set out in note 8(a)
to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

The Company has received confirmation letters from the Directors
confirming that other than the business of the Group, none of the
Directors holds any interest in business which directly or indirectly
competes or is likely to compete with the business of the Group.

As at 31 December 2024, to the best knowledge of the Directors, none
of the Directors was considered to have any interests in businesses which
compete or are likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
businesses of the Group, other than those businesses where the Directors
were appointed as directors to represent the interests of the Company
and/or the Group.

CONTRACTS WITH CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

Save as disclosed in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements and
in the section headed “Connected Transactions” in this annual report,
no contract of significance has been entered into between the Company
or any of its subsidiaries and a controlling Shareholder or any of its
subsidiaries during the year ended 31 December 2024.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set out in
the section headed “Corporate Governance Report” in this annual report.

REVIEW OF ANNUAL RESULTS BY AUDIT
COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee of the Company comprises three independent non-
executive Directors, namely, Ms. Law Elizabeth (chairperson of the Audit
Committee), Mr. Lee Wa Lun Warren and Mr. Szeto Yuk Ting. The Audit
Committee has reviewed the consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2024.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a
sufficient public float for the period during FY2024 and up to the date of
this annual report.
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AUDITOR

The Shares have been listed on the Stock Exchange since 10 January
2020 and there has been no change in auditor since then. The
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
were audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers whose term of office will
expire upon the conclusion of the 2025 AGM. A resolution for the re-
appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers as auditor of the Company is to
be proposed at the 2025 AGM.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my gratitude to our
management and staff for their dedication and contribution to the Group
throughout the year.

By Order of the Board

Chu Wai Hang Raymond
Chairman, Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer
Hong Kong, 26 March 2025
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The Board is pleased to report to the Shareholders on the corporate
governance of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2024.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to ensuring that its affairs are conducted in
accordance with high ethical standards. This reflects its belief that, in
the achievement of its long-term objectives, it is imperative to act with
probity, transparency and accountability. By so acting, the Company
believes that shareholder wealth will be maximised in the long term
and that its employees, those with whom it does business and the
communities in which it operates will all benefit.

Corporate governance is the process by which the Board instructs
management of the Group to conduct its affairs with a view to ensuring
that its objectives are met. The Board is committed to maintaining and
developing robust corporate governance practices that are intended to
ensure:

satisfactory and sustainable returns to the Shareholders;

— that the interests of those who deal with the Company are
safeguarded;

— that overall business risk is understood and managed appropriately;

- the delivery of high-quality products and services to the satisfaction
of customers; and

— that high standards of ethics are maintained.

The Board is committed to achieving high corporate governance
standards.

The Board believes that high corporate governance standards are
essential in providing a framework for the Group to safeguard the
interests of Shareholders, enhance corporate value, formulate its business
strategies and policies, and enhance its transparency and accountability.
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The Company has in place a corporate governance framework and
has adopted a set of policies and procedures based on the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix C1 to the
Listing Rules. Such policies and procedures provide the infrastructure
for enhancing the Board’s ability to implement governance and exercise
proper oversight on business conduct and affairs of the Company.

In the opinion of the Directors, during the year ended 31 December
2024, the Company has complied with all the code provisions as set
out in the CG Code except as disclosed in this Corporate Governance
Report.

The Company has also put in place certain recommended best practices
as set out in the CG Code.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix C3
to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding Directors’
securities transactions.

Specific enquiry has been made to all the Directors and the Directors
have confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code
throughout the period during the year ended 31 December 2024 and up
to the date of this report.

The Company has also established written guidelines (the “Employees
Written Guidelines”) no less exacting than the Model Code for securities
transactions by employees who are likely to be in possession of
unpublished price-sensitive information of the Company. No incident of
non-compliance of the Employees Written Guidelines by the employees
was noted by the Company.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Company is headed by an effective Board which assumes
responsibility for its leadership and control and takes collective
responsibility for promoting the Company’s success by directing and
supervising the Company’s affairs. Directors make decisions objectively
in the best interests of the Company.

The Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s business
and regularly reviews the contribution required from a Director to
perform his/her responsibilities to the Company and whether the Director
is spending sufficient time performing them that are commensurate with
their role and the Board’s responsibilities. The Board includes a balanced
composition of executive Directors and non-executive Directors so
that there is a strong independent element on the Board, which can
effectively exercise independent judgement.
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Board Composition

As at the date of this report, the composition of the Board is as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Chu Wai Hang Raymond (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Chu Man Yin Arthur Newton
Mr. Lau Shui Fung (Chief Financial Officer)

Independent non-executive Directors

Ms. Law Elizabeth
Mr. Lee Wa Lun Warren
Mr. Szeto Yuk Ting

The biographical information of the Directors and the relationships
between the Directors are set out in the section headed “Directors and
Senior Management” on pages 14 to 20 of this annual report.

Board Meetings and Directors” Attendance Records

Regular Board meetings should be held at least four times a year
involving active participation, either in person or through electronic
means of communication, of a majority of Directors.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board held six meetings.
A summary of the attendance records of the Directors at the Board
meetings held during the year is set out below:

EENR HEER
Name of Directors Attendance
REBRE Mr. Chu Wai Hang Raymond 6/6
KNERE Mr. Chu Man Yin Arthur Newton 6/6
Blt=k4t Mr. Lau Shui Fung 6/6
TERLAE Mr. Lee Wa Lun Warren 6/6
AlfEERELEE Mr. Szeto Yuk Ting 6/6
mEELL Ms. Law Elizabeth 6/6
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Apart from regular Board meetings, the Chairman also held one meeting
with the independent non-executive Directors without the presence of
other Directors during the year ended 31 December 2024.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Under code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman and
chief executive officer should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual. The Company has deviated from this code
provision as Mr. Raymond Chu has acted as both the Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer of the Company since 30 September 2021.

Considering that Mr. Raymond Chu is the founder of the Group
possessing the expertise and extensive experience in the EMS
industry conducive to the Company’s development, coupled with his
responsibility in major decision-making concerning the Group’s daily
management and business, the Board believes that the roles of Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer being assumed solely by Mr. Raymond Chu
can provide the Group with strong and consistent leadership and allow
for effective development of long-term business strategies and efficient
execution of business decisions and plans.

The Board also believes that the balance of authority is adequately
ensured as the Board currently comprises three independent non-
executive Directors who offer different independent perspectives. At the
same time, all major decisions of the Company are made in consultation
with members of the Board as well as the senior management. Therefore,
the Board is of the view that the current organizational structure of
the Company is in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole, and
there is adequate balance of power and safeguards in place. The Board
will nevertheless review the organizational structure of the Company
and composition of the Board from time to time in light of prevailing
circumstances in order to maintain a high standard of corporate
governance practices of the Company.

Independent non-executive Directors

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board at all times met the
requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least
three independent non-executive Directors representing at least one-
third of the Board with one of whom possessing appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each of the
independent non-executive Directors in respect of his/her independence
in accordance with the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all independent non-
executive Directors are independent.
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Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Under the Articles of Association of the Company, at each annual
general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being, or if their
number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to
but not less than one-third, shall retire from office by rotation, provided
that every Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall
be subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at least once every
three years. The Company’s Articles of Association also provides that
any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy or as an
addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the first annual
general meeting of the Company after his/her appointment and shall then
be eligible for re-election at that meeting.

Mr. Raymond Chu, executive Director, has entered into a director service
agreement with the Company for a term of three years commencing
from the Listing Date and the term has been renewed for a further period
of three years commencing from 10 January 2023. Each of Mr. Arthur
Chu and Mr. Lau Shui Fung, executive Directors, has entered into a
director service agreement with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from 2 July 2021 and 1 December 2021 respectively,
and the term has been renewed for a further period of three years
commencing from 1 July 2024 and 1 December 2024 respectively. Either
party may at any time terminate the director service agreement by giving
to the other party three months’ written notice or payment in lieu of
notice.

Mr. Lee Wa Lun Warren and Mr. Szeto Yuk Ting, the independent non-
executive Directors, has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company for a term of three years commencing from the Listing Date.
Each of Mr. Lee Wa Lun Warren, Mr. Szeto Yuk Ting and Ms. Law
Elizabeth, the independent non-executive Directors, has entered into
a letter of appointment with the Company on 1 March 2023, 1 March
2023 and 1 June 2023 respectively, which did not specify the term of
appointment but their appointment may be terminated by not less than
three months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other.
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Board Independence Evaluation

The Company currently has in place the following mechanisms to ensure
that independent views and input are available to the Board:

(@) the Company receives confirmations from all independent non-
executive Directors for their independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules;

(b) the Company has an annual evaluation on board independence
through the Directors’ participations in and discussion of the
Company’s business during the year in which independent non-
executive Directors demonstrated their ability to continue to bring
in independent judgements to the Board and respective Board
Committees;

(c) under the terms of reference of all Board committees, it is clearly
stated each Board committee is authorised to obtain external
independent professional advice and to secure the attendance of
outsiders with relevant experience and expertise where necessary to
assist the Directors” performance of their duties; and

(d) the Directors are aware of any potential conflicts of interest that may
arise on their part in relation to the Company’s businesses. In case
of such conflict of interest arises, the Director concerned would
declare his/her interest to the Board, and abstain from voting on the
issues or matters to be resolved.

The Company has also established its Board Independence Evaluation
Mechanism which sets out the processes and procedures to ensure
a strong independent element on the Board, as well as allowing the
Board to effectively exercise independent judgment to better safeguard
Shareholders” interests.

The objectives of the evaluation are to improve Board effectiveness,
maximize strengths, and identify the areas that need improvement
or further development. The evaluation process also clarifies what
actions of the Company need to be taken to maintain and improve the
Board performance, for instance, addressing individual training and
development needs of each Director.

Pursuant to the Board Independence Evaluation Mechanism, the Board
will conduct annual review on its independence. A board independence
evaluation report will be presented to the Board which will collectively
discuss the results and the action plan for improvement, if appropriate.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, all Directors has completed
the independence evaluation in the form of a questionnaire individually
and supplemented by individual interviews. The board independence
evaluation reports were presented to the Board and the evaluation results
were satisfactory.

BFERERERAR
20245 %5

43



TEERRES

Corporate Governance Report

REE2024F 128318 LFE - EF S0 E
BIE g AT A B e R B R
IRBE LB ERS RARMERETS
ESBYEARBZABITHE-

ESEREEENRE BERERM

EZSABEREREEARA RAREA
RIEEREEARRER-

EXgERNMNAKABEZE S BBYVE
BRLEEHERASEEBY AEREMRE
B EEAKRENEERHRE  WHERE
M2 AR E N R R E I R A

FMBES BREMFNTEST HREFE
TREZEEENHELR NBENEER
B EEFEERNAREF - BUFNTES
AEBRAAFANSREZERS YHEE
ZeRREHFE URERTHMEERD
BN H) B L HI o

ABRTEARANBE FMEEEHAI2ME
MEFEEARAIMMAEER WA EEK
FEEBRATERBUNEXER BHA
IN/NIE] PES

EEARAARARBEEMETHEMBENF

==
=

EZeNIEREAEEAKENEBLE
H RIARENPBRR A KENR
fEE L NBEE RS HEERRE 8 W
mARNAES-

EEEBRAERTEZTERR HELKHA
ARRIMHEELEMER

44

Annual Report 2024

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board reviewed the
implementation and effectiveness of the Board Independence Evaluation
Mechanism and believed that it was adequate and effective to ensure
independent views and inputs were available to the Board for them to
perform their duties.

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of the
Board and Management

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and control of the
Company; and is collectively responsible for directing and supervising
the Company’s affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads and
provides direction to management by laying down strategies and
overseeing their implementation, monitors the Group’s operational and
financial performance, and ensures that sound internal control and risk
management systems are in place.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, have
brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge
and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective
functioning. The independent non-executive Directors are responsible
for ensuring a high standard of regulatory reporting of the Company
and providing a balance in the Board for bringing effective independent
judgement on corporate actions and operations.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information of the
Company and may, upon request, seek independent professional advice
in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses, for discharging
their duties to the Company.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices held
by them.

The principal functions of the Board are to supervise the Group's
business and affairs; to review the Group’s financial performance; to
review the Group’s systems of risk management and internal control; to
approve the strategic plans; and to appoint Directors of the Company.

Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of the Board,
directing and co-ordinating the daily operation and management of the
Company are delegated to the management.
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Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and changes in
order to effectively perform their responsibilities and to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director has received a comprehensive, formal
and tailored induction on appointment and any necessary briefing
and professional development to ensure that he/she has a proper
understanding of the operations and business of the Group, and is fully
aware of his/her responsibilities under statutes and common law, the
Listing Rules, legal and other regulatory requirements and the Group’s
business and governance policies.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
Internally-facilitated briefings for Directors would be arranged and
reading materials on relevant topics would be provided to Directors
where appropriate.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company organised
training sessions conducted by legal advisers for all Directors. The
training sessions covered a wide range of relevant topics including
directors’ duties and responsibilities, corporate governance and
regulatory updates. In addition, relevant reading materials including
compliance manual, legal and regulatory updates and seminar handouts
have been provided to the Directors for their reference and studying.
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The training records of the Directors for the year ended 31 December
2024 have been provided to the Company and are summarized as

follows:
=1 338 Bl
Directors Type of Training Nets
BITES Executive Directors
KREBRE Mr. Raymond Chu AKB
A and B
KXERE Mr. Arthur Chu ANMB
A and B
ftErE Mr. Lau Shui Fung AKB
A and B
BYFHTES Independent non-executive Directors
FEMRILE Mr. Lee Wa Lun Warren AKB
A and B
AlEGELEE Mr. Szeto Yuk Ting AKB
A and B
EEELL Ms. Law Elizabeth ANB
A and B
et Notes:
=gkl Types of training

A B2IMBIIRE EETRAMSBE FiHe &
HRABI

B: BIEARBIFEBA  WMAA - BT M LAERETIY

EXZET

EXeCERY-_AZ8e HELZEE ¥
MEzEehEEZEE NEEAQAER
MR ENHE RNABMEEEEZESHTH
EHBERE BHMATSANBELRER-
EEZEeNBREEC R AR ML K
AL A P ERRERL T IAER -

A:  Attending training sessions, including but not limited to, briefings, seminars,

conferences and workshops

B:  Reading relevant news alerts, newspapers, journals, magazines and relevant
publications

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs.
All Board committees of the Company are established with specific
written terms of reference which deal clearly with their authority and
duties. The terms of reference of the Board committees are posted on the
Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website and are available
to Shareholders upon request.
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The list of the chairperson and members of each Board committee is
set out in the section headed “Corporate Information” on page 2 of this
annual report.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee consists of three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Ms. Law Elizabeth, Mr. Lee Wa Lun Warren and
Mr. Szeto Yuk Ting. Ms. Law Elizabeth is the chairperson of the
Audit Committee. At least one of the committee members possesses
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise as required by the Listing Rules.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are of no less exacting
terms than those set out in the CG Code. The main duties of the Audit
Committee are to assist the Board in reviewing the financial information
and reporting process, risk management and internal control systems,
effectiveness of the internal audit function, scope of audit, relationship
with the external auditor, and arrangements to enable the employees
of the Company and those who have dealings with the Company to
raise concerns, in confidence, about possible improprieties (including
financial reporting and internal control) in the Company.

The Audit Committee held six meetings during the year ended 31
December 2024 to review annual financial results and report in respect
of the year ended 31 December 2023, interim financial results and
report in respect of the six months ended 30 June 2024, significant
issues on the financial reporting, operational and compliance controls,
the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems
and internal audit function, re-appointment of external auditor, audit
planning, engagement of non-audit services, continuing connected
transactions and arrangements for employees to raise concerns about
possible improprieties.

The attendance records of the members of the Audit Committee are as

follows:
EREZEEREHA HERBR
Name of Members of the Audit Committee Attendance
TEGRE Mr. Lee Wa Lun Warren 5/6
RIERELRE Mr. Szeto Yuk Ting 6/6
EEELL Ms. Law Elizabeth 6/6
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Remuneration band

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee consists of four members, namely
Mr. Szeto Yuk Ting, Ms. Law Elizabeth and Mr. Lee Wa Lun Warren,
independent non-executive Directors, and Mr. Raymond Chu, executive
Director. Mr. Szeto Yuk Ting is the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are of no
less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The primary
functions of the Remuneration Committee include reviewing and
making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of
individual executive Directors and senior management, the remuneration
policy and structure for all Directors and senior management, reviewing
and/or approving matters relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of
the Listing Rules, establishing transparent procedures for developing such
remuneration policy and structure to ensure that no Director or any of
his/her associates will participate in deciding his/her own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting during the year ended
31 December 2024 to review and make recommendations to the Board
on the remuneration proposals of the executive Directors, independent
non-executive Directors and senior management and the remuneration
policy and structure of all Directors and senior management.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the remuneration of the senior
management by band is set out below:

AE

Number of persons

1,000,001 7T 21,500,000/ 7T
1,500,001 7T 22,000,000/ 7T
2,000,001/ 7T 22,500,000/ 7T

HE224F1N2A31IB I FESZESHH M
HBHN A M RERMFE32 -
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HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2

Details of the remuneration of each Director for the year ended 31
December 2024 are set out in note 32 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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The attendance records of the members of the Remuneration Committee
are as follows:

FWEEERAENE HEER
Name of Members of the Remuneration Committee Attendance
TEGELE Mr. Lee Wa Lun Warren 1/1
RIESE A Mr. Szeto Yuk Ting 1/1
KEBEE Mr. Raymond Chu 11
BmEELT Ms. Law Elizabeth 11
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee consists of four members, namely Mr. Lee
Wa Lun Warren, Ms. Law Elizabeth and Mr. Szeto Yuk Ting, independent
non-executive Directors, and Mr. Raymond Chu, executive Director. Mr.
Lee Wa Lun Warren is the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are of no less
exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The principal
duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing the structure,
size and composition of the Board, the Board Diversity Policy and
Nomination Policy of the Company, developing and formulating relevant
procedures for the nomination and appointment of Directors, making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and
succession planning of Directors, and assessing the independence of
independent non-executive Directors.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee
would take into account various aspects as well as factors concerning
Board diversity as set out in the Company’s Board Diversity Policy.
The Nomination Committee would discuss and agree on measurable
objectives for achieving diversity on the Board, where necessary, and
recommend them to the Board for adoption.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for directorships, the
Nomination Committee would consider the candidate’s relevant criteria
as set out in the Company’s Nomination Policy that are necessary to
complement the corporate strategy and achieve Board diversity, where
appropriate, before making recommendations to the Board.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting to review the structure,
size and composition of the Board, the independence of the independent
non-executive Directors, the Nomination Policy and Board Diversity
Policy of the Company and to consider and recommend to the Board on
the Directors standing for re-election at the annual general meeting of
the Company.

The Nomination Committee considered an appropriate balance of
diversity perspectives of the Board is maintained and has not set any
measurable objective implementing the Board Diversity Policy.
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REZEEXEMHFLENT

The attendance records of the members of the Nomination Committee
are as follows:

REZEEREHE HEER
Name of Members of the Nomination Committee Attendance
TEGILE Mr. Lee Wa Lun Warren 1/1
AIESE A Mr. Szeto Yuk Ting 1/1
REBRE Mr. Raymond Chu 1/1
HEEELZT Ms. Law Elizabeth 11
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Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted a Board Diversity Policy which sets out the
approach to achieve diversity of the Board. The Company recognises and
embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board to enhance the quality
of its performance and sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an
essential element in supporting the attainment of the Company’s strategic
objectives and sustainable development.

In designing the Board’s composition, Board diversity has been
considered from a number of aspects, including but not limited to talent,
skills, professional experience, independence and knowledge. All Board
appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be
considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits
of diversity on the Board.

Selection of candidates for appointment as Directors will be based on a
range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to talent, skills,
professional experience, independence and knowledge. The ultimate
decision will be based on merit and contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board.

The Board will consider setting measurable objectives to implement the
Board Diversity Policy and review such objectives from time to time to
ensure their appropriateness and ascertain the progress made towards
achieving those objectives. At present, the Nomination Committee
considered that the Board is sufficiently diverse.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy, as
appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.
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MNAFERR EEFEWAKATEMNN TEE  As at the date of this report, the Board’s composition can be by the

Lt AERMNT following main diversity perspective:
EEZAH™
Number of Directors
51 Gender
o8 Female
e Male 5
Bk Ethnicity
a3 Chinese 6
FiR Age
41ZE505% 41-50 1
51E605% 51-60 2
61E705% 61-70 2
71E805% 71-80 1
PR %5 £ BR Length of Service
12246 1-2 years 1
pESRES 2-3 years 0
3E4F 3-4 years 2
48545 4-5 years 3
MRl % Tk Gender Diversity

AR BERAEEZSEEANERZt{be® The Company values gender diversity across all levels of the Group. The
NFEBH AEFBET (BEEEe ke following table sets out the gender ratio in the workforce of the Group,
EIEE) AR BIER R T including the Board and senior management as at the date of this report:

B % (AN)

Unit: % (person)

7 B
&5l Category Female Male
- Board 16.7% (1) 83.3% (5)
SRERE Senior Management 33.3% (1) 66.7% (2)
Hitg S Other employees 47.9% (880) 52.1% (957)
BEET Overall workforce 47.8% (882) 52.2% (964)
BFBRERBR AR
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The Board had targeted to achieve and had achieved at least one female
Director, one female senior management and at least 40% of female
employees of the Group and considers that the above current gender
diversity is satisfactory.

The Nomination Committee will continue to identify suitable
female candidate(s) to develop a pipeline of potential successors for
appointment to the Board on merit against objective criteria in order to
maintain gender diversity in the Board.

Nomination Policy

The Board has delegated its responsibilities and authority for selection
and appointment of Directors to the Nomination Committee.

The Company has adopted a Nomination Policy which sets out the
selection criteria and process in relation to nomination and appointment
of Directors and aims to ensure that the Board has a balance of
expertise, skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy.

The Nomination Policy sets out the factors for assessing the suitability of
a proposed candidate, including but not limited to the following:

e Skills, knowledge and experience relevant to the operations of the
Company;

e Commitment in respect of available time to discharge duties as a
member of the Board and/or Board committee(s) of the Company;

e Various aspects set out in the Board Diversity Policy of the Company
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, and professional experience;

¢ Independence of the proposed independent non-executive Directors
in accordance with the Listing Rules; and

e Company’s business model and specific needs.

The Nomination Policy also sets out the procedures for the selection and
appointment of new Directors and re-election of Directors at general
meetings.

WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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The Nomination Committee will review the Nomination Policy, as
appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness. The Nomination Committee
will also review at least annually the structure, size and composition
(including skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board and diversity of
the Board to ensure that it has a balance of expertise, skills, experience
and diversity of perspectives appropriate to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the code
provisions of the CG Code contained in Appendix CT to the Listing Rules.

The Board reviewed the Company’s corporate governance policies
and practices, training and continuous professional development of
Directors and senior management, the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, the compliance
of the Model Code, and the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report. A manual setting
out various corporate governance policies and procedures has been
adopted by the Company, which applies to assist the Board and the top
management to better perform their corporate governance duties to the
Group and delegate the responsibilities to the Board committees.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk management and
internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness. Such systems
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the
Company’s strategic objectives, and establishing and maintaining
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control systems.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the management and
overseeing their design, implementation and monitoring of the risk
management and internal control systems.

The Company has developed and adopted various risk management
procedures and guidelines with defined authority for implementation
by key business processes and office functions, including sales and
receivables, procurements and payments, financial reporting, human
resources and information technology.
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The Company’s risk management and internal control systems include
a defined management structure with limits of authority. Appropriate
policies and control procedures have been designed, implemented
and reviewed to ensure that assets are safeguarded against improper
use or disposal; established system, relevant rules and regulations are
adhered to and complied with; reliable financial and accounting records
are maintained in accordance with relevant accounting standards and
regulatory reporting requirements; and key risks that may impact the
Company’s performance are appropriately identified and managed. Such
procedures are designed to manage the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives.

The management, in coordination with department heads, assesses the
likelihood of risk occurrence, provide treatment plans, and monitor the
risk management progress, and reports to the Audit Committee and the
Board on all findings and the effectiveness of the systems. Any significant
internal audit issues identified and associated remedial actions are
followed up for proper implementation, and the progress is reported to
the Audit Committee periodically.

The management has confirmed to the Board and the Audit Committee
on the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems
for the year ended 31 December 2024.

During the year under review, the Company engaged its external
auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers, to conduct an internal control
review on certain operational processes of the Group. A report
on the result of assessment and recommendations was provided
by PricewaterhouseCoopers to the Audit Committee. The Group
will take measures to implement the recommendations made by
PricewaterhouseCoopers on the internal control system.

The Board, as supported by the Audit Committee as well as the
management report and the internal audit findings, reviewed the risk
management and internal control systems, including the financial,
operational and compliance controls, for the year ended 31 December
2024, and considered that such systems are effective and adequate. The
annual review also covered the financial reporting and internal audit
function and staff qualifications, experiences and relevant resources.
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The Company has adopted a Whistle-blowing Policy to facilitate
employees of the Group and those who deal with the Group to raise,
in confidence, concerns with the Audit Committee about possible
improprieties in the practices and procedures, including financial
reporting, internal control and other matters, in their workplace.
It enables employees to report matters that may constitute (i) non-
compliance to laws or regulations; (ii) malpractice, impropriety or fraud
relating to internal controls, accounting, auditing and financial matters;
(iii) endangerment of the health and safety of an individual; (iv) damage
caused to the environment; (v) improper conduct or unethical behaviour
likely to prejudice the standing of the Company; and (vi) deliberate
concealment of any of the above.

The Company has developed its Inside Information Policy which provides
a general guide to the Directors, officers and relevant employees of the
Group in handling confidential information, monitoring information
disclosure and responding to enquiries. The Inside Information Policy
ensures that potentially price sensitive or inside information can be
promptly identified, assessed and escalated for the attention of the Board
to decide the need for timely disclosure in order to ensure compliance
with Part XIVA of the SFO.

The Company has in place the Anti-corruption Policy to safeguard
against corruption and bribery within the Company. The Company has
an internal reporting channel that is open and available for employees of
the Company and stakeholders to report any suspected corruption and
bribery.

The Company has also adopted a Code of Business Conduct Policy to
ensure that the Group conducts its business activities and transactions
with honesty and integrity, and in accordance with moral, ethical
and legal standards of the countries in which the Group conducts its
business. This policy applies to the Company’s business worldwide and
to all employees of the Group (unless the subsidiary(ies) of the Company
has(have) its(their) own code of business conduct) and covers the
following aspects:

Obligations towards the Group

*  Personal conduct

e Employment practices

e Relations with customers

e Relations with suppliers and contractors

e Responsibilities to shareholders

e Responsibilities to the community

*  Monitoring of compliance and means of enforcement
e Compliance with laws, rules and regulations
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NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING BY THE
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

Each of the controlling Shareholders, namely Smartview, Smart Union,
Grandview, Mr. Raymond Chu and Mr. Chu Wai Cheong Wilson, has
entered into a deed of non-competition in favour of the Company on 20
December 2019 (the “Deed”), details of which have been set out in the
Prospectus.

The Company has received written declaration from each controlling
Shareholder in respect of his/its and/or his/its close associates’
compliance with the terms of the Deed during the year ended 31
December 2024. The independent non-executive Directors have also
reviewed the compliance with the Deed and enforcement of the terms
of the Deed by the controlling Shareholders and confirmed that the
controlling Shareholders have not been in breach of the Deed during the
year ended 31 December 2024.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2024.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is
set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 98 to 104 of this
annual report.

There is no disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee
on the selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal of external
auditors.

WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Service Category

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

An analysis of the remuneration paid to the external auditor of the
Company, PricewaterhouseCoopers, in respect of audit services and non-
audit services for the year ended 31 December 2024 is set out below:

B ENER
Fees Paid/Payable

Z AR5 Audit services 2,380,000 7T
HK$2,380,000

IEZE AR TS Non-audit services
— BB E R EE AR —Tax compliance and advisory services 299,000/ 7T
HK$299,000
—H ARG - EHAMEER — Other advisory services—internal 350,000/% 7T
RE - HEKER control review and environmental, HK$350,000

social and governance
—H At AR % — Other services 20,0008 7T
HK$20,000
3,049,000/ 7T
HK$3,049,000
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Ms. Chan Sau Ling of Tricor Services Limited, external service provider,
has been appointed as the Company Secretary of the Company with
effect from 31 October 2021.

Ms. Chan Sau Ling has undertaken not less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules
for the year ended 31 December 2024.

The primary contact person of Ms. Chan Sau Ling at the Company is
Mr. Lau Shui Fung, executive Director and Chief Financial Officer of the
Company.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Company engages with Shareholders through various
communication channels.

To safeguard Shareholders” interests and rights, separate resolution should
be proposed for each substantially separate issue at general meetings,
including the election of individual Director. All resolutions put forward
at general meetings will be voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules
and poll results will be posted on the websites of the Company and of
the Stock Exchange after each general meeting.
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A summary of the attendance records of the Directors at the general
meetings of the Company held during the year is set out below.

HEER

Attendance

BRRBFKE

Annual General

EEpE Name of Directors Meeting

KEEBEE Mr. Raymond Chu 1/1

RARXERE Mr. Arthur Chu 1”1

Blt=k4E Mr. Lau Shui Fung 11

FEMELE Mr. Lee Wa Lun Warren 1/1

AIESE A Mr. Szeto Yuk Ting 1/1

BEFERL Mes. Law Elizabeth 1/1
BHEBRREIRE Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting
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Pursuant to Article 64 of the Articles of Association of the Company,
extraordinary general meetings can be convened on the requisition of
one or more Shareholders (including a clearing house (or its nominee(s)))
holding, as at the date of deposit of the requisition, in aggregate not less
than one-tenth of the total voting rights (on a one vote per Share basis)
in the share capital of the Company having the right of voting at general
meetings. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself/herself (themselves)
may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred
by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

Pursuant to Article 64 of the Articles of Association of the Company,
any one or more Shareholder(s) (including a clearing house (or its
nominee(s))) holding as at the date of deposit of the requisition in
aggregate not less than one-tenth of the total voting rights (on a one
vote per Share basis) in the share capital of the Company can make a
requisition to add resolutions to the agenda of a meeting.

WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For enquiries about shareholdings, Shareholders shall direct their
enquiries to the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar and
transfer office, Tricor Investor Services Limited and the contact details are
set out as follows:

Address: 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road,
Hong Kong

Email: is-enquiries@hk.tricorglobal.com

Telephone:  (852) 2980 1333

Fax: (852) 2810 8185

For enquiries about corporate governance or other matters to be brought
to the attention of the Board, Shareholders shall send their written
enquiries to the Company either via mail to the Company’s principal
place of business in Hong Kong or via email. The mail address and email
address are set out in the subsection headed “Contact Details” below.

Contact Details

Shareholders can send their requisitions, proposals and enquiries as
mentioned above to the Company as follows:

Address: Units 3203-3207, Tower 1, Enterprise Square Five,
38 Wang Chiu Road, Kowloon Bay,

Kowloon, Hong Kong

(For the attention of the Company Secretary)

Fax: (852) 2505 1283

Email: ir@wiseally.com.hk

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholder(s) must deposit and send
the original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or
enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address and provide their full
name, contact details and identification in order to give effect thereto.
Shareholders” information may be disclosed as required by law.

The Company will normally not deal with verbal or anonymous
enquiries.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company considers that effective communication with Shareholders
is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor understanding
of the Group’s business performance and strategies. The Company
endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with Shareholders and
in particular, through annual general meetings and other general
meetings. At the annual general meeting, Directors (or their delegates
as appropriate) will be available to meet Shareholders and answer their
enquiries.

To promote effective communication, the Company maintains a website
at www.wiseally.com.hk where up-to-date information and updates on
the Company’s financial information, corporate governance practices and
other information are posted.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company has not made
any changes to its Memorandum and Articles of Association. An up-to-
date version of the Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association
is available on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website.

Shareholder Communication Policy

The Company has in place a Shareholder Communication Policy. The
policy sets out the standards and practice in relation to communicating
with Shareholders and prospective investors. The Company is committed
to maintaining effective and timely dissemination of the Company’s
information to Shareholders and the market. The Company believes
that providing regular communications to Shareholders and the market
is important to ensure they have the available information reasonably
required to make informed assessments of the Company’s strategy,
operations and financial performance.

WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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The Company has established a number of channels for maintaining an
on-going dialogue with its Shareholders as follows:

Shareholders’ meetings

The annual general meetings and other general meetings of the Company
are the primary forum for communication by the Company with
Shareholders and for shareholder participation. The Company encourages
and supports shareholder participation in general meetings. Shareholders
are encouraged to appoint proxies to attend and vote at meetings for and
on their behalf if they are unable to attend such meetings. Mechanisms
for enabling shareholder participation will be reviewed on a regular
basis by the Board to encourage the highest level of participation. The
Chairman of the Board, appropriate members of the Board committees
and the external auditor of the Company will attend the annual general
meetings to answer questions from the Shareholders.

Company’s website

The Company’s website (www.wiseally.com.hk) contains information
about the Company including shareholder communications. The
Company will place on its website the Company’s announcements,
circulars, notices of general meetings and other information in
compliance with the applicable laws, rules and regulations.

Shareholders’ enquiries

Shareholders should direct their questions about their shareholdings to
the Company’s share registrar. Shareholders and the public may at any
time make a request for the Company’s information to the extent such
information is publicly available. Shareholders may direct their queries to
the Company’s company secretary. The Company will respond promptly
to Shareholders’ queries and concerns.

The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the
Shareholders” Communication Policy and the results were satisfactory.

Dividend Policy

The Company has adopted a Dividend Policy on payment of dividends.
Depending on the financial conditions of the Company and the Group
and the conditions and factors as set out in the Dividend Policy,
dividends may be proposed and/or declared by the Board during a
financial year and any final dividend for a financial year will be subject
to the Shareholders’ approval. The Board do not recommend the payment
of any final dividend for the financial year ended 31 December 2024.
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OVERVIEW OF THE ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT (THE “ESG REPORT”)

Wise Ally International Holdings Limited (the “Company”, and its
subsidiaries, collectively the “Group”, “
sustainability as it is fundamental to our long-term business success. We
are pleased to present our Environmental, Social and Governance Report

(“this Report”).

we” or “us”) is dedicated to

In this Report, the Group summarises its Environmental, Social and
Governance strategy, practices, and vision, conveying a clear message
about the impact it has on the environment, social, and governance
(“ESG”) issues. Additionally, it provides pertinent updates on major ESG
issues identified during the reporting period. For the Group’s corporate
governance practices, please refer to the section “Corporate Governance
Report” of this Annual Report. Overall, the reporting boundary remains
the same as last year.

Reporting Period and Scope

The scope of this Report covers all principal subsidiaries, which include
the businesses and offices in Hong Kong and Dongguan production plant
in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC").

This Report covers the period from 1 January 2024 to 31 December
2024 (the “reporting period” or “the Year”). There was no change to the
reporting scope compared to the previous reporting period.

Reporting Standard

This Report has been prepared in accordance with the “mandatory
disclosure requirements” and adheres to the “comply or explain”
provisions set out in the Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Code (“ESG Reporting Code”) under Appendix C2 of the Main
Board Listing Rules issued by The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“HKEX").

WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Materiality

Reporting Principles

This report has followed the Reporting Principles as set out in the HKEx
ESG Reporting Code to define the report content and to ensure the
quality of information presented, including:

Stakeholder engagement and materiality review is conducted to assure that the ESG issues

identified remain relevant and material to our business operations and stakeholders.

EEM

FONESENEEEFHIEARBINRE HeEnRBRARBEHEAHNERES

EEFhERBERE-

Quantitative
ESG initiatives.
21t

Balance

Quantitative metrics are collected and monitored regularly in order to track the progress of our
WEE(CEELEMER URERE L@ RERBHENER-

To provide an unbiased picture of our ESG performance, this report highlights both the

accomplishments and improvement areas of our ESG management.

P
BERR -

Consistency

ARERFERRE HERERERNRBLERTZM MR TIMEM2HRRE HERE

For meaningful comparison of our ESG performance, we adopt consistent methodologies.

Remarks are provided in case of any change in data compilation methodologies and scope.

—
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L NI EHBRFE B REARE ? —Misk=:
RITAREBIEREERESI) - https://www.
hkex.com.hk/-media/hkex-market/listing/rules-and-
guidance/other-resources/environmental-social-and-
governance/how-to-prepare-an-esg-report/app2 _
kpis °

In preparing the ESG Report, the Group has adopted the international
standards and emission factors specified in the respective guidance
materials on the ESG Reporting Code for computing the relevant Key
Performance Indicators (“KPIs”)!. There is no change from the previous
year in the way the ESG Report has been prepared.

Source of Data and Reliability Statement

The information disclosed in the ESG Report is extracted from the
Group’s internal documents, statistical reports and relevant public
materials. The Group undertakes that the ESG Report does not contain
any false information, misleading statement or material omission, and
takes responsibilities for the contents hereof as to the authenticity,
accuracy and completeness.

] How to prepare an ESG Report? — Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on
Environmental KPIs, https://www.hkex.com.hk/-media/hkex-market/listing/rules-
and-guidance/other-resources/environmental-social-and-governance/how-to-

prepare-an-esg-report/app2_kpis.
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Confirmation and approval

The ESG Report was approved by the board of directors of the Company
(the “Board”) on 26 March 2025 upon confirmation by the management
of the Company. The ESG Report is prepared in both Chinese and
English. In case of any discrepancy between the Chinese and English
versions of the ESG Report, the English version shall prevail.

Contact

We welcome feedback on our report, reporting content and sustainability
performance, please contact us at ir@wiseally.com.hk.

ESG GOVERNANCE AND MANAGEMENT

The Group is committed to encouraging an atmosphere of trust,
transparency, and accountability, safeguarding the interests of all
stakeholders, including the communities we serve. Our foundational
goal is to protect both the internal and external stakeholders” interests
through effective governance.

Board Statement

The Board recognises the importance of sustainable practices and
actively incorporates ESG considerations into significant business
decisions. As the highest governing body, the Board oversees the
Group’s ESG risks and opportunities. It is responsible for developing
and implementing ESG strategies and objectives, assessing progress, and
revising strategies when significant delays occur.

Regular evaluations are conducted to identify and manage risks,
including those related to ESG. The Board ensures effective risk
management through ongoing monitoring of internal control systems and
holds regular meetings to discuss their effectiveness and progress towards
achieving ESG goals. The Board is dedicated to continuously reviewing
and aligning the Group’s environmental performance with our set targets,
maintaining environmentally and socially responsible operations while
generating strong shareholder returns.

WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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ESG Governance Structure

An ESG Working Group, comprising members from middle to
senior management, supports the Board by performing materiality
assessments on ESG concerns and gathering data from various functional
departments. This group promptly reports significant issues to the Board
for immediate consideration.

The ESG Working Group is responsible for overseeing the
implementation of ESG initiatives and assessing their effectiveness in
relation to the Group’s objectives and targets. By collaborating with
relevant departments, the Group addresses any discrepancies and
conducts regular annual meetings to evaluate the impact of these
measures. It systematically monitors emerging ESG trends, risks, and
market opportunities while ensuring compliance with regulatory
requirements and ESG regulations. This proactive approach enables the
identification and mitigation of emerging challenges, thereby enhancing
our overall performance. The ESG Working Group plays a critical role
in our commitment to responsible and sustainable practices, upholding
high standards of transparency and accountability.

Exg
The Board

BRI 48R

ERI{ENE -

ESG Working

Group
| |
i BERRPT TR BERR P R BERRPT
Functional Functional Functional
Departments Departments Departments
BT ERERERAT
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Board
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ESG Working Group

Governance Structure

Formulates, administers, and assesses ESG policies, overseeing all strategic decisions.
HlE  EHENERE LB REAHK BEEEBAR-

Assists the Board in daily management and monitoring of ESG issues, facilitating coordination

among various departments.
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Functional Departments

HHEEERFEEMEERE HEREARAEH RESHMAZEHGHRA -

Responsible for implementing and evaluating the effectiveness of strategies and targets in areas

like Operations, Supply Base Management, and Client Base Management.
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AEERMIGHELRN HEEENLRELEEMNRE LB RNBRL-

Recognising our role as a responsible corporate citizen in the
Electronic Manufacturing Services (“EMS”) industry, we are committed
to minimising our environmental impact and enhancing long-term
sustainability and resilience. We integrate climate-related issues into
our risk management system to adapt to potential climate change
impacts. Through data analysis and stakeholder engagement, we identify
and manage climate-related risks that may affect our financial and
operational performance.

As part of our commitment to social and environmental contributions,
the Board continuously evaluates the Group'’s progress on ESG matters,
ensuring that our risk mitigation strategies and controls align with our
enterprise risk management framework.

WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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BinE
Stakeholders

RE-HERER
Areas of ESG Concerns

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND MATERIALITY
ASSESSMENT

Throughout our operations, the Group remains attentive to the significant
concerns expressed by both internal and external stakeholders.
We actively engage with stakeholders through transparent and
comprehensive communication, continuously enhancing our sustainable
development strategies and plans based on their valuable feedback.
By addressing the expectations and needs of stakeholders, we aim to
foster mutual trust, cultivate cooperative relationships, and pave the way
for a future marked by sustainable economic growth, environmental
responsibility, and social inclusivity in the workplace.

The table below summarises the communication and engagement
channels employed by the Group to connect with stakeholders, as well
as the primary ESG concerns raised by them:

EBE BHRE

Engagement Channels

BT R B E e . L%“J:W%EE'J‘ s FEEERF:
. BRBERERER: o ARFREURAE:
. %@{:\%ﬁy =

Government and
regulatory authorities

o HORMABL: M

o NMENEEHANE

e Compliance with the Listing Rules;

e Disclosure of information and
submission of materials;

e Operational compliance;

e Tax payment as legally required; and

e Timely and accurate announcements

B E A

Annual reviewal process;

Company’s website and announcements;
Meetings; and

Trainings and seminars

REE o EXBRBEMERR: BRAE
s BREXREAR: MEmERDE R
o WHEAN: Rk ZAN/NSIE S
o KRERW
Investors e Business strategies and performances; General meetings;
e Effective corporate governance; Financial reports and announcements; and
e Sustainable profitability; and Company’s website
* Investment returns
KERAR o EER: N
o RER#E R PN/NGEED RN
o EFAHER ERmE
Media & Public e Corporate Governance; Announcements;

e Environmental protection; and
e Uphold human rights standards

Company’s website; and
Press conference

B AR ERARAT
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BiE B HEREARIER SHRE
Stakeholders Areas of ESG Concerns Engagement Channels
g o R . EER

o FTREEM:

s EEAM K

s EBEMRFHEER
Suppliers e Payment schedule;

e Demand stability;

e Operational Compliance; and

e Quality services and products

P s BEMRBFHEEM:
s EmRE:
s BEEE:

o MBERERE: M
. BEAR
Customers e Quality services and products;
e Product safety;
e Commercial credibility;
e Intellectual property rights and
protection; and
e Operational compliance

& 18 mf

BY Bk &
e

23
Bk
g
23
S

e Site visits;
*  Meetings; and
e Conference calls and interviews

s B
PN
* EaE-

AT L 2 .
. Eo

s EPHEEKS

e Visits;

*  Meetings;

e Conference calls; and

e Customers’ enquiries handling
mechanism

== o RERERFNNAREF:
o HIIRER:
o IERRMBELZEZ R

. TEMe

Employees e Rights and benefits of employees;
e Training and development;
e Work environment and occupational
safety; and
e Equal opportunities

- TEHIEE:
- REHEI:

s FEZZ:
e BRMIR

e WhatsApp & 15 &t

e Regular meetings;

e Employee training;

e Annual Appraisal;

e Opinion box; and

*  WhatsApp and WeChat group

Zan o HEIE:
o BEME:
o RERE N
o HEtaEit
Community e Community development;
e Employment opportunities;
e Environmental protection; and
e Social welfare

o HERRFER:
o REEFEM: N
s MEBMERE

e Community service activities;
e Media enquiry; and
e Press release and announcements

68 WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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We have identified ESG issues that may adversely affect our sustainable
development from various sources, including our previous ESG reports,
internal policies, industry trends, and stakeholder feedback. These issues
have been carefully evaluated in conjunction with our overall ESG
strategy, development goals, and targets.

Based on our review of business operations, priorities, and development,
the 16 material issues identified last year remain relevant and applicable.
These issues have been addressed by relevant measures, and we
believe they have no significant effect on our financial and operational
performance.

Our materiality assessment is illustrated in the table below, highlighting
the ESG issues that are deemed most significant and have the greatest
potential to affect our performance.

% BE (== HE
Environmental Operations Employees Community
1. AERE(RAERBDE | 6. EmRMT 1. &R 16. HtEIKRE

&R
1. Greenhouse Gas (“GHG") & 6. Product 11. Employment 16. Community

Air Emissions Responsibility Investment
. BERBRLAKE 7. HEEER 12. BT 28|
2. Energy & Water 7. Supply Chain 12. Labour Standards

Consumption Management
3. EEYER 8. EmiARRER 13. BEELZE
3. Waste Management 8. Product Related 13. Health and Safety

Complaints
4. RIREML 9. REFEM 14, R A
4. Climate Change 9. Anti-corruption 14. Development and
Awareness Training

5. BEMEUERE 10. ABERE 15. FLERRE
5. Packaging Material 10. Intellectual Property 15. Privacy Protection

Consumption

BEERERERAR
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ENVIRONMENTAL
Overview

The Group is a reputable provider of Electronic Manufacturing Services
(EMS) that offers comprehensive end-to-end solutions to customers. Our
product range spans a variety of consumer electronic products, including
vapour products, appliances, commercial controls, and heating,
ventilation, and air-conditioning (HVAC) systems.

We recognise the critical importance of environmental protection and
are committed to practising sustainable development in our day-to-day
operations. Our goal is to enhance environmental awareness among our
employees and contribute to creating a more sustainable environment.

In support of our commitment, we have established an ESG policy to
guide our environmental, social, and governance practices. Notably,
our production plant in Dongguan has implemented an environmental
management system that conforms to international, industry-specific
environmental standards and has been certified with 1ISO 14001:2015.
This system includes a range of policies and procedures designed to
monitor and improve our environmental performance. Key components
include the Environmental Management Handbook, the Procedure
for Environmental Factors/Hazard Source Identification, Evaluation,
and Updating, the Procedure for Monitoring and Measurement of
Environmental Performance, and the Management Procedures for
Electricity and Water Usage.

WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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but not limited to:

Furthermore, the Group strictly adheres to the relevant environmental
laws and regulations in the People’s Republic of China (PRC), including

o (GRBRF#&EZXR)
o (RFIFHRIAE)
o COKIBREAE)

o (BIEEMSAREIAZE) R

o (EIMIREIRIR) °

“Environmental Protection Law”
“Law on the Prevention and Control of Atmospheric Pollution”
“Law on the Prevention and Control of Water Pollution”

“Law on the Prevention and Control of Solid Waste Pollution to the
Environment”; and

“Law on Energy Conservation”.

REER-E

Environmental targets at a glance
pagic B
Targets

BZE2024F12A31BENER
Progress as of 31 December 2024

1 HEFSFE380ME — EALTIRE B R ET A
BEEEEBMUNUT

GHG Emissions Maintain below 380 tonnes CO,e per million
units of production by pieces.

AEE2024F 100 EREEH R E R FIA
B (BI318ME — ALk E & RITAHE
SEEEEEN) REASENEMRRLD

The Group’s GHG emission in 2024 was below
our target (i.e. 318 tonnes CO,e
per million units of production by pieces)
due to decrease in electricity emission.

BEBREMLE

Hazardous Waste

IR0 100 RIS BB ES BRI T -

Maintain below 0.10 tonnes per million units of

BRAFEENEETEREMELER0.12
W RGN EEEESBUESN
B BER-

The Group’s hazardous waste production

production production by pieces. was 0.12 tonnes per every million units of
production by pieces this year which is slightly
above our target.
AR HITTE030M R EEBEEEMIAT . HMAFERBRAREMEZ0.180 &M

Paper Consumption Maintain below 0.30 tonnes per every million
units of production by pieces.

AN EESEEEURERTEBR-

We achieved this goal by reducing our paper
consumption to 0.18 tonnes per every million
units of production by pieces this year.

BFERERERAR
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RREEE-E

Environmental targets at a glance

HE A& BZE2024F12A31HHER

Aspects Targets Progress as of 31 December 2024

REIRIE#E HFFTE0S0T R RIGETBESBELIAT - AEE2024FNRERERBESRRMEEE
# B2 (Bl0.58 T LAY MR AT RES
) -

Energy Maintain below 0.50 kWh per total production ~ The Group’s energy consumption in 2024 was

Consumption

unit by pieces.

slightly above our target (i.e. 0.58 kWh per
total production unit by pieces) this year.

AKX

Water
Consumption

HEFSTE0.033L 77 K R ET R E B B
AT e

Maintain below 0.03 m’ per total production
unit by pieces.

BMAFEERBBBKERZ0.013 25K/
BRUTNRESENRER TE—BE-

We achieved this goal by reducing our water
consumption to 0.01 m’ per total production
unit by pieces this year.

AEEBEMBELRMIIRFRBZ KA
AREBERBRMNAFERRRT -IE
U BERABERELRIR

BEsRBE K

AEENERFEREZRETE BRI
BA R E RN MR

goals.

Air Emission

The Group is acutely aware of the environmental targets listed in the
table above. We are committed to actively monitoring our sustainability
performance and implementing the necessary measures to achieve these

The majority of the Group's air emissions come from motor vehicles. The
types and quantities of air emissions are summarised in the table below.

EEHHRY By 2024 F HE B 20235 BN E
2024 Amount 2023 Amount

Major Emissions Unit of Emission of Emission

AEALHNO) Ne

Nitrogen Oxides (NO,) Kg 264.14 194.98

REE(SO) NI

Sulphur Oxides (SO,) Kg 0.38 0.36

RV E (PM) N

Particulate Matter (PM) Kg 25.40 18.55

WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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BERBHER

ARBENEERBEXRFREIERRNER
MBI R RLBEINER Z—hE AEER
EREBAZREZRENINEES ER
MERAREEASHE-

GHG Emissions

The main drivers of the Group’s direct GHG emissions are the fuels used
in vehicles and refrigerants. On the other hand, the main sources of the
Group's indirect GHG are electricity purchases, discarded waste paper,

and employee business travel.

HERMER By 2024 FHHE 2023F HENE
2024 Amount 2023 Amount

Types of Emissions Unit of Emissions of Emissions

EE1-BEEEREN

Scope 1 - Energy Direct Emissions

HE1 - B EBERERR

Scope 1 - Fuel burning in generators?

=& {LH(CO) - SR

Carbon Dioxide (CO,) Tonnes CO,e 3.92 =

5 (CH,) M-E(HEE

Methane (CH,) Tonnes CO,e = =

—S{EZAN,0) W8tk g2

Nitrous Oxide (N,O) Tonnes CO,e - =

et WS LikE =

Total Tonnes CO,e 3.92 -

HE1—EHRERE

Scope 1 — Combustion of fuels in vehicles

—&{LH(CO,) WAL

Carbon Dioxide (CO,) Tonnes CO,e 60.84 57.65

Fk2(CH,) W — A LIREE

Methane (CH,) Tonnes CO,e 0.14 0.13

— L= N,0) M- EEE

Nitrous Oxide (N,O) Tonnes CO,e 6.42 6.55

4RET Wi — & Lk & =

Total Tonnes CO,e 67.40 64.33

2 2023F WAEREMES)  FLLR0 cAFEFRLAM 2 There was no generator activity in 2023, therefore it was 0. The emission of

—S(L—ANRETEKR

Methane and Nitrous Oxide is not material during the year.

BEERERERAR
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HmmERE Bz 2024 A B 20235 HEIRE
2024 Amount 2023 Amount

Types of Emissions Unit of Emissions of Emissions
EEI-ERARSHE
Scope 1 — Use of refrigerants
— &L (CO,) - E (R
Carbon Dioxide (CO,) Tonnes CO,e 155.66 124.89
EE1-RERBHER
Scope 1 — GHG Emissions?
et MR LREE
Total Tonnes CO,e 226.98 189.22
EE2- R EER
Scope 2 — Energy Indirect Emissions
SN E A WE— A LIREE
Electricity* Tonnes CO,e 4,459.81 5,047.35
EE3-HMEEHER
Scope 3 — Other Indirect Emissions
& 45 W — A LIREE
Waste Paper® Tonnes CO,e 9.72 1.30
R 795 22 B° MR LREE
Business Trip® Tonnes CO,e 40.73 29.20
et W — A LREE
Total Tonnes CO,e 50.45 30.50
BERBHERME
Total GHG Emissions
6 WE— A LREE
Total Tonnes CO,e 4,737.24 5,267.07
BEREE Wi ELIRE 8RR

BEBRESEN
Emission Intensity Tonnes CO,e/every million units of

production by pieces 318.19 360.33

3 HENEEREEMOEREZRSNBEE SR 3 The emission factors of Scope 1 GHG emissions were calculated based on the
2024F 1231 H E #7241 [0 B IE - 4t emission factors provided in “Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental
© NS | b AR - IR B S IS A KPIs” in “How to prepare an ESG Report” published by the Stock Exchange
RIES| | PRBER R EEE o updated on 31 December 2024.

4 HEEEREN (VMNES I EENREIEEER) - 4 For Scope 2 greenhouse gas emission (indirect emission from consumption of
BRI A B A A2 3B 38 SR B i) (20224F [& 15 B 49 purchased electricity), the Baseline Emission Factors for Regional Power Grids in 2022
HESEHNEF)  UEPER2024ELEEH issued by the Ministry of Ecology and Environment of the PRC, and also the carbon
Hofibire s R EitE- dioxide equivalent emissions intensity of electricity sold by CLP in 2024 is adopted.

SO RBERMEBRNEANSENREREHMIIE 5 The Scope 3 GHG emissions of paper waste disposed at landfills was calculated
BREE AT FT 722024512 A31 B 8T T3 /9 [0 fa 2 based on the emission factors provided in “Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on
BERE B REBME] P [IHER2  BRIBHRE Environmental KPIs” in “How to prepare an ESG Report” published by the Stock
BAEIRERIES! | PR RBGTH - Exchange updated on 31 December 2024.

¢ MBERPMEKMOBEIAZAEPMERERE ¢ The emission of Scope 3 GHG emissions contributed by business air travel
BRMABBARBERGtERRETE - is calculated by the International Civil Aviation Organisation (ICAO) Carbon

Emissions Calculator.
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AEERERBHENER L —REDRHEEM
TR IERHRRELEEREHEHCE
FIMELETE ERRFDBLGOHERRBD
2 TRBE BENHRENB TNE - 15N
HREEXBEEBNZNRERFTEFH
REE % B EIRHRBIE N - E0 T AN 5
EBBEROBERE - TIRETHRED
AEEBRERAFEZERRY RDREL -

i BE 4 e

AEEDEBZERR AR RMAESE
MBI E - RPN ER RARBIREE
LERHRARANEHREN - AEELER 7
RIFEEFEAELEMETREZIK LI
AEBEESUBEMETHITHEENTARSE
VAT OR 5% {5 HO KR JH 2K

RPN EERET  EHETHE FREM
FEETHF WD RBEEROTER- BT
EHRZEBRTERAISRY RFILER
BERBEARGK - THINEEAERTEE
Mg ELBE R

BRANELEER ASERSAEFEENE
BOKE 4 #4351SO 14001:2015:3 35 FT s /)
VA TE BEBUZ ZE o

BRERUNEE

ARBEXFRERERAIBETHEREES
W RFRFARRA R ER - BEYMER 18
RBERERER -RTEERDRKRNE
A Rfe R B (E R R T BABE

BMNEEREENERERF BEBEEVS AR
BEMEEZRE-

BEERRY AMNEIEEZTEREVRRE
EEZRRERDH SXREARZH - BTEESE
HEEY ARECEFEAIREGERE
EONRRBBGRERED SFREEHEER
1 o

The quantity of GHG emissions has decreased this year compared to
the previous Reporting Period mainly due to the drop of emission in
electricity although the activities at our Dongguan production facility
have progressively returned to normal, the emission factor published by
the Ministry of Ecology and Environment has also shown a downward
trend. Additionally, since there were more exhibition travel and client
visit to United States and Europe, more business visits were made, which
increased this year’s emissions in business travel. The following mitigation
actions will help the Group reduce its carbon footprint following the
principles of sustainable development.

Measures to Reduce Emissions

The Group has implemented several strategies to reduce the emissions
we generate. With regard to our fleet of vehicles, it has been made
mandatory that they are used solely for business purposes. Employees
are permitted to use these vehicles for long-distance travel only when
necessary. Additionally, the Group conducts routine maintenance and
weekly checks on the vehicles to ensure optimal fuel efficiency.

At our production facilities, regular processes such as desulphurisation,
dust removal, and purification are carried out to reduce emissions from
diesel generators. To control pollutants emitted during the soldering
process, we have installed exhaust ventilation systems. Designated staff
from the Administrative Department are responsible for the management
and maintenance of these ventilation systems.

Thanks to these measures, the Group has been able to maintain stable
emission levels that comply with the legal emission standards required to
maintain ISO 14001:2015 certification.

Waste Management

The Group supports the concept of an environmentally friendly and
sustainable workplace and upholds the four ‘R’s of environmental
protection: reduce, reuse, recycle, and replace. To minimise paper use,
employees are encouraged to communicate digitally.

We have implemented Waste Management Procedures that classify waste
into hazardous and non-hazardous categories.

Hazardous Waste: Our primary sources of hazardous waste include
waste mineral oil, mercury-containing lamps, and paints. To manage this,
the Group has engaged an environmental service provider, licensed to
handle hazardous waste, to collect this type of waste annually.

BFERERERAR
20245 %5
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BEBRY REFAENZE-REE
BEEY MZBHEBERARm- BEEEEY
s — 2 5 /3R] [ Y A0 BT ()RR R o B [E]
Wi EY R E S MR- N RPIEENE R
£ 51 EDFN %2 B B 88 1 {6 A A oK » B AR 1R 51 Bl

AFHREXHFETSRTEMNERKTE O
Ui B3 1 A

Non-Hazardous Waste: This typically includes paper and various types
of general commercial waste, such as plastics and office supplies. Non-
hazardous waste is further separated into recyclable and non-recyclable
categories. The recyclables are collected from a centralised location by
recycling companies. Additionally, we encourage staff to use both sides
of paper for printing and photocopying. Paper that has been used for
printing or photocopying prototype documents, and does not contain
confidential information, is recycled.

BERYBE B 20245 20234
Types of Waste Unit 2024 2023
BEBERY
Hazardous Waste
EEERMRE 7
Total Hazardous Waste Tonnes 1.84 1.29
EEREYEE W RN EBESE N
Hazardous Waste Intensity Tonnes per every million units of

production by pieces 0.12 0.09
Non-Hazardous Waste
MORFERES M8
Total Paper Consumption Tonnes 2.67 0.36
BEREEVRE Mg
Total Non-hazardous Waste’ Tonnes 68.78 49.18
MRFEAEE W RSB EBESE N
Paper Consumption Intensity Tonnes per every million units of

production by pieces 0.18 0.02
BEERVEETE W RN EBESE N
Total Non-Hazardous Waste Tonnes per every million units of

Intensity production by pieces 4.62 3.36
ERFERANERNSE Use of Resources and Energy Efficiency

AIEETEBHONLBRRRIERS
AEEEHRG O EE A B TR &
i #9 BL PR 5 S48 o 5 0B B /A B T (.
SHRURTERARE s BHEETRERS
BRI ARAET IR A 0 0 T 8
BEM BAERATHAR RELATEE
HHPAEE R RED

7 203 FREIRE ERE AERNBBERES A
HEITES
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To promote energy conservation in the workplace and assure industrial
safety, the Group has implemented the Management Procedures for
Electricity Usage about electricity conservation. Specific measures have
been implemented to conserve energy, such as employees are obligated
to deactivate electrical equipment and the power supply before leaving
the premises or when not in use; cable installation is strictly prohibited
without prior authorisation from the Administration Department; monthly
monitoring of electricity consumption is conducted; and departments that
surpass the electricity usage standards are subject to disciplinary action.

7 FY2023 data have been restated with more accurate data collection methodology.

WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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TRBMANEEN EERBEEREE T The table below summarises the Group’s direct and indirect energy
EREgREWMREEREBE- consumption, which is mostly derived from the use of fuel for vehicles
and electricity.

BERH#E Energy Consumption

REREE B 2024 F HFER 2023F HEE
2024 2023

Types of Energy Unit Consumption Consumption

HEREERHE REH

Direct Energy Consumption: Generators

ey FRE

Diesel kWh 0.21 -

EERRERE TUBERH

Direct Energy Consumption: Non-Renewable Fuel

YU FERE

Gasoline kWh 249,890.64 236,789.88

CEL R

Indirect Energy Consumption: Electricity

B FEEH

Electricity kWh 8,331,679.80 8,294,398.00

BERHAEAE

Total Energy Consumption

REIRHERE TR

Total Energy Consumption kWh 8,581,570.65 8,531,187.88

BERBRERE TRE REAHEESER

Energy Consumption Intensity kWh per total production units by pieces 0.58 0.58

REFBHANRERRRX( -5 F F 98 A  The Group is dedicated to promote a low-carbon culture. This year, we
BEER TRREEEENSOT B 12  have slightly exceeded our goal of achieving an energy consumption
AANEESEEVER- intensity of 0.50 kWh per total production unit by pieces.

BREARNK NEBEEER HNEHmEEZEFN  Moving forward, the Group remains committed to actively monitoring
AKX AL R B - R R EFEMN A =54 and reducing energy consumption. Our energy consumption and GHG
BMEEHRAE BEREMAR ARG EIE  emissions are largely driven by electricity usage, so we are committed to
B ERE &K At PTNETSKAIF  minimizing our environmental impact. To achieve this, we continuously

MIRREBR R TR AR FHRER Rz o it © seek innovative and eco-friendly solutions to enhance energy efficiency.

BPBEGERFERTE  LWE— R Additionally, we will explore new energy vehicles to further decrease
B EARAREER R MO E R emissions and ensure we meet our targets in the coming year.
BEERERERAR
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Ak

RAENHKE LM EARNEE RS ZENAK
7o A B BUKIR 75 H 3K A8 BHE A [
H-ERMMNEBBRERMRZEE TR K
TEARBRENMEBLE-BRBEMRERNOHE
KEMEEERREFEE AU THE
RRIEREAE TMEAKERM-

Water Usage

The Group’s daily operational water needs are adequately met by the
existing water supply, and we have not encountered any difficulties in
sourcing water. At our Hong Kong offices and the Dongguan production
plant, water is primarily used for cleaning and sanitation. The data below
specifically pertains to water usage at the Dongguan production plant,
as the water supply for the office premises in Hong Kong is centrally
managed by the property management.

R B 20245 HFEE 20234 HFEE
2024 2023

Water Usage Unit Consumption Consumption
Rk E AV
Total Water Consumption Cubic Meters 94,469 100,711
RKBEZE NIRRT EES B
Intensity of Total Water Cubic meters per total production units

Consumption by pieces 0.01 0.01

BETBEMEHHAKNAE AEERE
MEZ IR ELEERE  KARBRRAKER
& F HA i & K BE 5 DABT LE R K 0 FE AR K2 B
& 485 - DA K TR R BT A0 7K BE 58 B 3 oR
Hﬁﬁ'ﬁ*ﬂug"*x—ﬁaﬁﬁaE?Eﬁ@/\mﬁlﬂk
B WA AT IHE KL -

BEMH

AEBFERZEBEMHBEER BEAR &
2 RIRER BBISRBKELH  EP85%
MBEEMEHERAHRR TRV ANEBRF
SHREENRREM B EE K-

In line with our commitment to water conservation, the Group has
implemented several measures. These include adopting a circulating
water system, conducting regular checks on faucets to prevent leaks and
ensure any damage is reported immediately, and placing water-saving
signs in toilets and near faucets. These initiatives aim to raise awareness
among our employees and promote a culture of water conservation
across the organisation.

Packaging Material

The Group utilises a variety of materials for product packaging, including
paper, paper boxes, partition cardboard, plastic bags, and foam sponges
which 85% of packaging material is using paper. The table below
presents data on the quantity of packaging materials consumed by the
Group during the Reporting Period.

BEMH By 20245 HFEE 2023F HFEE
Packaging Materials Unit 2024 Consumption 2023 Consumption
EREENHAE WA
Total Packaging Materials Used Tonnes 621.59 641.14
EREEMHRERE MR R ABEEEM
Intensity of Total Packaging Tonnes per every million units of

Materials Used production units by pieces 41.75 43.88

/8
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RERBERER

AREHRREAENERH AEBEFEZN
(B ELEEHIRBOTE RIKRBFEFISO
14001:201 siaiﬁﬁfitf N BB —IBIRE
e RERHRK BEGREERER LY E
E‘u&ﬂﬁxﬁ’])ﬁﬁﬁﬁ EMBOIREREE
WHLIEDR KA RENFE - BREHRS
BE B LR BMERBRDRBERT &
EAFEER-

The Environment and Natural Resources

In line with our dedication to environmental stewardship, the Group
consistently monitors the impact of our operations on the environment.
We adhere to the ISO 14001:2015 environmental management
standards and have implemented an ESG (Environmental, Social, and
Governance) policy. Our commitment to minimising our carbon footprint
and mitigating our environmental impact is demonstrated through the
systematic management of all aspects of our activities, products, and
services. By implementing effective strategies and practices, we actively
work towards reducing our environmental footprint and promoting
sustainability.

RAREBARE

REMEEBERMRREBLCUE AKEE
ZRBENRIRZ(CHEBRER - RERKEA

Climate-related Disclosure

In response to the imminent challenge of climate change, the Group
has taken into account the potential risks associated with climate

AR FS 3R ER TE/ M4 ([TCFD ) ) #9#53] - B  change. Following the guidelines of the Task Force on Climate-related
DHEHPEANERMESEENEERERER  Financial Disclosures (“TCFD”), we have identified specific climate risks,
(PEEREEERR) encompassing both physical and transitional risks, that apply to our
business operations.

RIZEER BEEEE L B 4 3t KA EHER

Types of Climate Risk Specific Risk Description of the risk Our Response

AR (21%) Bmim AR (R - B2 HM|ABMOPREREREER ASEEHTEZRIE AR

D) BTERZIZBLRAATE REENRmARSEGEE

Physical risk (acute) Extreme weather

conditions (e.g. typhoons,

extreme heat flooding)

BE  ENAEZ 2
Bt~ B RORAR - DA AR A L
HAMAREERERE-

It is essential to implement
safety measures and drills to
minimise the likelihood of
such risks occurring despite
our offices and production
plants being not situated

in regions prone to severe
weather conditions.

BTHRILEZZ I K
SEERBHERRIAR
BEERE  AREBFMRIL
RARE KB B ER -
The Group has developed
operational protocols to
ensure the well-being and
safety of our employees during
the rainy season and extreme
weather events. Furthermore,
the Group has implemented
property insurance and public
liability insurance to safeguard
its interests and minimize
potential financial risks.

BFERERERAR
20245 %5
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RizEBRER AERERE J22, e 4 RPN ELE R
Types of Climate Risk Specific Risk Description of the risk Our Response
EREAR (1B1E) RESR RHNBREFENDAE AEEEERERDESRR

Physical risk (chronic)

Sustained high

BYAEEE M- FL - A&
B /B PRERE R FE AR D St
REENEBRRERE

The occurrence of chronic

AR IRE R RE R A
DI #E o pE SN AR HIE

TR B R P AN 1) 5 B I I B
ERE R - F /M Riim KR
SHERIRBEAERFROB

The Group has implemented

temperatures heat waves and prolonged climate-resilient features in
high temperatures can its buildings and properties,
increase electricity usage. utilizing materials resistant to
Thus, the Group should adopt ~ wind and water. Furthermore,
energy conservation measures comprehensive Contingency
to reduce or maintain overall  Plans for Emergencies have
energy consumption at a been established, outlining
steady level. the responsibilities of
relevant departments and the
property management team
in addressing climate-related
hazards such as typhoons,
heavy rainfall, and extreme
weather events.
BIEE R EEARRAR RIBET HBBR By BANERE HeRERTHE

Transition risk

Regulatory compliance
risk

HREENPBEERDRE
R AREEFRD THEBE
B R R ROAR -

As environmental regulations
become more stringent and
carbon taxes carry significant
financial implications for
businesses, the Group must
remain fully informed about
these issues to prevent any
violations of laws.

PMARBEEREHNERY
B AERETHRMEEMRE
AIARE R ) E AR -
Our ESG Working Group

keep monitoring of the latest
regulatory development to
ensure compliance with

the applicable laws and
regulations in the jurisdictions
that we operate.
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RizEBRER ARER 2R e 3t RFMEEEE
Types of Climate Risk Specific Risk Description of the risk Our Response
B E R BERR HEETRBERYHNARE ARELEGESKEE EH

Transition risk Reputation Risk

B R ER G EE LT ER R
MBI REETEBFNE
2o Fith - AEBARBEK
BB EBRN T EE
EHEBRGER  BIFEP A&
SELBEMRA-

The reputation of Wise Ally
may be influenced by changes
in customer behaviour or their
perception of the Group's
contribution to the transition
to a low-carbon economy.
Therefore, the Group needs

to enhance its business model
to align with the low-carbon
economy. Failure to make
progress in this regard may
result in negative perceptions
from customers.

EBEERRREREE 2
SEESHERMAFENL I
R R R Z R T A BEEE A
B B E R A

The Group is actively pursuing
opportunities to transition its
operations into low-carbon
practices. These initiatives

aim to enhance sustainability
and mitigate any negative
perceptions associated with a
lack of progress.

AEBRSBmRRANEELEARIRER
BEPIMBEETEHEERELELERY

0
=

S5 B E e T BB Ko R A AR & B TS R
% 1) VB 2 18 3R Ko B 3R B R MR B2 B2 & O
W ERAEREERREBRE EE2ER2
HERERABEE & - T IRERIEER &
SEIREY T R o o kAR R T A SRR 4 D
BREK

BEML AEBDERFEERNRFETE
() B B B 2 B0 82 45 0 DAR A bl Rk 48
B2

The Group believes that the potential impact of extreme weather
conditions and changes in environmental regulations would not

significantly affect its current operations.

In addition, the Board ensures effective oversight of climate-related
issues by actively monitoring and evaluating the potential consequences
of the Group’s business strategy and its dedication to mitigating the
effects of climate change. The Board has also participated in climate-
related training to further develop the understanding of climate risk and
the regulations and be better equipped to make informed decisions on
the Group's strategy.

Nonetheless, the Group continues to monitor and evaluate the situation
while implementing appropriate measures to mitigate exposure to the
aforementioned climate-related risks.

EERRERAR AR
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RIR g RERRE

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

o=

ERKkE TR
AEERARERCENEELAE BEE
K ERANBREEREBER KRBT
B B9 5 o PR AR P AR B R R A
e

BE:

o (EMBER)

o (REIBHH) R

o (REHERL)

o (BHARNE)

)

o (BIFHFWRBIEH) -
o (BiIHEmREZR)

o (BARARER) K

o (HEREE)

BABOINBEZ T RABN TIERE
RERBRBELETHBRER NEEMER
Bk RBEMD B EEAE - F5 - BRI
MBERERAMEX B EREHNERS W
Rl B E X R B S B IRER TN MRIRSE
R RIERRERRFFF S EBOR -

AEEHETREHSE TRBRETABE
BEBEENEABERETRBENSSHE
BB IEHBETRONELE - HERBETY
SRS TEM AR IEERBEIT AL R
HE RS ERERDLERTH -NRE
Hif AREERELHBRHSE T EMH-

82

Annual Report 2024

SOCIAL
Employment and Labour Standards

The Group recognises the immense value of our employees, considering
them vital assets. Human resource management is seen as a crucial
component of our overall business strategy. We diligently adhere to
relevant employment laws and regulations, including:

In Hong Kong:

e “Employment Ordinance”,

e “Minimum Wage Ordinance”, and

e “Employees’ Compensation Ordinance”

In PRC:

e “Labour Contract Law”,

e “Labour Law”,

e “Regulations on Paid Annual Leave of Employees”,
e “Law on the Protection of Women'’s Rights and Interests”,
e “Law on the Protection of Disabled Persons”, and
e “Social Insurance Law”

We are committed to fostering a diverse and inclusive workplace where
no employee faces discrimination or is denied opportunities based
on gender, ethnicity, religion, colour, sexual orientation, age, marital
status, or family status during recruitment and promotion processes.
Specific policies, such as the Rules on the Labour Protection of Female
Employees and Anti-discrimination and Harassment Procedures, support
this commitment.

The Group maintains a zero-tolerance policy towards child labour and
forced labour. Rigorous interview screening procedures and thorough
background checks help prevent such practices. If incidents of child
labour or forced labour are identified, immediate termination and
investigation are initiated, with disciplinary measures taken against
responsible employees. During the Reporting Period, no cases of child or
forced labour were reported.

WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED



BIR - HERERRSE

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

REFEEN ZMEREZENANERK
ROHBRE BRLEAREETRE BER
TERFORBLCRAENES TERFE
EEBEGE SRFELTEEA - EBENOR
BB AEERMPAIIELRKBERIE@R
Ao ROBERE R EBERE BAETTRERIE 4 0 A
sk Bk E R PIE TIRRIR -

BREARBFHERFEZZEETRE &
HERAE BARFRIEASERARE
ZER -HPINFEER (BRERKRRHF
ERBEEA) BRERERT —2 - YASE
FETRAT

BARHARFINFTHEFBEREZENEHN
BRERE e Rk ZHROERNEFZR
PARR 5| 0SB B/ A A -

HAI IR TR BUS T KR8/ - 8B40/
B SBAREE IR -HMERAESE RS
B AR EBBORE I R EEME N TR

3 o

To enhance productivity, our comprehensive Human Resources
Policy governs recruitment, resignation, and promotion, standardising
procedures and improving efficiency. Selection processes include resume
screening, background checks, and job interviews. Employees wishing
to resign must provide written notice to their Department Head and
Manager-in-Charge. Exit interviews are conducted on their final day to
gather feedback and improve our workplace environment.

Employee probation assessments and annual appraisals are crucial in
determining rewards, penalties, salary adjustments, promotions, and
year-end bonuses. Our remuneration policy, which includes annual
and discretionary bonuses based on performance, aligns with job
responsibilities and undergoes annual reviews.

We offer competitive remuneration packages and comprehensive
benefits, including medical and social insurance, travel, and phone bill
allowances, to attract and motivate top talent.

Our standard working hours are 8 hours per day and 40 hours per week,
with at least one rest day. Regular group activities are organised to
promote team cohesion and a harmonious working environment.

BFERERERAR
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20245 REFBEEFENFEESTHELEM  In 2024, the Group was awarded again the “Caring Company Logo” by
BHeR T I mARBIE]E5% IR, the Hong Kong Council of Social Service for the ninth consecutive year,
MEHEEE L REEERA TIEIBIE  recognising our commitment to a caring and inclusive workplace.
[E:oEEp

EESTBE 20245 20234
Employees Demographics 2024 2023
EERAR Total number of employees 1,846 1,570
REFESHESAR Number of employees by gender

it Female 882 797
S Male 964 773
RERERNE T NEB AR Number of employees by age group

255 AN <25 344 195
25ZE295% 25-29 213 214
30E395% 30-39 565 542
402495% 40-49 585 519
5058 A L >50 139 100
REBERIINEBAR Number of employees by employment type

2B Full-Time 1,459 1,570
I Part-Time 387 =
RBEEINEEAR Number of employees by geographical region

EB Hong Kong 97 88
e PRC 1,749 1,481
Hity Others 0 1
EER AR 20245 20235
Employee Turnover® 2024 2023
EREEEMALE Overall employee turnover rate 109% 117%
REBEINESRALR Employee turnover rate by gender

pegis Female 75% 40%
S Male 144% 197%
RERARE S WEERKLLE Employee turnover rate by age group

255 A N <25 259% 217%
25F2975% 25-29 167 % 173%
30E3975% 30-39 123% 138%
402495% 40-49 49% 52%
5058 A L >50 29% 29%
RHBESNESRALE Employee turnover rate by geographical region

EE Hong Kong 10% 17%
F PRC 117% 123%
Hitb Others 0% 0%

8 EEMRALLEMNFTERERETERNMOBEE ¢ The methodology of Employee turnover rate is calculated as “Full time employees
BLE B ABER AR ER A 2 BE B ABERIA
100% | ° employees in the specified category and then multiplied by 100%".

in the specified category leaving employment divided by number of full time
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Health and Safety

The Group places the highest priority on the health and safety of its
employees. We fully comply with relevant safety regulations, including
the “Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance” in Hong Kong and the
“Production Safety Law” and “Fire Protection Law” in the PRC. To ensure
a safe working environment, we have developed an Employee Safety
Policy that identifies potential hazards and outlines safety procedures for
various aspects of our production activities. Furthermore, our Employee
Handbook includes contingency measures for special work arrangements
during crises such as typhoons, rainstorms, serious infectious diseases,
and other emergencies, prioritising the well-being of our employees and
maintaining a secure working environment.

At our Dongguan production plant, a dedicated Environmental Health
and Safety (“EHS”) officer is responsible for managing health and safety
issues. All employees are required to examine their work environment
and sign a confirmation notice acknowledging their observations. New
employees must complete a comprehensive “3-Level Safety Training”
before commencing their duties, covering operational and preventive
guidelines to enhance work safety awareness and ensure proper and safe
equipment operation.

Additionally, we have instituted general safety measures including a
smoking ban in non-smoking zones such as warehouses, flammable
areas, and other production spaces. We adhere to fire safety management
plans and precautionary procedures as mandated by law. Regular fire
drills are conducted to enhance safety awareness and preparedness for
fire-related incidents.

During the Reporting Period, there were no work-related fatalities, but
there were 6 reported cases of work injuries, resulting in a total of 30
lost days. Over the past three years, our employees have experienced
a minimal number of work-related injuries. We remain committed to
strengthening our safety procedures and continually improving our
occupational safety measures.

20245 20234 20224
RERZZE Health and Safety 2024 2023 2022
TEHE Number of injuries 6 11 6
BIGELIHR Lost days due to work injuries 30 119 30
ITHEH Work-related fatalities ZNil ZNil ZNil
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Development and Training

The Group highly values the skills and expertise of its employees,
acknowledging their critical role in driving our long-term growth.
We prioritise investing in employee development by offering training
programs that enhance their knowledge and skills. These programs
encompass a broad range of subjects, from technical knowledge in
areas like electronic components and welding to soft skills such as
communication and relationship building. Enhancing these capabilities
allows employees to perform their duties more efficiently and achieve
personal goals. The Group is committed to providing comprehensive in-
house and external training opportunities for employees at all levels to
support their career progression and personal development.

S &3 20245 20234
Employee Training 2024 2023
RERESHNEZIEET L Percentage of employee trained by
gender
7 Female 52% 54%
St Male 48% 46%
RESERESHWZIEET DL Percentage of employee trained by
employee category
EIEE Management 4% 4%
hiRES Mid-level employee 20% 17%
kRS Junior employee 76% 79%
REBESNEERER Average training hours completed
TR Z NN T RH per employee by gender
it Female 9.68)N i 16.04/)N B
9.68 hours 16.04 hours
S Male 9.33/ N 21.39/\B§
9.33 hours 21.39 hours
RESEREINEEER Average training hours completed
TR Z NN F R per employee by employee category
EIRE Management 14.15/N 2.19/)NBF
14.15 hours 2.19 hours
hRES Mid-level employee 10.27/NE§ 3.89/\BF
10.27 hours 3.89 hours
NkEE Junior employee 9.09/\BF 11.44/NB5
9.09 hours 11.44 hours
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Supply Chain Management

Recognising the vital role of responsible supply chain management in
sustainable development, the Group is fully committed to promote long-
term and harmonious partnerships with our suppliers. Our suppliers
are required to comply with relevant laws and regulations, including
those outlined in European Union (“EU”) directives and regulations. This
includes adhering to the Restriction of Hazardous Substances Directive
2002/95/EC (“RoHS”) and the Registration, Evaluation, Authorisation,
and Restriction of Chemicals Regulation (EC) No 1907/2009 (“REACH”).
Ensuring compliance with these directives is fundamental to our supplier
relationships. We prioritise integrity and pragmatism, expecting our
suppliers to uphold these values and deliver products and services that
strictly align with applicable laws and regulations. Adherence to these
principles and legal requirements is paramount as we maintain strong
and sustainable partnerships with our suppliers.

To standardise procurement procedures and enhance supplier monitoring
and management, the Group has implemented a comprehensive set of
Standard Operating Procedures known as Supply Base Management
(“SBM”). These procedures include evaluations carried out before
accepting a supplier as an approved supplier, as well as continuous
assessments and regular inspections of approved suppliers.

During the supplier sourcing process, the SBM team and the supply
quality assurance team evaluate the potential supplier's capabilities.
Our engineers may request samples from potential suppliers for testing
purposes. Additionally, the SBM team collects pertinent documents
from potential suppliers, such as signed supplier information forms with
company seals, as well as compliance declarations on RoHS and REACH
regulations.

New suppliers are only added to the approved vendor list after
passing a thorough assessment and receiving approval from the SBM
manager and vice president. These assessments cover various aspects,
including the supplier's background information, the quality of their
products and services, their reputation, and their commitment to
human rights management. We also conduct investigations to ensure
potential suppliers have not been involved in any significant incidents
of environmental non-compliance. Supplier performance is evaluated
annually, and those failing to meet the Group's standards may face
termination of cooperation.

20245 20234

HEBHE HERHE

Number of Number of

RLEE S MHER suppliers in suppliers in
Geographical region of suppliers 2024 2023
H PRC 468 460
BB Hong Kong 138 146
FB - BOM R e E At B R R 3= U.S., Europe, and the rest of Asia 63 55
Ay Total 669 661

BFBRERBR AR
20244 %5

87



RIR g RERRE

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

ERRBRBEEE

AEBRIRAEFRELZ S - BEERAIED
EmERE RMERFEREREFRER
BRNEEEE THeEEeEERRE) i
BREERHZANEEREBZI -HME
SFEREMEER - BIEREN (EREEE)

Bl B8 36 52006/122/EC ~ 2005/69/EC %2011/65/
EU ' A R EEEIB =€ 551907/200657 % 48

BHEREBENSEARBRRAERRNEE
REEN EPERUEBTHNERERE
HEBRTHNFERS ULREEFHRMS
MEREERE-KMNEEREABNTT
EHmE - ETERRE AR BB
RERERXRE BRABEREXTZ
AT & P M AR AR 2 o

REMEPER BRANEERANEL—E
LSRR - EREBIET I BNEMY
BB IRTBIRE - (£ 3 MBE S R IR T T BRFE TR
B WEMBEENMERERE HEARBESR
Ko

B EERE R B100KERFEERRE R
—EEEMIKEZFERE ARXAEEE
BEMMBERNBEREEEZR-

REBECDESZERE REEEEEE
ZHIISO 9001:2015 % B & &= M £ E/MISO
13485:2016 * B8IR T MM E SR B HIHGHE ©
o BRPIMIR B LA FETERR &2
nEEEERERSNEEBEZRATRER
EEEBRTEERBRE-

88

Annual Report 2024

Product and Service Responsibility

The Group is committed to delivering products and services that are safe,
high-quality, and reliable to our customers. We maintain stringent quality
standards throughout our manufacturing processes, implementing total
quality management principles and providing comprehensive training in
quality assurance. We comply with all relevant regulations, including the
“Product Quality Law” in the PRC, as well as EU Directives 2006/122/
EC, 2005/69/EC, and 2011/65/EU, alongside Regulation (EC) No.
1907/2006.

We employ rigorous quality assurance measures throughout the
manufacturing process, including checks for incoming materials, ongoing
inspections during production, and final quality assurance for finished
electronic products. Our quality assurance officers perform periodic
sample checks using visual inspections, functionality tests, automated
optical inspections, and x-ray inspections to ensure all products meet
required specifications and standards before delivery.

To facilitate product traceability, we have established a record system
within our production line. All products are barcoded during the
manufacturing process, allowing us to quickly identify the origin of any
defects and take corrective actions to prevent future occurrences.

Our production facilities include a Class 100K cleanroom production
floor and a specialised Class 10K cleanroom laboratory facility, adhering
to stringent requirements for medical and healthcare product production.

The Group has received various certifications, including 1ISO 9001:2015
for our quality management system and ISO 13485:2016 for the
production of medical devices, demonstrating our commitment to quality
assurance. We also comply with the US FDA’s Medical Device Quality
System Regulation for our pulse oximeters and hold Good Manufacturing
Practice certifications for food production.

WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Intellectual Property

The Group places utmost importance on safeguarding and upholding
our intellectual property (“IP”) rights. We comply with all relevant
laws and regulations, including the “Trademarks Ordinance” and
“Copyright Ordinance” in Hong Kong, as well as the “Trademark Law”
and “Patent Law” in the PRC. We prevent potential IP infringements by
entering into Confidentiality Agreements or Non-Disclosure Agreements
with subcontracted manufacturers and employees and take proactive
measures to register our intellectual property rights.

As of 31 December 2024, the Group has registered a total of 6 domain
names and 2 are actively used.

Privacy Protection

We gather and maintain essential information about our customers,
suppliers, and employees as part of our business operations. It is strictly
prohibited to use or disclose this data for any purposes other than
normal business activities. In adherence to the Personal Data (Privacy)
Ordinance in Hong Kong and the Cybersecurity Law in the PRC, we
have established rules and formulated a Personal Data Policy to ensure
the proper handling of confidential information and prevent unauthorised
data release.

Our Dongguan production plant conducts regular training sessions
on information system safety to enhance employee awareness and
knowledge regarding data protection and privacy.

Complaints and Responses

The Group values customer feedback as a crucial element for our
success. We handle all feedback and complaints promptly and seriously
through a dedicated customer complaint handling procedure. When
complaints are received, our Quality Assurance Department conducts
thorough investigations, prepares detailed reports identifying responsible
departments, root causes, and corrective actions taken.

During the Reporting Period, 12 customer complaints were received
and effectively addressed, with no similar issues observed in subsequent
production and shipment processes. There were no product recalls due
to safety or health concerns.

BFERERERAR
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Anti-corruption

The Group strictly adheres to relevant anti-corruption laws and
regulations, such as the “Prevention of Bribery Ordinance” in Hong Kong
and the “Criminal Law” in the PRC. Our Employee Handbook clearly
outlines the expected business conduct and professional ethics for our
employees, reinforcing the message that bribery, corruption, extortion,
and fraud are strictly prohibited, in line with our Corporate Governance
Policies and Procedures and the Policy on Inside Information.

During the Reporting Period, over 340 hours of anti-corruption training
sessions were conducted for employees at Dongguan’s production plant
and the Group’s Hong Kong office to underscore the importance of
maintaining ethical standards.

We have consistently upheld our Anti-Corruption Policy, which provides
comprehensive guidelines on accepting gifts and benefits, as well as
managing conflicts of interest. The policy specifies the conditions under
which employees may accept gifts and benefits. Furthermore, employees
are required to report any existing or potential conflicts of interest to the
Group's Head of Human Resources. Our commitment to ethical business
practices extends to our business partners, whom we also hold to the
same compliance standards.

Additionally, the Group has taken proactive steps to ensure the
effective implementation of its updated Whistleblowing Policy, which
offers enhanced guidance for employees on reporting misconduct or
inappropriate behaviour. Employees are encouraged to report any concerns
promptly to their supervisors or the Whistleblowing Committee via email.
A thorough investigation follows any reports, with disciplinary measures
implemented against any implicated employees once allegations are
substantiated. Depending on the nature and circumstances of each case,
the Group may also pursue further legal action.

During the Reporting Period, there were no legal cases related to
corruption against the Group or our employees, and we are not aware of
any incidents of bribery, extortion, fraud, or other violations.

Community Investment

The Group is dedicated to fulfilling social responsibilities by actively
engaging in public welfare activities, viewing community service as a
vital pillar of our corporate culture.

This year, the Group donated a total of HK$500,000 to the Hong Kong
University of Science and Technology for research and development.
It demonstrates the commitment of the Group to support academic
research and development in the field of electronic manufacturing
services. The goal of their research is to advance the electronic
manufacturing services industry and promote technological innovation
in Hong Kong. The Group has also donated HK$14,000 to the Salvation
Army during 2024 and the Group contributed 358 volunteer hours,
demonstrating our commitment to community service. We focus
particularly on supporting the well-being of the elderly and children,
actively working to improve community life.

WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Ilﬁﬁ EBXSZBE -T2 KRE Appendix I: HKEX ESG Reporting Code Index

SAIRE RS
EBE —-BREEK
BRENER I SER Big
Aspects, General Reference and
Disclosure and KPIs Description Remarks Page
BEAT:HBD
Aspect A1: Emissions
—REE ARERMAEREBHN MAKRIHOHES BEEREEREE HE 70-71
MELEH:
(a) SR : M
) BTHETABEAZENHEERIBRONEH -
General disclosure Informatlon on: Overview 70-71
(@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to air and greenhouse
gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and generation
of hazardous and non hazardous waste.
RS A IR IRATLT PE R MR B R - BERBER 72
KPIAT.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Air Emissions 72
BB A MIEIRAL 2 B (8E) ReERAE (BE2) RZREHR () AR (@ EEREBHER 73-74
R)EE-
KPI'A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas GHG Emissions 73-74
emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity.
BRENERALS FELAERZEYEE (W) (MER)BE- BEYER 76
KPIAT1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where Waste Management 76
appropriate, intensity.
FRENERAL4 FELEERZEYEE (B) ) (MER)BE- BENEE 76
KPI'AT.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where Waste Management 76
appropriate, intensity.
BRENERALS WAV RERRRREZBRMRANSR BE - AHHEE 71,75
KPI'A1.5 Description of emission target(s) set and steps taken to achieve Overview, Measures 71,75
them. to Reduce Emissions
BRENIERALG HlREREREERRNN L RELAEEERAEER BHE BENER 71,75
ISP ERER A A58 o
KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are Overview, Waste all, 75
handled, and a description of reduction target(s) set and steps Management

taken to achieve them.

B AR ERARAT
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Em —-REER

BRENER S S2EREH B
Aspects, General Reference and
Disclosure and KPIs Description Remarks Page
BEA2 : BRER
Aspect A2: Use of Resources
—RIKE BREMA A (BREER KERAMGRME) HEAHEK - BIREE R R LR 76
General disclosure Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water  Use of Resources and 76
and other raw materials. Energy Efficiency
BRENIERAL RENESNERR /SBEERERE (TR REE.  &RER 77
KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in total Energy Consumption 77
(kWh in "000s) and intensity.
BRENIEIRA22 BRKERTE- K 78
KPI'A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity. Water Usage 78
BRENERAL3 BRI REANE B R RAEN R RARERN TSR - BE BREM &R 72,77
)& &ﬁbﬁ/ﬁ ﬁ
KPIA2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to  Overview, Use of 72,77
achieve them. Resources and Energy
Efficiency, Energy
Consumption
FRBMIETRAL.4 HRSKBER KR LR A EARERE ARUNAKAEERER HE AK 72,78
REBREARRN LR
KPI'A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that Overview, Water 72,78
is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps takento ~ Usage
achieve them.
BRENIEIRALS HEmAABREMBOEE ()R (ER)BEESNEE. BEWH 78
KPIA2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, Packaging Material 78
if applicable, with reference to per unit produced.
BEA3  RERXARER
Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
—REE REBTAERERAREREXNERY ENHEK RERBRER 79
General disclosure Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impact on the The Environment and 79
environment and natural resources. Natural Resources
FREMIETRAS HAXBRHURERARERNEATERREERERNFE RENRARER 79
BRI TTE -
KPI'A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the The Environment and 79
environment and natural resources and the actions taken to Natural Resources
manage them.
EEA4  RIREML
Aspect A4: Climate Change
—REE BAREHCELAREHBETAELFENEARKEESE REEL 79 - 81
HHHR -
General disclosure Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate- Climate Change 79 - 81
related issues which have impacted, and those which may
impact, the issuer.
BRENUERA4T EERAEHETAELFENEARGEBAZTERELTE . REE(L 79 - 81
KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have Climate Change 79 - 81
impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the
actions taken to manage them.
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B —-REER
BRENER I 2EREE "
Aspects, General Reference and
Disclosure and KPIs Description Remarks Page
EEB1 : B
Aspect B1: Employment
—RRE ERHMLRE REEET TERE RY TERE 2T BRERSTES 82
b~ RIGIARE AR5 8 A :
(a) R M
) BTHETABEARZENRBEAERIRMNES -
General disclosure Informatlon on: Employment and 82
(@) the policies; and Labour Standards
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to compensation and
dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest
periods, equal opportunity, diversity, antidiscrimination, and
other benefits and welfare.
B A MEIRB1 IR BEREL FRARN RSN NESAH- BR &5 TEA 84
KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group and Employment and 84
geographical region. Labour Standards
B A MIEIRB1.2 BIER Fled R MRS D BB RKLE B1E &5 TEA 84
KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical Employment and 84
region. Labour Standards
BmB2 : RREARE
Aspect B2: Health and Safety
—RIKE FRRAZETHERERREREERECBEMLREN: BEEZe 85
(a) B ]
) BTHETABEARZENRBEEERRBRANER -
General disclosure lnformatlon on: Health and Safety 85

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to providing a
safe working environment and protecting employees from
occupational hazards.

B A MEIRB2.1 BEZF (BRBEFE)BFRICHRMABRIL R EEREZe 85
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the  Health and Safety 85

past three years including the reporting year.

B A NIEIRB2.2 RIGBRATEREC BEEZe 85
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Health and Safety 85
BREMIEIRB2.3 HAMRRNBERFEEZ 2R AREBRTRER A REEZ2 85
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, ~ Health and Safety 85

and how they are implemented and monitored.
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Em —-REER
BRENER S S2EREH B
Aspects, General Reference and
Disclosure and KPIs Description Remarks Page
EEB3 &R R
Aspect B3: Development and Training
—REE B EE BT TEREMAMBRMEENBR - BlEIEg - BRI 86
General disclosure Policies on improving employees” knowledge and skills for Development and 86
discharging duties at work. Description of training activities. Training
BB B NUEIRB3. wER REEERENNEIEREAN L BRLE 86
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee Development and 86
category. Training
FREMIEIRB3.2 IR REEEREDNERERTAZIN TR TR LE 86
KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender and Development and 86
employee category. Training
EEB4 - S5 TEA
Aspect B4: Labour Standards
—RBE BRBLETREHSTH: {EfR K55 T2 82-83
(a) R )
) BTHETABEAZENRBEEAEIAEONER -
General disclosure Informatlon on: Employment and 82-83
(@) the policies; and Labour Standards
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to preventing child
and forced labour.
BB B NIEIRBA R R E AN AR P E T RAHS T [B1R &5 TR 82-83
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid ~ Employment and 82-83
child and forced labour. Labour Standards
FREUIEIRBA.2 HEAERRABNEERERENARRN SR - (B & 55 T A 82 -83
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when Employment and 82-83

discovered.

Labour Standards

94
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B —-REER

BRENER I 2EREE "

Aspects, General Reference and

Disclosure and KPIs Description Remarks Page

BEBs - ERERE

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

—REE EEHREBNRERLERBRBE HERER 87

General disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply ~ Supply Chain 87
chain. Management

BB UIRIEB5.1 i DR RERHE - HEREE 87

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Supply Chain 87

Management

FR R W IE1RB5.2 HAERERREANED RERTEREMNEERHRE - HEREE 87
URRBTRER A

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of ~ Supply Chain 87
suppliers where the practices are being implemented, and how Management
they are implemented and monitored.

BR AW EIRB5.3 HABRARRERESERLNRERMERROES Uk HEREE 87
HRRTRER %

KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and social ~ Supply Chain 87
risks along the supply chain, and how they are implemented and ~ Management
monitored.

FRE M IE1RB5.4 HARERERERESZARRERLREVE  AREE HEEEE 87
BOTREREN A

KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally Supply Chain 87
preferable products and services when selecting suppliers, and Management

how they are implemented and monitored.
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EBE —-REEK
HRENER i SEREHE Rig
Aspects, General Reference and
Disclosure and KPIs Description Remarks Page
EmEBo : EMEM
Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
—REE BRmREERNBBOREELZE BE RERAREEN EaRRBEE 88
BRI
(a) R ]
) BTHETABEAZENRBEEIAEPNES -
General disclosure lnformatlon on: Product and Service 88
(a) the policies; and Responsibility
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to health and safety,
advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to products
and services provided and methods of redress.
BB B UE1RB6.1 EENCEREREETRZZERFEEMMARNKNEN L - EmRBEL 88
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for  Product and Service 88
safety and health reasons. Responsibility
R B 515 B6.2 REBERERRBRBORFRAUREE L. vl R 89
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received and ~ Complaints and 89
how they are dealt with. Responses
BRENE1RB6.3 s R RE AR ERARAED - HBERE 89
KPI 6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting Intellectual Property 89
intellectual property rights.
BIR B NUEIRB6.4 g 8T B2 REmBYRRR - EmlREEE 88
KPI 6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures. Product and Service 88
Responsibility
BRE IR RB6.5 HEBEERRBRALERE URBBRTRERNE HHER 89
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, and  Intellectual Property 89

how they are implemented and monitored.
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B —-REER
HREANER

Aspects, General
Disclosure and KPIs

;—H— i

Description

SERET
Reference and
Remarks

R

Page

BEB7 : K&

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

—RBE

General disclosure

WA B WIBIERT 1

KPI B7.1

BB IE1EBT.2
KPI B7.2

B W IE1EBT .3
KPI B7.3

[EEBS : HERE

AR LEE BRI
(a) BRI

) BSTEEITABEAY

Informatlon on:
(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering.

REEHREETARBERELCES

B RAFARAER

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices
brought against the issuer or its employees during the reporting
period and the outcomes of the cases.

HAEShaEERERER ARBBERTRERN A
Description of preventive measures and whistleblowing
procedures, and how they are implemented and monitored.

HlMESERE TRENREFE

Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and

staff.

Aspect B8: Community Investment

— R

General disclosure

BASHAMIE1RBS.1
KPI B8.1

FAS A W15 12 B8.2
KPI B8.2

BRNAHE2ERTRE

Z Bt ZEHHR -

EHRBERIROINER -

BNERAXHEDE

Anti-Corruption

BSRARANE RE)S

Anti-Corruption

RE)5
Anti-Corruption

RE)S
Anti-Corruption

HERE

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the  Community Investment

communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its
activities take into consideration the communities” interests.

FIHERRNERE-

Focus areas of contribution.

EIHRERNERMBRER-

Resources contributed to the focus area.

HERE

Community Investment

HERE

Community Investment

90

90

90

90

90
90

90
90

90

90

90
90

90
90

BFERERERAR
20245 %5

8/



38 M B BRI R

Independent Auditor’s Report

HEFEBRERERATRE
(RESHEIME T ERAE])

ER

KMEETHARR

EFEREERAER AT (U THEBEIEAR]
NEWBRAR (LUTHEESEE])7EHNE
1052188 E M A M mE  BiE:

o 2024F12 A3 HHNGZAMBEANEK

. BEZALFEOGRAZENNE:

s EE

s FEMBHmRME BREASHBRE
Ft R E AR S o

EMHER

BMRE ZERAMERRECBER Y
RS ([ERAGTMAREGN (BB
s mEER) ([ERMBEREERNDESR
mPsRET B5£ENR2024F12A311H
NGETBRLREREZBLEFENGA
HHRRANGARENE YEEREE (A
ARG B TRR L AR

98

Annual Report 2024

B R K

To the Shareholders of Wise Ally International Holdings Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Wise Ally International Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are
set out on pages 105 to 188, comprise:

e the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2024;

e the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year
then ended;

e the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then
ended;

e the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended;
and

e the notes to the consolidated financial statements, comprising
material accounting policy information and other explanatory
information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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By

REBFLSAMASRMN (BXGFA
BRTR) (ATEBEIFAL) RMABT
R EKE YEETTAFNEMERER
Bff-

REETER

BRETSESRBERMANERHE RA
BARHGRAMBBRRNETRAEENSER-
EULERRERMBFBREEYBHRERNK
HAEARETREN -RMATEHELS
RRHEBNER -

BFEE PR NBRESFFHRARAF
Bt ABs (RAPEFABRD) ZE/E
ENRFEFE-ABREREFIRERH:

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

The key audit matter identified in our audit is related to fair value
measurement of financial asset at fair value through profit or loss
(“FVTPL”) — investment in convertible bonds:

BFERERERAR
20245 %5
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FEEETTEE (E) KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)
BREtEE RENBHMAEEERETEE

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

BATENAREZ S RAENAPETE— T
BEHFZRE

Fair value measurement of financial asset at FVTPL —
investment in convertible bonds

B2HGREYBHRMT35 4.4 7@Kk15 °
Refer to Notes 3.5, 4.4, 7(a) and 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.

R2024F12A318  ARBERAVEFABREZ S
BB E 48 H /344,459,000 7T - R R RE A
(B /8518 4923,229,000/% 7T °

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had gross
financial asset at fair value through profit or loss of
HK$44,459,000, against which the accumulated fair
value loss of approximately HK$23,229,000 was
recorded.

BEE2024F12A31HIEFE. BEREESEA
FEHIAABGZEREEZATFEEZHRED
19,225,000/ 7T * E T AR E AT A B R @ A&
AEUNERIF=AETHITA]-

During the year ended 31 December 2024,
the Group recorded a gain of approximately
HK$19,225,000 on fair value changes of financial
asset at fair value through profit or loss which was
measured based on significant unobservable inputs
and classified as “Level 3 financial instrument”.

BAFINETH RAREEESRMEENLRF
B(LEEZARTSRE)FSARRGER KA
BERBETEREREE BRRELSEHE-

We focused on this area due to the high degree of
judgement required in determining the fair value
of the financial asset which does not have direct
open market quoted value, with respect to the
adoption of applicable valuation methodology and
the application of appropriate assumptions in the
valuation.

1 OO WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
Annual Report 2024

B RAFEAABSZEREEMPTHEN EFERE:
Our audit procedures performed on financial asset at FVTPL
included:

e BMBEERMGFATHERNRZEEREMEARRREER
IKFRHEE RS RRA A E A R

e We assessed the inherent risk of material misstatement by
considering the degree of estimation uncertainty and the level
of other inherent risk factors;

o HFBBFNE SESREEGBHEVGEMNED HELR
FBIE AFREH A RERESREETHENER 8
AREEME:

e We evaluated the competency, capability and objectivity of
the independent valuer engaged by the Group for performing
the valuation of investment in convertible bonds by assessing
its qualifications, relevant experience and independence with
the Group;

s BMBHERNIEHEEREEIRE LB EERMH AT
RAGEATFEFABSZEZEMEENRFEMBIIER
HERMEES T

e We involved our internal valuation expert to discuss with
management and the independent valuer to evaluate the
appropriateness of methodology and valuation techniques
used in the valuation of fair value of financial asset at FVTPL;

o BFFHEREREF EI2REMBABRNEL ERAABIE
BREREBATHRXEREGRPDBELNAEE: &

*  We assessed the appropriateness and relevance of the key
assumptions and inputs in the valuation model including
discount rate and probability of cash flows happening of each
scenario; and

o HMAIFERANGEEREL N BB B ERE-
e We tested the accuracy of mathematical calculation applied in
the valuation model.

AR EiEF RARREEENETRAFEMARSZZER
BENXTFERAHENGETNERBREREG RIEX R -
Based on the procedures above, we found the valuation
methodology and the assumptions made by management in
determining the fair value of financial asset at FVTPL were
supported by available evidences.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all of the information included in the
annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

BFERERERAR
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

e ldentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

EFEEERARA A
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

e Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion
on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the
direction, supervision and review of the audit work performed for
purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our
audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh
the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Chan Hong Wing.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 26 March 2025

WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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2024 2023
B & THET FAETT
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
Yo g Revenue 5 1,260,799 1,227,190
i & R A Cost of sales 6 (1,012,898)  (1,016,544)
EX Gross profit 247,901 210,646
HuFles, (E518) Other gains/(losses), net 7 23,095 (29,159)
HAB WA Other income 7 612 816
$HE M HR X Selling and distribution expenses 6 (54,285) (53,138)
THRAX Administrative expenses 6 (117,606) (108,467)
S RVEERERB (B1#), (Provision for)/reversal of impairment losses
# [0 on financial assets 3.2(a) (953) 672
g A Operating profit 98,764 21,370
BE WA Finance income 9 4,107 4,073
BEMA Finance costs 9 (19,673) (19,958)
HEVE RN Finance costs, net 9 (15,566) (15,885)
_THRRERZEAEA  Shareof lossofajointventure 19 N I =
R BT 15 i A1 5 F Profit before income tax 83,188 5,485
PSR Income tax expense 10 (10,954) (4,240)
KRB ERFAEARENL Profit for the year attributable to equity
F AR holders of the Company 72,234 1,245
Hitt 2 EEE : Other comprehensive loss:
Hig B 72 Eame  ltem that may be subsequently reclassified to
HE profit or loss
Bk E R Currency translation differences (1,388) (1,987)
_FARMEEERAE  Total other comprehensive loss fortheyear | | NN - . (1,987)
AAFERIEEAEMLER Total comprehensive income/(loss) for
2HEWE S (FR)EE the year attributable to equity holders of
the Company 70,846 (742)
AAEEETE ARG Earnings per share attributable to equity
BRER holders of the Company
ERKEE (GB) Basic and diluted (HK cents) 11 72.2 /2
LR AR EIREREEBEN MG — 5  The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be
= read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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2023
k3 FET
Note HK$'000
g5E ASSETS
FRBEE Non-current assets
e R TN Properties, plant and equipment 12 129,056
BVEE Intangible assets 13 637
B RIERRIE Deposits and prepayments 16 6,827
REELEZKRE Investments in joint ventures 19 -
RATEFABRZ Financial asset at fair value through
TREE profit or loss 15 1,730
REFIBE BE Deferred tax assets 22 4,719
142,969
RBEE Current assets
e Inventories 17 223,828
5 W EIE Trade receivables 20 297,822
BRAFEFAEGEZ Financial asset at fair value through
TREE profit or loss 15 =
BRFE e REAM Prepayments, deposits and other receivables
R R IA 16 26,440
e —fE& &b EHRIA Amount due from a joint venture 31 =
REBMABE=AZ Term deposits with original maturity
E BTF K over three months 18 —
ReLREFEY Cash and cash equivalents 18 274,572
_______________________________________________________________________________________________ 2 g
HEE Total assets 965,631
s EQUITY
AAREREIEE AEMGER  Equity attributable to equity holders of
the Company
(R Share capital 27 20,000
it Reserves 130,293
s Total equity 150,293
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
72024912 A31H As at 31 December 2024

2024 2023
=g FHET FHET
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
aE LIABILITIES
FkRBEG Non-current liabilities
REARB S EE Provision for long service payment 149 25
BEEMIEEE Deferred tax liabilities 22 = 116
BIRK A Provision for reinstatement costs 1,749 -
HEBE Lease liabilities 21 49,099 66,875
50,997 67,016
nEBAE Current liabilities
B RN IA Trade payables 23 285,421 249,755
GHBE EMEMNFKIER  Contract liabilities, other payables
st &R and accruals 24 151,435 167,378
MEAaR Lease liabilities 21 23,994 19,775
HRITE N Bank borrowings 26 188,279 292,603
FET— R BB A B 5KI8 Amount due to a related company 31 171 171
BVERFT B B & Current income tax liabilities 12,063 18,640
________________________________________________________________________________________________ 661,363 748322
RS illites 712,360 815,338
EaRkEERH Total equity and liabilities 933,499 965,631

Pt 4R A B TSR N 2k FE B BE MY 8O Bt 5F —F B8 The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in
B e conjunction with the accompanying notes.

FI1052188AEFTHMG AU B RRNIEES
E@R2025F3 26 B I ERKRREE -

The consolidated financial statements on pages 105 to 188 were
approved by the Board of Directors on 26 March 2025 and were signed
on its behalf.

KE2B1E gtz Chu Wai Hang Raymond Lau Shui Fung
EF EF Director Director

EERRERAR AR
/ Xzozft;i& 1 07
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

#ZE2024%12 A31 B IEF [ For the year ended 31 December 2024

R2024F1 A1 W& 8% Balance at 1 January 2024
2ENE Comprehensive income
FRRE Profit for the year
Hit2EEE Other comprehensive loss

RG] BN HBEEBmmER Item that may be subsequently
reclassified to profit or loss

ERAEER Currency translation differences

2ENEAE Total comprehensive income

HEBREAETHRS Transaction with equity holders

BEEERE (fita) Transfer to statutory reserve
(Note a)

2024512831 A WA £} Balance at 31 December 2024

1 08 WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

EZE2024512 A318 EFZ For the year ended 31 December 2024

AREESERHBAES
Attributable to equity holders of the Company

MRBRAERTAE AELRENDIKA A58
HEBEEMBRERMEBNAEHZEFN (E
HBEFENRGBRR)BRNE TAERB
FHERUE - FTEAE R IR L E B RO ARSL -
B2 B A 93 Ik EL A B T R AR A BT - AR BT
DTS B8 A TE i F10%H) € 78 2 5 T 2 8
1o B RETE BRI R E A H950%8 - A
AAELER - AERRERSERNAHEQR
B EAARSESENARER I AF]
AREBEEFERBR E-—TEHEABREGENE
B 5B

b) EibFEEEASERERBREIAENRARS
SRBIFTREOBELE EZ B EE AP EH
1% MRAS SR B H) A BB & G AR AN iR 38 82 3 4E AT
MR E - THBRERRET ZRBERRE
e

a4 & a5 B B 3% R HE B BT A Y R — B 5O

o
fr
A

o

kA RIVEE  ATEE  HtFERE  EREE  BRRE Y o
Share Share  Statutory Other  Exchange  Retained Total
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve earnings equity
TET TR TET TEL TERL TET TEL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(MzEh)
(Note b)
R2023%1R18 f48h Balance at 1 January 2023 20,000 80,355 7,725 67 (7,083) 54,971 156,035
2EKE Comprehensive income
FRRM Profit for the year - - - - - 1,245 1,245
Hit2EEE Other comprehensive loss
ARG BN EEEn R Item that may be subsequently
reclassified to profit or loss
EHHhEEE Currency translation differences - - - - (1,987) . (1,987)
2EBEEH Total comprehensive loss = = = - (1,987) 1,245 (742)
HRERRAEAETHRS Transactions with equity holders
B8 (KisE25) Dividend (Note 25) - - - - - (5,000) (5,000)
BEATEHE (fa) Transfer to statutory reserve
(Note a) = - 647 - - (647) -
___________________________________________________________ . ° - oo
R20235F12 8318 B4 84 Balance at 31 December 2023 20,000 80,355 8,372 67 (9,070) 50,569 150,293
P2 - Notes:
@@ WEARKEME ([HE])EEZEHRBE FEFT (@ The People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) laws and regulations require

companies registered in the PRC to provide for certain statutory reserves,
which are to be appropriated from the profit after income tax (after offsetting
accumulated losses from prior years) as reported in their respective statutory
financial statements, before profit distributions to equity holders. All statutory
reserves are created for specific purposes. A PRC company is required to
appropriate an amount of not less than 10% of statutory profits after income tax to
statutory surplus reserves, prior to distribution of its post-tax profits of the current
year. A company may discontinue the contribution when the aggregate sum of the
statutory surplus reserve is more than 50% of its registered capital. The statutory
surplus reserves shall only be used to make up losses of the company, to expand
the company’s operations, or to increase the capital of the company. In addition, a
company may make further contribution to the discretional surplus reserve using
its post-tax profits in accordance with resolutions of the board of directors.

Other reserve represents the accumulated actuarial gains on the Group’s long
service payment scheme for its Hong Kong employees and the excess of the
combined share capital of the companies comprising the Group, after considering
the intra-group elimination, over the consideration given in relation to the
reorganisation.

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in
conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

B Z2024512 A318 [EFZ For the year ended 31 December 2024

2023
liks3 FET
Note HK$'000
RETHEEMNRERE  Cash flows from operating activities
KEEEMNRS Cash generated from operations 28(a) 90,067
(B /BREMER Income tax (paid)/refunded 1,733
KRETHELENFRD Net cash generated from operating activities 91,800
RETHEEMNRERE  Cash flows from investing activities
BEWE BFENERE Purchase of properties, plant and equipment (13,391)
HEME  ME MEREDH Proceeds from disposal of properties, plant
FRiS3RIR and equipment 28(b) 1,539
BEEFEE Purchase of intangible assets (442)
B U F B Interest received 4,073
FE—HAEERE Capital injection of a joint venture 19 -
REH—HAAEMREFEITZ  Subscription of convertible bonds issued
AR &S by a joint venture (22,000)
REUREIEIE A=1EALA £ Withdrawal of terms deposits with
B 313 3K original maturity over three months 32,370
FARZIEIEA=1EALA £ Placement of terms deposits with original
EohRENES maturity over three months =
®EES (FTA) EEH®  Net cash (used in)/generated from investing
FE e activities 2,149
BMETHELENESRE  Cash flows from financing activities
RITERPT1SFIA Proceeds from bank borrowings 28(c 910,269
BERBITER Repayments of bank borrowings 28(c (892,480)
SAEEABENAEIS  Payment of principal element of lease
liabilities 28(c) (22,247)
ERRE Dividend paid 25 (5,000)
B FE Interest paid (19,958)
MEETHMAEFRS Net cash used in financing activities (29,416)
ReREASEEYW Od2), Net (decrease)/increase in cash
BmFEE and cash equivalents 64,533
FNRELRSEED Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of
the year 209,823
EHBEEE Currency translation differences 216
FRASLREFEY Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 18 274,572
ReRASEEYHERIM  Analysis of balance of cash
and cash equivalents
R MRITHEER Cash and bank balances 224,827
REEA R =1EA % Term deposits with original maturity of
AT B9 E BT R three months or less when acquired 49,745
274,572

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in

bR & 3R 2 B K R SRR P B0 MY 5 — 65D

conjunction with the accompanying notes.

WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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i &4th Floor, Harbour Place, 103 South
Church Street, P.O.Box 10240, Grand
Cayman KY1-1002, Cayman Islands °
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Al([AEE)E2REETEMNRE
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ERGBR AR ER M-
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(T8 REMZT-

mEBEEREREFTHER

RBEREMBEBRRAEANEIEGFTR
RER T X -BRRBHAI ZFERR
FrEJIMEFEERER-

2.1 RBE %

AEBEGEVBHRRIBETEE
fog ((BEEAAE])HEM
FMEEBREAVHRELEL ([FR
MBHREER]) RBBEDF622F
RENMERPIR B TR EHE - a7 B I 55
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Bi ) 2eBMEEFLER Mm%
TREERAFEAK.

AN BBV RELENNGEE
BHAFT2EME TRRSHEE
MERARBEERNERAREES
TR B 1 L A B - 08 R = AR K
AN - BRI AFTE RS T
WA= BEEN T ERHE4RE -

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 15
January 2019 as an exempted company with limited liability under
the Companies Law (Cap. 22, Law 3 of 1961 as consolidated and
revised) of the Cayman Islands. The address of its registered office is
4th Floor, Harbour Place, 103 South Church Street, P.O. Box 10240,
Grand Cayman KY1-1002, Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) are principally engaged in the manufacturing and
sales of electronic products. The ultimate controlling shareholders
are Mr. Chu Wai Hang Raymond (“Mr. Raymond Chu”) and Mr.
Chu Wai Cheong Wilson (“Mr. Wilson Chu”) (collectively, the
“Controlling Shareholders”).

The shares of the Company have been listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited since 10 January 2020.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in thousands of
Hong Kong Dollar (“HK$'000”), unless otherwise stated.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been
prepared in accordance with all the applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance Cap. 622. The consolidated financial statements have
been prepared under the historical cost convention as modified
by the revaluation of financial asset at fair value through profit
or loss (“FVTPL”), which is carried at fair value.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires the directors of the
Company to exercise their judgement in the process of applying
the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher
degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements, are disclosed in Note 4.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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21 mREE (&)
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@ FEEERANKEBITEIRE

CEIES

AEB D 202451 A1THFBAH
FEREHME NEAT &S
FER| R R R R

EBGERSEH (B5TA)
HKAS 1 (Amendments)

B GEEAEIT (BETAX)
HKAS 1 (Amendments)

BBV BmE
)
HKFRS 16 (Amendments)

EBIFE 165 (15T

BERBEST (KEFT)

Hong Kong Interpretation 5
(Revised)

BRI ERE7TRRE BTG
MEERE7HR (BFTAR)

HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7
(Amendments)

PREET AN RGBT REY
BERRERN SR EEFNE
REE BEHTSHERS R
REEELBEATE -

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(@)

WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
Annual Report 2024

Amended standards and revised interpretation adopted by
the Group

The Group has applied the following amended standards
and revised interpretation for the first time for its annual
reporting period commencing 1 January 2024:

BEMNRBIEREE D

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

ARG Z RSB AR

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
ERMERXSGCHERE
Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

MBBRER 22 -BHRAHEERERERGINERE
Rz

Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification by
the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment
on Demand Clause

HERRE L

Supplier Finance Arrangements

The amended standards and revised interpretation listed
above did not have any material impact on the amounts
recognised in prior periods and are not expected to
significantly affect the current or future periods.
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2 RBEEEREARSSTHE () 2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

21 RBEE (&) 2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)
(b) 78 A A% 2 55 B £R 4 O 37 /T R R 4E (b) New and amended standards and interpretation not yet
AIEAIRRR adopted by the Group

THFE] RS R 2R R 2 R
2024F 1 A1 H R 2 A% B i K
HEEBEMAEMARENRE W EE
REBIREREM:

EECHEREN R R B BN RE
ZRIE15 (IBETA)

HKAS 21 and HKFRS 1 (Amendments)

BEAMBHEENBIRREBN B RE
ERIE75 (BETA)

HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7(Amendments)

BRMBHREENE R BB BREER
F7%  BEMBRE LN B  FAME
ERABI0FREEGHERE7H
HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 7

BB RS AR 281858
HKFRS 18

BRMBHREERE195
HKFRS 19

BEREEN (BFIA)

Hong Kong Interpretation 5
(Amendments)

BRI EEREI0R KB B GET
ERIZE285% (1BFTA)

HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28
(Amendments)

AREERIEFHEZFHA LEE
HEIVES I L 30k -2
& rEwRNREFes AT
Y AN R B MBI S R
RIERBAT &

Rz A

ETEMTANDBRE

Amendments to the Classification and

Annual Improvements to HKFRS

HBBRRZZFIREE

Subsidiaries without Public Accountability:

BBEHRE 2 - ERAH RS RRER

The following new and amended standards and
interpretation have been issued but are not effective for the
Group’s financial periods beginning 1 January 2024 and
have not been early adopted by the Group:

RUTBHHz2#%
Bz e AR
Effective for
accounting period
beginning on or after

20251 A1H

Lack of Exchangeability 1 January 2025

202651 H1H

1 January 2026
Measurement of Financial Instruments

BEATKREEN ST ENNFE
WE-FE11E

20261 A1H

1 January 2026
Accounting Standards — Volume 11

2027F1A1H
Presentation and Disclosure in Financial 1 January 2027

Statements

FORZEREME R RN NE 20275 1A1R
1 January 2027

Disclosures

2027F1H1H
ERERNOTHERDE

Presentation of Financial Statements —
Classification by the Borrower of a Term
Loan that Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause

1 January 2027

REFHEEBENT NGB DE R FETE
MEELEHZEA
Sale or Contribution of Assets Between an To be determined

Investor
and its Associate or Joint Venture

The Group is in the process of making an assessment
of the impact of these new and amended standards and
interpretation upon initial application and has concluded
on a preliminary basis that these are not expected to have
a significant impact on the Group’s financial position and
results of operations.

EFEEERARA A
- X2024%*&& 1 1 3
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Material accounting policies

221 Subsidiaries

(a)

Consolidation

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has
control. The Group controls an entity when the Group
is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from
its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on
which control is transferred to the Group. They are
deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

(i)  Business combination

Except for the reorganisation upon listing, the
Group applies the acquisition method to account
for business combinations. The consideration
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the
fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities
incurred and the equity interests issued by the
Group. The consideration transferred includes the
fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement. Identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination
are measured initially at their fair values at the
acquisition date. The Group recognises any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree on an
acquisition-by-acquisition basis, either at fair value
or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate
share of the recognised amounts of acquiree’s
identifiable net assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL

2.2 Material accounting policies (continued)

221 Subsidiaries (continued)

(a)

Consolidation (continued)

(i) Business combination (continued)

If the business combination is achieved in stages,
the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is re-
measured to fair value at the acquisition date; any
gains or losses arising from such re-measurement
are recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred
by the Group is recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair
value of the contingent consideration that is
deemed to be an asset or liability are recognised
in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured, and its
subsequent settlement is accounted for within

equity.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the
amounts of any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any
previous equity interest in the acquiree over the
fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is
recorded as goodwill. If the total of consideration
transferred, non-controlling interest recognised
and previously held interest measured is less than
the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary
acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the
difference is recognised directly in the profit or
loss.

BFERERERAR
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Material accounting policies (continued)

221 Subsidiaries (continued)

(b)

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for by the
Company at cost less impairment. Cost includes
direct attributable costs of investment. The results of
subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the
basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving dividend from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of
the investment in the separate financial statements
exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets
including goodwill.

222 Foreign currency translation

(a)

WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
Annual Report 2024

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in HK$, which is
the Company’s functional and the Group’s presentation
currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transaction. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of
such transactions and from the translation at year-
end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are generally
recognised in profit or loss.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Material accounting policies (continued)

222 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(b) Transactions and balances (continued)

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to
borrowings are presented in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, within finance costs. All
other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
on a net basis within “Other gains/(losses), net”.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in
a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the date when the fair value was determined.
Translation differences on assets and liabilities carried
at fair value are reported as part of the fair value gain
or loss. For example, translation differences on non-
monetary assets and liabilities such as equities held
at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in
profit or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss and
translation differences on non-monetary assets such as
equities held at fair value through other comprehensive
income are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Group companies

The results and financial positions of all the group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency are
translated into the presentation currency as follows:

e assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing
rate at the date of that consolidated statement of
financial positions;

e income and expenses for each income statement
and statement of comprehensive income are
translated at average exchange rates (unless this
average is not a reasonable approximation of
the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on
the transaction dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the rate on the dates of
the transactions); and
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Material accounting policies (continued)

222 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(c)

Group companies (continued)

¢ all resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of any net investment in foreign
operations are taken to other comprehensive income.
When a foreign operation is sold or any borrowings
forming part of the net investment are repaid, the
associated exchange differences are reclassified to
profit or loss, as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the
closing rate.

223 Financial assets

(a)

WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
Annual Report 2024

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
measurement categories:

e those to be measured subsequently at fair value
either through other comprehensive income or
profit or loss, and

e those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business
model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses
will either be recorded in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income. For investments in equity
instruments that are not held for trading, this will
depend on whether the group has made an irrevocable
election at the time of initial recognition to account
for the equity investment at fair value through other
comprehensive income (FVOCI).
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Material accounting policies (continued)

223 Financial assets (continued)

(a)

Classification (continued)

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only
when its business model for managing those assets
changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to
receive cash flows from the investments have expired
or have been transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all risks and reward of ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of
the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets
carried at fair value through profit or loss are expensed
in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirety when determining whether
their cash flows are solely payment of principal and
interest.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Material accounting policies (continued)

223 Financial assets (continued)

(c)

Measurement (continued)

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends
on the Group’s business model for managing the asset
and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. The

Group classifies its debt instruments to be measured at
amortised costs and FVTPL.

(i)  Amortised cost

(i1)

Assets that are held for collection of contractual
cash flows where those cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest are measured at
amortised cost. A gain or loss on a debt investment
that is subsequently measured at amortised
cost and is not part of a hedging relationship
is recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised or impaired. Interest income from
these financial assets is included in finance income
using the effective interest rate method.

FVTPL

Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised
cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income are measured at FVTPL. A gain or loss on
a debt investment that is subsequently measured at
FVTPL is recognised in profit or loss and presented
net within other losses in the period in which it
arises.

224 Impairment of financial assets

The Group’s financial assets measured at amortised cost are
subject to HKFRS 9's expected credit loss model. The Group
assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit

losses associated with its assets carried at amortised cost.

The impairment methodology applied depends on whether

there has been a significant increase in credit risk.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Material accounting policies (continued)

124

225

226

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

For trade receivables from third parties and related parties,
the Group applies the simplified approach permitted by
HKFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime losses to be
recognised from initial recognition of the trade receivables
from third parties and related parties. The Group has
assessed the expected credit loss by considering historical
default rates, existing market conditions and forward-
looking information.

For other receivables, the Group measures the impairment
as either twelve months expected credit losses or life-
time expected credit losses, depending on whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. If a significant increase in credit risk of the
other receivables has occurred since initial recognition,
then impairment is measured as lifetime expected credit
losses.

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
goods sold or services performed in the ordinary course
of business. If collection of trade receivables is expected
in one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the
business if longer), they are classified as current assets. If
not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method, less allowance for impairment.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the weighted-average
method. The cost of finished goods and work in progress
comprises raw material, direct labour, other direct costs and
related production overheads (based on normal operating
capacity). Net realisable value is the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs
of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Material accounting policies (continued)

227 Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax
payable on the current period’s taxable income based on
the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted

by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable

to temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

(a)

WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
Annual Report 2024

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the
basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted
at the end of the reporting period in the countries
where the Company’s subsidiaries operate and
generate taxable income. Management periodically
evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect
to situations in which applicable tax regulation is
subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be
paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of
goodwill. Deferred income tax is also not accounted
for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset
or liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction affects
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred
income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period and are expected to apply when
the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable
that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise
those temporary differences and losses.
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2.2 Material accounting policies (continued)

227 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

(b) EIEFTEF (&) (b) Deferred income tax (continued)
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
and liabilities and when the deferred tax balances
relate to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets
and tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a
legally enforceable right to offset and intends either to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle
the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred income tax is recognised in profit
or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.

228 Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable, and represents amounts for the sale
of goods in the ordinary course of the Group’s activity.
Revenue is shown net of returns and after eliminating sales
within the Group.

The Group does not expect to have any contracts where the

period between the transfer of the promised goods to the
customers and the payment by the customers exceeds one
year. As a consequence, the Group does not adjust any of
the transaction prices for the time value of money.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Material accounting policies (continued)

228 Revenue recognition (continued)

When either party to a contract has performed, the Group
presents the contract in the consolidated statement of
financial position as a contract asset or a contract liability,
depending on the relationship between the Group’s
performance and the customer’s payment. A contract asset
is the Group’s right to consideration in exchange for goods
that the Group has transferred to a customer. Incremental
costs incurred to obtain a contract, if recoverable, are
capitalised and presented as assets and subsequently
amortised when the related revenue is recognised.

If a customer pays consideration or the Group has a right
to an amount of consideration that is unconditional, before
the Group transfers the promised goods to the customer, the
Group presents the contract as a contract liability when the
payment is received or a receivable is recorded (whichever
is earlier). A contract liability is the Group’s obligation
to transfer the promised goods to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A receivable is recorded when the Group has an
unconditional right to consideration. A right to
consideration is unconditional if only the passage of time is
required before payment of that consideration is due.

Revenue is recognised when specific criteria have been met
for the Group’s activity as described below:

Sales of goods

Sales of goods transferred at a point in time are recognised
when control of the goods has transferred, being when the
Group has delivered the products to the customers and the
customers have accepted the products, the customers have
full discretion over the products, and there is no unfulfilled
obligation that could affect the customers’ acceptance of
the products.
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2.2 Material accounting policies (continued)
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The Group leases various properties and plant and
machinery. Rental contracts are typically made for fixed
periods of three months to five years. Lease terms are
negotiated on an individual basis and contain various terms
and conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any
covenants, but leased assets may not be used as security for
borrowing purposes.

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets (included in
properties, plant and equipment) and the corresponding
liabilities at the date of which the respective leased asset
is available for use by the Group. Each lease payment is
allocated between the liability and finance cost. The finance
cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so
as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the liability for each period.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include
the net present value of the following lease payments:

e fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments),
less any lease incentives receivable;

e variable lease payment that are based on an index or a
rate;

e amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under
residual value guarantees;

e the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is
reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

e payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the lessee exercising that option.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease, if that rate can be determined, or the
entity’s incremental borrowing rate.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Material accounting policies (continued)

229 Leases (continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at costs comprising the
following:

e the amount of the initial measurement of lease
liabilities;

e any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received;

e any initial direct costs; and
e restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on
a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain
to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is
depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life. The
useful life used for the assets” depreciation purpose is:

Properties Over the lease term

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as
an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases for
properties, plant and machinery with a lease term of less
than 12 months. Low-value assets comprise machinery with
value below HK$5,000.

2.3 Summary of other accounting policies

This note provides a list of other potentially material accounting
policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated
financial statements. These policies have been consistently
applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Summary of other accounting policies (continued)

231 Joint arrangements

Investments in joint arrangements are classified as either
joint operations or joint ventures. The classification depends
on the contractual rights and obligations of each investor,

rather than the legal structure of the joint arrangement.

Interests in joint ventures are accounted for using the
equity method, after initially being recognised at cost in
consolidated statement of financial position.

()

Equity accounting

Under the equity method of accounting, the
investments are initially recognised at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of
the post-acquisition profits or losses of the investee
in profit or loss, and the Group’s share of movements
in other comprehensive income of the investee in
other comprehensive income. Dividends received
or receivable from joint venture are recognised as a
reduction in the carrying amount of the investment.

When the Group’s share of losses in an equity-
accounted investment equals or exceeds its interest
in the entity, including any other unsecured long-
term receivables, the Group does not recognise further
losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made
payments on behalf of the other entity.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group
and joint venture are eliminated to the extent of the
Group's interest in this entity. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence
of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting
policies of equity accounted investees have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with
the policies adopted by the Group.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments
is tested for impairment in accordance with the policy
described in Note 2.3.5.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Summary of other accounting policies (continued)

231 Joint arrangements (continued)
(@) Equity accounting (continued)

When the Group ceases to equity account for an
investment because of a loss of joint control or
significant influence, any retained interest in the
entity is remeasured to its fair value with the change
in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. This
fair value becomes the initial carrying amount for
the purposes of subsequently accounting for the
retained interest as an associate or financial asset. In
addition, any amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in respect of that entity are
accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed
of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income are reclassified to profit or loss or transferred
to another category of equity as specified/permitted by
applicable HKFRSs.

If the ownership interest in a joint venture or an
associate is reduced but joint control or significant
influence is retained, only a proportionate share of the
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income are reclassified to profit or loss where
appropriate.

232 Segment reporting

Operating segment is reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker (“CODM”). The CODM, who is responsible
for allocating resources and assessing performance of
the operating segment, has been identified as the Chief
Executive Officer (the “CEO”) who makes strategic
decisions.
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2.3 Summary of other accounting policies (continued)

233 Properties, plant and equipment
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Properties, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost
less accumulated depreciation. Historical cost includes
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of
the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the assets’ carrying
amounts or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the asset will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other
repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during
the reporting period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of properties, plant and equipment is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their
costs, net of their residual value, over their estimated useful
lives, as follows:

Furniture and fixtures 5 years
Office equipment 3 to 5 years
Plant and machineries 3 to 10 years
Motor vehicles 3 to 5 years

Right-of-use assets Over the lease term
Leasehold improvements ~ Over the shorter of lease term

and useful life of 5 years

The assets” residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gain or loss on disposals are determined by comparing
proceeds with carrying amount and are recognised in profit
or loss.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Summary of other accounting policies (continued)

234

235

236

WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
Annual Report 2024

Intangible assets
System software

Acquired system software licences are capitalised on the
basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the
specific software. These costs are amortised using straight-
line method over the shorter of licence period and their
estimated useful lives of three years.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets are tested for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised
for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount
is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment,
assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there
are separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or group
of assets (cash generating units). Non-financial assets other
than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed
for possible reversal of the impairment at the end of each
reporting period.

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amounts reported in the consolidated statement of financial
position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle
on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Summary of other accounting policies (continued)

237

238

239

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date
a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured at their fair values. Changes in the fair value
of derivative instruments that do not qualify for hedge
accounting are recognised immediately in the profit or loss.

Derivative financial assets are classified as current assets
if they are expected to be realised within 12 months after
the balance sheet date. Derivative financial liabilities are
classified as current liabilities if they are due to be settled
within 12 months after the balance sheet date.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated
statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include
cash at banks and cash on hand.

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new

shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of
tax, from the proceeds.

23.10 Trade, bills and other payables

Trade and bills payables are obligations to pay for goods
or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course
of business from suppliers. Trade and bills payables are
classified as current liabilities if payment is due within
one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the
business if longer). If not, they are presented as non-current
liabilities.

Trade, bills and other payables are recognised initially at
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Summary of other accounting policies (continued)

23.11 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
carried at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognised in interest expense over the period of
the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least twelve months after the end of the
reporting period.

23.12 Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

2.3.13 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events;
it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation; and the amounts can be reliably
estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future operating
losses.
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Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement
is determined by considering the class of obligations as a
whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of
an outflow with respect to any one item included in the
same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation
using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of
time is recognised as interest expense.

23.14 Employee benefits

(@) Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-
monetary benefits that are expected to be settled
wholly within twelve months after the end of the period
in which the employees render the related service are
recognised in respect of employees” services up to the
end of the reporting period and are measured at the
amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are
settled. The liabilities are presented as current employee
benefit obligations in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

(b) Other long-term employee benefit obligations

The obligations are presented as current liabilities in
the consolidated statement of financial position if the
entity does not have an unconditional right to defer
settlement for at least twelve months after the reporting
period, regardless of when the actual settlement is
expected to occur.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Summary of other accounting policies (continued)

2314 Employee benefits (continued)

()

WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
Annual Report 2024

Defined contribution plans

The Group pays contributions to state-managed
pension insurance plans on a mandatory, contractual
or voluntary basis. The Group has no further payment
obligations once the contributions have been paid.
The contributions are recognised as employee benefit
expense when they are due. Prepaid contributions are
recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund
or a reduction in the future payments is available.

Bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an expense
for bonuses based on a formula that takes into
consideration the profit attributable to the Company’s
shareholders after certain adjustments. The Group
recognises a provision where contractually obliged
or where there is a past practice that has created a
constructive obligation.

Long service payments

The Group’s net post-employment benefit obligation
in respect of long service payments to its employees
in Hong Kong upon cessation of their employment
in certain circumstances under the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance is the amount of future benefits
that the employees have earned in return for their
services in the current and prior periods.

The obligation is calculated using the projected unit
credit cost method, discounted to its present value and
reduced by entitlements accrued under the Group’s
retirement schemes that are attributed to contributions
made by the Group. The discount rate is the yield at
each balance sheet date of Hong Kong Government’s
Exchange Fund Notes which have terms to maturity
approximating the terms of the related liability. The
expected costs of these benefits are accrued over the
period of employment using the same accounting
methodology as used for defined benefit plans.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Summary of other accounting policies (continued)

23.14 Employee benefits (continued)

(e) Long service payments (continued)

The current service cost of the long service payment
scheme, recognised in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income reflects the increase in
the long service payment’s obligation as a result of
employee service in the current year, benefit changes,
curtailments and settlements. Past-service costs are
recognised immediately in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income. The interest cost is
calculated by applying the discount rate to the balance
of the long service payment’s obligation. Actuarial
gains and losses arising from experience adjustment
and changes in actuarial assumptions are charged or
credited to equity in other comprehensive income in
the period in which they arise.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is
terminated by the Group before the normal retirement
date, or whenever an employee accepts voluntary
redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The Group
recognises termination benefits when it is demonstrably
committed to either: terminating the employment of
current employees according to a detailed formal
plan without possibility of withdrawal; or providing
termination benefits as a result of an offer made to
encourage voluntary redundancy. Benefits falling due
more than 12 months after the end of the reporting
period are discounted to present value.

2315 Interest income

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis
using the effective interest method.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Summary of other accounting policies (continued)

2316 Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises
from past events and whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one
or more uncertain future events not wholly within the
control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation
arising from past events that is not recognised because it
is not probable that outflow of economic resources will be
required or the amounts of obligation cannot be measured
reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed in
the financial statements. When a change in the probability
of an outflow occurs so that outflow is probable, it will then
be recognised as a provision.

2317 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the shareholders is recognised as a
liability in the years in which the dividend is approved by
the Company’s shareholders or directors, where appropriate.

23.18 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and the Group will comply with all
attached conditions.

Government grants relating to expenses are deferred and
recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income over the period necessary to match them with the
expenses that they are intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to the purchase of properties,
plant and equipment are included in non-current liabilities
as deferred income and are credited to profit or loss on
a straight-line basis over the expected lives of the related
assets.

Government grants that become receivable as compensation
for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose
of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they become receivable.



RE MR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Bt 7 [ B ' B

AEBEBAR ZRUBEER ™5 R

(BFEIMERR EMNEXER) EERR
EREETRR- NEENBERREE

S EIE SR S RS 0T A A
BRBEAIEY AR BN HERRE
THEE-

3.1 B E M

311 SME R B 311
REBRES KB A S
Efmﬁ = R\ B E A Y SINE R

g FE2HEBET([ER])EA
E%(ME%J) SN R BR A
B EEETENRREBER
S EBREERBENALREIN
EBHFIRE -

AEEBE T BBTHRTAEEN
JF SN [ B DA B 18 L AN L B
sk & 5T INE S 4 LA E B INE
[B B o PA20244F }2023512 A31
H AEBEWESKFESHNRBE
HINEE S H 0

20244 202312 A318 - 4
FE LR B LA, B2 {E0.5%M BT
EHEMBEREFTE %iﬁ*‘rﬁ%
FT 15 4 A1 i 7 #& 5 By 2 2

TR Lx%mnﬂﬁmfﬁéﬁ

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
market risk (including foreign exchange risk and interest rate risk),
credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and
seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial
performance.

3.1 Market risk

Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates in Hong Kong and the Chinese
Mainland and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising
from various currency exposures, primarily with respect to
the United States dollar (“USD”) and Renminbi (“RMB”).
Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial
transactions, recognised assets and liabilities and net
investments in foreign operations, which are denominated
in these currencies.

The Group also manages its foreign exchange risk by
performing regular reviews of the Group’s net foreign
exchange exposures and may enter into foreign exchange
contracts to manage foreign exchange risks. As at 31
December 2024 and 2023, the Group had no outstanding
forward foreign currency contracts.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, if USD had
strengthened/weakened by 0.5% against HK$, with all
other variables held constant, profit before income tax for
each year would have changed mainly as a result of foreign
exchange gains/losses on translation of USD denominated

NEEBEYW B S EWFE cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables and trade and
5 JE A 2 R A A Em% other payables.
P 718 o
2024 2023
FET FHT
HK$’000 HK$'000
ExX/ BT USD/HK$
BRET S BRI A A0 i) Profit before income tax increase/(decrease)
—F+{H0.5% — Strengthened by 0.5% 1,395 1,618
—H2180.5% — Weakened by 0.5% (1,395) (1,618)
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Market risk (continued)

312 Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because
of changes in market interest rates. The Group’s interest
rate risk is mainly attributable to its cash at banks and
bank borrowings with floating interest rates. Details of the
Group’s cash at banks and bank borrowings have been
disclosed in Notes 18 and 26 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, if interest rates on
cash at banks and bank borrowings had been 50 basis
points higher/lower with all variables held constant,
profit before income tax for the year ended would have
been approximately HK$478,000 higher/lower (2023:
HK$90,000 lower/higher), mainly as a result of higher/lower
interest income on the cash at banks netted with interest
expenses on the bank borrowings (2023: interest expenses
on the bank borrowings netted with interest income on the
cash at banks).

3.2 Credit risk

The credit risk of the Group mainly arises from cash at banks,
trade and other receivables and financial asset at FVTPL. The
carrying amounts of each financial asset represent the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to financial assets.

Risk management

The Group has policies in place to ensure that credit terms are
made to customers with an appropriate credit history and the
Group performs periodic credit evaluations of its customers.

The Group’s cash at banks were deposited with high quality
financial institutions. Therefore, the Group does not expect any
losses arising from non-performance by these counterparties.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, 61% (2023: 49%) of
the Group’s revenue was derived from its top five customers.
As at 31 December 2024, 55% (2023: 51%) of the total trade
receivables were due from the Group’s top five customers.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.2 Credit risk (continued)

Risk management (continued)

(@) Impairment of financial assets

The Group has two types of financial assets that are subject
to the expected credit loss models:

e trade receivables from third parties

e other financial assets carried at amortised cost

Trade receivables

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to
measure expected credit losses which uses a lifetime
expected loss allowance for all trade receivables.

To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables
have been grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics and the days past due. Future cash flows
for each group of receivables are estimated on the basis
of historical default rates, adjusted to reflect the effects
of existing market conditions as well as forward looking
information on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability
of the customers to settle the receivables.

Measurement of expected credit loss on individual basis

Trade receivables with dispute or known insolvencies
are assessed individually for impairment allowances and
are write-off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovery. Indicators of insolvencies include, amongst others,
the failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with
the Group and a failure to make contractual payments.

Measurement of expected credit loss on collective basis

Remaining trade receivables without known insolvencies
are collectively assessed for likelihood of recovery, taking
into account the nature of the customer and its ageing
category, and applying the expected credit loss rates to the
respective gross carrying amounts of the receivables.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.2 Credit risk (continued)

Risk management (continued)

(@) Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Measurement of expected credit loss on collective basis
(continued)

The expected credit loss rates are estimated on the basis
of historical credit losses experienced, adjusted to reflect
the effects of existing market conditions as well as forward
looking information on macroeconomic factors affecting the
ability of the customers to settle the receivable.

Impairment losses on trade receivables are presented as
net impairment losses within operating profit. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously write-off are credited in
profit of loss.

Other financial assets carried at amortised cost

The Group’s other financial assets carried at amortised cost
include other receivables in the consolidated statement of
financial position. The impairment loss of other financial
assets carried at amortised cost is measured based on the
twelve months expected credit loss. The twelve months
expected credit loss is the portion of lifetime expected
credit loss that results from default events on a financial
instrument that are possible within twelve months after the
reporting date. However, when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since origination, the allowance will
be based on the lifetime expected credit loss.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, management
considered the credit risk of other receivables to be low
as counterparties have a strong capacity to meet their
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term. The
Group has assessed that the expected credit losses for
the other receivables were immaterial under 12 months
expected loss method. Therefore, the loss allowance
provision for these balances was close to zero and no
provision was recognised.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.2 Credit risk (continued)

Risk management (continued)

(@) Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Financial asset at FVTPL
For convertible bonds that are measured at fair value
through profit or loss, credit risk has been considered in
the fair value measurement of the investment in convertible

bonds.

The loss allowance for trade receivables as at 31 December
2024 and 2023 reconciles to the opening loss allowance as

HHEEREAT follows:
B2 EWFIE
Trade receivables
FHET
HK$'000
7202341 A1H &8 Balance as at 1 January 2023 8,383
BERFHRD Reversal of provision for impairment (672)
oL 1B B {5 T 8H Write-off of provision for impairment (1,305)
72023512 A31 B & 6% Balance as at 31 December 2023 6,406
202451 A1 B & &R Balance as at 1 January 2024 6,406
BB Provision for impairment 953
MR2024%12 A31 B &% Balance as at 31 December 2024 7,359

BFERERERAR
g Xzozjtgiﬁz 141
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.2 Credit risk (continued)

Risk management (continued)

(@) Impairment of financial assets (continued)

HRFEFAERZZ LB EE Financial asset at FVTPL (continued)

(%)

J ok B 20244 2023412 A On such basis, the loss allowance as at 31 December 2024
JEMB S ERNTIEEEREE and 2023 was determined as follows for trade receivables:
EMR:

72024%12A31H

BHEE
EHEREX
REEE
EERE

BRI EE
EHEREX
fREaE
R E

A =

Ao A

BHEEEX
REAE
ERAE

As at 31 December 2024

On collective basis
Expected loss rate

Gross carrying amount
Loss allowance provision

On individual basis
Expected loss rate

Gross carrying amount
Loss allowance provision

Total
Expected loss rate
Gross carrying amount

Loss allowance provision

WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

Annual Report 2024
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.2 Credit risk (continued)

Risk management (continued)

(@) Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Financial asset at FVTPL (continued)

(%)
B 8 B
90HLAA  91E365H U E w5t
Up to 90 91 to 365 Over
days days 1 year
past due past due past due Total
FHET FHT TET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R2023%12A31R As at 31 December 2023
HHRFEE On collective basis
HEBEE Expected loss rate 0.2% 2.0% = 0.3%
RHAE Gross carrying amount 285,742 12,875 - 298,617
BEERA Loss allowance provision 543 252 - 795
ZIEFIEE On individual basis
RHERX Expected loss rate - - 100.0% 100.0%
RmeE Gross carrying amount - - 5,611 5,611
R Loss allowance provision = = 5,611 5,611
#5 Total
HHEEX Expected loss rate 0.2% 2.0% 100.0% 2.5%
REEE Gross carrying amount 285,742 12,875 5,611 304,228
R Loss allowance provision 543 252 5,611 6,406
BFBRERBR AR
202473 143
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3 BHERER(H)
33RBETER

AEBENHRREMERAR MIAM
MRBESHE R UERERFEHD
BeRBARNEHERIRDES

Bk

R2024F12A31H  AEEFEEMNER
& RIF e EEBWE A235,333,00008
7 (20234 : 274,572,000/ 7T ) » T8 Hf
AEABRSARANEERESR

B2 o

AEEBBZRIRERRBES
BREAFEREHNEREE BURK
ERAKRERR/EENETEE M
AEEGEHEAEZRBRETIEER
EHRERSRYRE -AKEEHEE
BRI MIRITAR  C &G A
EEELTEERREFESNEL
M AEARENA R RAEERLE
75 o

M2024%F12/831H A& ERIZR
B 48 5R 1T B & #9 /4282,730,00078 7T
(20234 :101,232,000/7T) °

TRIAKEFTEESREER
BEHRORBRANINEA - ZETH
AFHRRERERANEBARERLXL
Ne&FHYEE:

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.3 Liquidity risk

The Group's policy is to regularly monitor current and expected
liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the shorter
and longer term.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group held cash and cash
equivalents of approximately HK$235,333,000 (2023:
HK$274,572,000), that are expected to be readily available to
generate cash inflows for managing liquidity risk.

The Group maintains liquidity by a number of sources including
orderly realisation of short-term financial assets, receivables and
certain assets that the Group considers appropriate. Long term
financing including long-term borrowings are also considered
by the Group in its capital structuring. The Group aims to
maintain flexibility in funding by keeping sufficient bank
balances, committed credit lines available and interest bearing
borrowings which enable the Group to continue its business for
the foreseeable future.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s total undrawn bank
facilities amounted to approximately HK$282,730,000 (2023:
HK$101,232,000).

The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities
at the end of the reporting period of the Group’s non-
derivative financial liabilities, which is based on the contractual
undiscounted cash flows and the earliest date in which the
Group can be required to pay:

R2024512A318 At 31 December 2024

B HEMNTR Trade payables
HitEITFIEREER  Other payables and accruals
HEBE Lease liabilities

BREKAER Provision for reinstatement costs
RITRER Bank borrowings

N —RRABARRE

Amount due to a related company

1 44 WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
Annual Report 2024
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3.3 Liquidity risk (continued)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

ARARTRRE R
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
ARBXEER —&R —ERF st
Repayable Less than Between
on demand Tyear  1and5 years Total
THET THT THET THET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R2023512A31R At 31 December 2023
g P ENHE Trade payables - 249,755 - 249,755
HiENFIERESER  Other payables and accruals - 132,819 - 132,819
HERE Lease liabilities - 23,644 72,217 95,861
RITIER Bank borrowings 293,955 - - 293,955
BN —EEM AR IR Amount due to a related company - 171 = 171
293,955 406,389 72,217 772,561

34EXEHE

AEEEREANERRRELRE
B EKR LML ARRRERKE
¥ FIRSREE M F R AR E RO F s -
I 4 5 B RV B A A1 DAURE B K
o

REFLAFARENGRE AKEXE
FHEERRIRA RS 28 MR
REIEARY N EEENRBIRER -

AEBIZRBREEHRE N REE
B 4a B (FENERTT1E FR o & AN A
A MRS AR R R AT R R 48R 25 o I
20245 K2023F12 A31BN A B &
BB R ERIR

3.4 Capital management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to
reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the amounts of dividend paid to shareholders, return
capital to shareholders or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the total debt to total
capital ratio. Total debt represents bank borrowings. Total capital
represents total equity, as shown in the consolidated statement
of financial position. The total debt to total capital ratios at 31
December 2024 and 2023 were as follows:

2024 2023
FHT FHTT

HK$’000 HK$'000

FERT=E Total borrowings 188,279 292,603
MrEs Total equity 221,139 150,293

mEEHEEARLL R

Total debt to total capital ratio

0.94% 0.9 times 1.9 1.9 times

HE2024F12A31BILEE -#EE
BEERN R TBEEBHRRIBITER
B BT

The decrease in total debt to total capital ratio during the year
ended 31 December 2024 was mainly due to the decrease in
bank borrowings.

BFERERERAR
g Xzozjtgiﬁz 1 45
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.5 AR EMGE

TRBEEE QA FENEERM T
FTERIME ABBENER DITA
EER2024F12A31B A FEA
RMemIT A -BARENERIR
NEEEFSBEAENT=ZEH:

3.5 Fair value estimation

The below table analyses the Group’s financial instruments
carried at fair value as at 31 December 2024 by level of the
inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. The
level of inputs is categorised into three levels within a fair value
hierarchy as follows:

F1ER: HREEXABERER Level 1:  Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
MIHHMRE CREAE) - identical assets or liabilities.
E2BA: UFEMAFIERDOR Level 2:  Inputs other than quoted prices included within
E-ErEE (AER) level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
s (AR B ER)E either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that
EMNEEXIBENGEA is, derived from prices).
5 -
SEIER: WIFRAIBENT S Level 3:  Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based
EMEEXBENH A on observable market data (that is, unobservable
IR (BT AT = A B inputs).
’®) e
R2024512A831R At 31 December 2024
WATEFABSEZEMEE  Financial asset at FVTPL
—3E FM AR ES — Unlisted convertible bonds
@t Total
F1IER F2ER E3ER st
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
TET TET FHET TET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R2023%12A31R At 31 December 2023
WRTEFABSEZEMEE  Financial asset at FVTPL
— LM BRBRES - Unlisted convertible bonds - - 1,730 1,730
Bt Total - - 1,730 1,730

FR - EEERAFEFENE 2K
3B 2 A e g o

WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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There were no transfers between levels 1, 2 and 3 for recurring
fair value measurements during the year.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.5 Fair value estimation (continued)

Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs
(level 3)

The following table summarises the quantitative information
about the significant unobservable inputs used in level 3 fair

e value measurements:
AUERBABER
¢WIA fRE R TABERARE AV EZERZ
Financial Valuation Relationship of unobservable
instruments technique Unobservable inputs inputs to fair value
Al E R wRBEeRE HRX 23.63% BRREHME ATELE
(2023% :24.55% )
Convertible bonds  Discounted Discount rate 23.63%  The higher discount rate,

cash flow

(2023: 24.55%)

REFENBE TR 50%
(20235 :5%)

the lower the fair value

REFENA RS
AFEES

Estimated probability of 50%
operational subsistence

The higher probability of
operational subsistence,
the higher the fair value

(2023: 5%)

MR2024F12831H EMA EME
BREFTENBERLT Bt RBEL
BIERT e RS %A M AL
R 5% 2N 52 B ) B A ) o 1
492,123,000 7T ©

RBERR LRAAREREZ SR
BEMRBIAEMGE:

As at 31 December 2024, it is estimated that an increase/
a decrease of 5% in the probability of cash flows happening
under operational subsistence scenario, with all other variables
held constant, the Group’s profit for the year would increase/
decrease by approximately HK$2,123,000.

Valuation of the above financial asset held by the Group
as at the end of the reporting period was performed by an
independent valuer.

EFBEERARAR]
/ Xzozjtgiﬁz 1 47
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IR HE) FEERT A -

REBERKEHZHGT KRB RIE
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TFE R 7R % ] IR E & K BUE
B -FERFAEREREAER
BRRH AR EERMEGER IR
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MRARRERHERUEEERD
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AEBEBEETE LT ERMBRAT
BH -GEEEMSRERRAFLE
KA -EAEFXHHREF ZER
5 Mt B &AL TR -
Mz EEENRERFEEREZIA
RSB AR ZEZRBEFER
H B RBETE BRI ST LETERE
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A FHEER ZEEZBRHEFER
B R 2 F ) BERERIEERM SN
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND

ASSUMPTIONS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based
on historical experience and other factors, including expectations
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.
The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal
the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
addressed below.

4.1 Net realisable value of inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated cost to
completion and selling expenses. These estimates are based
on the current market condition and the historical experience
of manufacturing and selling products of similar nature.
Management reassesses the estimation at the end of each
reporting period.

4.2 Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes mainly in Hong Kong
and the Chinese Mainland. Significant judgement is required in
determining provision for income taxes. There are transactions
and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain during the ordinary course of business. Where the
final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts
that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the
income tax and deferred income tax provisions in the period in
which such determination is made.

Deferred income tax assets relating to certain temporary
differences and tax losses are recognised as management
considers it is probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences or tax losses
can be utilised. Where the expectation is different from the
original estimate, such differences will impact the recognition
of deferred income tax assets and tax expense in the periods in
which such estimate is changed.
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4 BARETEFTRER (E) 4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND

ASSUMPTIONS (continued)

4.3 FE W FERE

4.3 Impairment of receivables

AEERIZA BE X E KR & T8 H &8
KRR T I FE W R TR R (B g - A
SEREHZERREITE A X
REAEERSHREBROBEED
W RITHISARR R ATRE AR
HERRBERENBAER - H 5
& W SR TR (B 7808 PR HI T B A 5 o 11
BEHEFERAGTFFEER ZFE8
HeFERNARMATESHNIREER
) R LSRR R T M % R MK R TR R S

e

JABRNTEFABREZERMEE

(I

AEBERSEBREE JINEHET
A B R AL AR A 598 - E 72024
FR2AMEMFEBERARABE
& BEFEMFTEBES TEE
RESHRENERKTENERREE
MR EE A R EHFR2024F K&
2023F 12 A31HA A FERRIER -
ZIHEZRE A R hEr e

The Group makes provision for impairment of receivables based
on assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates.
The Group uses judgement in making these assumptions and
selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, based on the
Group’s historical default rates, existing market conditions as
well as forward looking estimates at the end of each reporting
period. The identification of impairment of receivables requires
the use of judgment and estimates. Where the expectations are
different from the original estimates, such differences will impact
the carrying value of receivables and loss for the impairment of
receivables recognised in the period in which such estimates
have been changed.

4.4 Valuation of financial asset at FVTPL

The Group considers various factors, such as the losses
incurred by the bonds’ issuer since its incorporation, its net
liabilities position and liquidity at 31 December 2024, the
extent of realisation of business plan in prior years to estimate
the expected future cash flows under different scenarios and
the discount rates used in determining the fair value of the
convertible bonds as at 31 December 2024 and 2023. Such
valuation requires the use of judgment and estimates.

BFERERERAR
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5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Company is an investment holding company and the Group is
principally engaged in the manufacturing and sales of electronic
products.

The CODM has been identified as the CEO of the Company. The
CEO reviews the Group’s internal reporting in order to assess
performance and allocate resources. The CEO has determined the
operating segment based on these reports.

The CEO considers the Group’s operation from a business
perspective and determines that the Group has one reportable
operating segment being the manufacturing and sales of electronic
products.

The CEO assesses the performance of the operating segment based
on a measure of revenue and gross profit.

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, all of the
Group’s revenues were from contracts with customers and were
recognised at a point in time. Please refer to Note 2.2.8 for details of
accounting policies on revenue recognition.

(@) Revenue from major customers who have
individually contributed to 10% or more of the
total revenue of the Group

2024 2023

FER FHT

HK$’000 HK$'000

ZFEA Customer A 254,028 142,720
®PB Customer B 133,850 191,074
EPFC Customer C 133,823 A FN/A*

* HEREPRARFEYEEMAEER
B E10% ©
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The corresponding customer did not contribute over 10% of the total

revenue of the Group for the denoted years.
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5 WaEkoHER (&) 5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)

(b) REFHEBNEE S DU (b) Segment revenue by customers’ geographical
#

location
NEBMIRMBANE (BRI EE The Group’s revenue by geographical location, which is
T2 oM Em T : determined by the delivery location, is as follows:
2024 2023
FEx FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERE Philippines 377,163 228,058
EE United States 363,849 460,323
B A Chinese Mainland 197,136 53,188
ERH Ireland 103,996 87,655
Bk Malaysia 71,056 70,087
S United Kingdom 38,902 31,153
hEEE Hong Kong 24,450 54,610
= Germany 17,695 30,363
It Switzerland 16,987 83,473
L=-Jiithey Mexico 14,892 54,040
ESIIIIEd Singapore 8,693 3,034
ENE India 5,852 2,751
iy Norway 4,657 9,169
I Netherlands 1,667 20,272
Hitb Others 13,804 39,014
1,260,799 1,227,190

B ERZRERAR
= X2024§$& 1 51
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5 WEkoERER (&)

(0 EHNEEBEHE

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)
(c) Details of contract liabilities
2023

TAT
HK$'000

SHBIE (FIFE24)

Contract liabilities (Note 24)

12,495

S

() AREREERITEPOEGEREET
BEPOEmIEE P IR -

(i) TRITRAREBERLEEEAD

Notes:

(i) Contract liabilities represent advanced payments received for orders
from the customers for goods of which the control has not yet been
transferred to the customers.

(ii) The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised in the

BEAMNKESE: current reporting period relates to carried forward contract liabilities:
2023
THET
HK$'000
SRAFNEHNAERRZ Revenue recognised that was included in the
BRI E contract liabilities balances at the beginning
of the year 25,354

(i) RETTREOES

20244 20234512 A31H AN EH 4
KEBITHNE2BEOEH I RE REH
BTE—FHEH AL BEEEY
RS ERBISHEOERBRER 25
BRE PEEZSABTENEBENR
SERLREE-

d) RWBNEBESNFERBEE
20244 }2023%F 12 A31H * K" &E

FRBDEEAR(EERBAEERS
A TERRIN R AT R :

(iii) Unsatisfied performance obligation

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, all performance obligations not
yet satisfied by the Group were from contracts with original expected
duration of less than one year. Therefore, as permitted by the relevant
practical expedient under HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to
these unsatisfied performance obligations was not disclosed.

(d) Non-current assets by geographical location

The total amounts of non-current assets, other than deferred tax
assets and financial instruments of the Group as at 31 December
2024 and 2023 were located in the following regions:

2023
FHT

HK$'000

hEEE Hong Kong 5,769
R A Chinese Mainland 124,081
129,850

1 52 WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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6 EMERTHWAX 6 EXPENSES BY NATURE
SFASHERA - $HE RO EE X A RITH Expenses included in cost of sales, selling and distribution expenses
AR EZ AT : and administrative expenses are analysed as follows:
2023
FAET
HK$’000
Fir A R A7 Raw materials used 837,636
EEBAAKA (H:E8) Employee benefit costs (Note 8) 223,545
& (Mak12) Depreciation (Note 12) 40,996
BiH (PEE13) Amortisation (Note 13) 501
DEREM Subcontracting fees -
FRAMELRFEESHEHEE Short-term leases in respect of properties
(MFEE21(0)) and car parks (Note 21(c)) 730
BKEAREERS Electricity, water and utility expenses 8,075
HEMERAX Sales commission expenses 15,116
M Consumables 3,614
5iE R Freight and custom declarations 9,025
HERIRE Repair and maintenance 1,470
H b Fi 18 Other taxes 3,257
EXNHAE Professional and consultancy fees 5,341
WAERL Office expenses 1,617
% SLAM B & Auditor’s remuneration
—ZHR — Audit services 2,456
— R ERTS — Non-audit services 805
RITFEE Bank charges 1,752
RBg Insurance 1,957
R Telecommunications 1,108
FEEE (ME17) Provision for inventories (Note 17) 8,682
ZIRE Travelling 2,799
W) Staff recruitment 640
B Donation 25
HAh Others 7,002
HEMAR  SHERDHFAXIAKR  Total cost of sales, selling and
TR B distribution expenses and
administrative expenses 1,178,149

B BERERERAR
> 20242;& 1 18]
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7 HiFWE (BE)REMUY 7 OTHER GAINS/(LOSSES), NET AND OTHER

A INCOME
(@ HFWwzE~ (FE) (a) Other gains/(losses), net
2023
FHETT
HK$'000
PEE 34 Wz Exchange gains 4,315
TESMT AEZBEEIRFEE  Net realised losses from derivative
financial instruments (2,051)
HEYE BERZEHEE  Loss on disposal of properties,
(Bfs¥28(b)) plant and equipment (Note 28(b)) (2,059)
BATEFABENEHMEE  Gain/(loss) on fair value changes of
ZRTEZEWE (EE) financial asset at FVTPL (Note 15)
(Bt3E15) (29,364)
(29,159)
(b) EAtUig A (b) Other income
2023
FHET
HK$’000
T #E B Government grants 810
EHAh Others 6
816

8 EERANAA BIEEEME 8 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT COSTS, INCLUDING
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

2023

FHETT

HK$'000

TE& #e REA Wages, salaries and bonus 190,933
RIRE KA — FE R RET S Pension costs — defined contribution

(Fff5Ea) schemes (Note a) 23,067

AR R Termination benefits 1,518

H b8 Tta A Other staff welfares 8,027

BEEBANMAX (BEEEHM)  Total employee benefit expenses
(including directors’ remunerations) 223,545

1 54 WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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8 EERAAL BIEESEMMEL 8 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT COSTS, INCLUDING

(%)

G2

()

(b)

BAEHEA - REMRGE

58

BABEARAE - REMKTE

AEBEERFEEERERELMABFIEATES
SE([REEE) —BRBUXTEAE
B SREHRNE ) R EREE B AR
EhEESRESKRA (ERRLBHEQE
E P Z5%5 A mEr 8 e R EE
Ko fE B #9589 A E B1,50008 7T &
ER-

PR RS BN D SR F B R -

REIA it

R BB AR ROERRE  ARER T
BAmEENNBRARARERENEERE
By RRETEEL R - R FEEERHF
BEMRHEBAI IR HEBARZAEL
HESEAFLETAEDLNHENR A E
E—FEERZFHRIMRK S TR
BREHER X - ZFBEKEBHR NG
FEARNENERBNEZMERREEE:

EEBRSHMAL

HE2024F12A31B L EE AEERAR
EHMALTEE=REE 2023F MEE
F)  EBE REN 3225 K 54T o &
E2024F12A3MBLEFE  ENBRTMEA
T (2023F : =HZAL)HBES T ¢

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Notes:

(@)

(b)

Pension costs — defined contribution schemes

Hong Kong
Retirement benefit costs — defined contribution schemes

The Group has arranged for its Hong Kong employees to join the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”), a defined contribution scheme
managed by an independent trustee. Under the MPF Scheme, the Group
and its employees make monthly contributions to the scheme at 5% of
the employees’ earnings as defined under the Mandatory Provident Fund
legislation. Both the Group’s and the employees’ mandatory contributions
are subject to a cap of HK$1,500 per month.

No forfeited contribution is available to reduce the contribution payable in
future year.

Chinese Mainland

As stipulated under the relevant rules and regulations in the PRC, the
Group’s subsidiary operating in Chinese Mainland contributes to state-
sponsored retirement plans for its employees. Depending on the provinces
of the employees’ registered residences and their current region of work,
the subsidiary contributes certain percentages of the basic salaries of its
employees and has no further obligations for the actual payment of pensions
or post retirement benefits beyond the contributions. The state-sponsored
retirement plans are responsible for the entire pension obligations payable to

the retired employees.
Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group
include 3 directors for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: 2 directors)
whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented in Note 32. The
emoluments payable to the remaining 2 individuals for the year ended 31
December 2024 (2023: 3 individuals) are as follows:

2024 2023

F#&x FHET

HK$’000 HK$’000

I% HaeRiEA Wages, salaries and bonus 4,230 5,498
BAREERAN—REH-KRETE Pension costs — defined contribution schemes 36 54
4,266 5,552

BFERERERAR
20245 %5

55
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8 EEEARA  BIEEEME 8 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT COSTS, INCLUDING
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(%%

fa:: (8)

~

b) EHEESFMAL (H)

Notes: (continued)

(b) Five highest paid individuals (continued)

BeEsEMT : The emoluments fell within the following bands:
A Number of individuals
B < & Emolument bands

1,500,001/ 7T £2,000,000/% 7T
2,000,001 7T £2,500,0007% 7T

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000

2023

H E2024F 20235128318 L FE - A%
ERERTNEER AL iMA TSN
BN & 15 A DN BR 3 2 1N ER AR SR B A5 Y B2 B

KRB -

9 FRERAE

loss of office.

9 FINANCE COSTS, NET

RITHEFRA B WA
AR EHFBHA (HEE15)

Interest income on bank deposits
Interest income on convertible bonds
(Note 15)

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, no emoluments were
paid by the Group to any of the directors or the five highest paid individuals
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for

2023
TAET
HK$'000

BME WA

RITERF B
HEREMN SR (M&E21b)

Finance income

Interest expenses on bank borrowings
Interest expenses on lease liabilities
(Note 21(b))

(3,798)

(275)

BhE P AR Finance costs
A AR Finance costs, net
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10 Fr8HiAX 10 INCOME TAX EXPENSE

BREFEREBBE201920FRHEELE
HERI AR GRS TR - AEEREED
MBARAREEFNESHETNE2ES
85 7T JE RR T %8 3% PR 8.25% 89 B SR 4K o
BE2AE BB B TERE NG EE
B HR16.5%M B R B -

HE2024F K2023F 128318 IEEE - K
EEAERMBRARNESMNERIEE
MR FIF SRR R E -

HE2024F N2023F12A31H IEF &
ANEBEP BN E R ABRIZER K
25%BMM D EFTSR ([EREH]) -

Pursuant to the enactment of two-tiered profits tax rates by the
Inland Revenue Department of Hong Kong from the year of
assessment 2019/20 onwards, the first HK$2 million of assessable
profits for the Group’s subsidiary in Hong Kong under Hong Kong
profits tax is subject to a tax rate of 8.25%. The remaining assessable
profits above HK$2 million will continue to be subject to a tax rate
of 16.5%

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, Hong Kong
profits tax of the qualified subsidiary of the Group is calculated in
accordance with the two-tiered profits tax rates regime.

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group’s
subsidiary in the PRC was subject to corporate income tax (“CIT”) at
a standard rate of 25%.

2024 2023
FTHET FHET
HK$'000 HK$’000
BVHA PR 5 8 Current income tax

—BBHEHR — Hong Kong profits tax 8,127 1,869
— Bl TSR - PRCCIT 4,918 2,368
13,045 4,237

BEFEBERE Over-provision in prior years
—HBMEHR — Hong Kong profits tax (241) (124)
BVERFT 15 Hi 4258 Total current income tax 12,804 4,113
EZEFESH (MaE22) Deferred income tax (Note 22) (1,850) 127
PS5 X Income tax expense 10,954 4,240

BEEEERARA A
/ Xzozjtgiﬁz 1 5 7
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10 FriS BB (&) 10 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)
RNEBBRAERAISMAFBIEAR BIRE The taxation on the Group’s profit before income tax differs from the
P AR AN £ B 8 BT B A 75 R &9 hn e theoretical amounts that would arise using the weighted average tax
TR ERAELENIERSSEM T : rate applicable to profits of subsidiaries of the Group as follows:

2023
THET
HK$'000
BR FT 1S B4 B e Profit before income tax 5,485
138 AR AR BT B 2 B s A Y Tax calculated at tax rates applicable to
B R ETEHTIR profits of the respective subsidiaries 2,253
ATIEENRETE: Tax effect of:
BARBAUWA Income not subject to tax (698)
ARIHF R X Expenses not deductible for tax
purpose 5,534
B TR PRC withholding tax (1,298)
FEE T IEE 2 Research and development tax credit (1,427)
BEFEBEER Over-provision in prior years (124)
BREREEZR Recognition of temporary difference -
PGB X Income tax expense 4,240

1 BREF 11 EARNINGS PER SHARE
ERERBFOEERATEZREZAE A The basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit
FEAG %5 A BR LA O B 2517 3@ AR a9 I 4 attributable to equity holders of the Company by the weighted
FHEETE- average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

BZ12B318LLEE

Year ended 31 December

2023
RATERFEBARIGEARAH  Profit for the year attributable to equity
(F#&xT) holders of the Company (HK$'000) 1,245
B BITE BB I8 Weighted average number of ordinary
(F&) shares in issue ('000) 100,000
FREAREERH CBI) Basic and diluted earnings per share
(HK cents) 1.2
AR FERTEEITEIINECEEL R There were no differences between the basic and diluted earnings
B MERER RN MY EEE- per share as there were no potential dilutive ordinary shares

outstanding during the year.
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12E- -HERZE 12 PROPERTIES, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
RENE  HH-RE
ERREE kB RBARE BERES AE @t
Furniture,
fixtures
Right-of-use ~ Leasehold  and office Plant and Motor
assets improvements  equipment  machineries vehicles Total

TiEn L L L L L
HKS000  HK§'000  HK$'000  HKS000  HK$'000  HK$'000

20231818 At 1 January 2023

XA Cost 127,565 43,437 24,450 123,508 2,117 321,077
ZiHE Accumulated depreciation (91,293) (39,457) (17,603) (81,911) (1,886) (232,150)
RRFE Net book amount 36,272 3,980 6,847 41,597 231 88,927

HZ2023F128318LEE  Year ended 31 December 2023

BOEEFE Opening net hook amount 36,272 3,980 6,847 41,597 231 88,927
RE Additions 72,548 1,851 3,371 8,228 320 86,318
il Depreciation (23,665) (1,660) (2,182) (12,602) (103) (40,212)
e Disposals . = (260) (3,326) (12) (3,598)
Bz Exchange differences (1,487) (72) (128) (688) (4) 2,379)
HREEFE Closing net book amount 83,668 4,099 7,648 33,209 432 129,056
R2023%128318 At 31 December 2023

AR Cost 196,766 44,465 26,111 122,934 2,154 392,430
ZitiE Accumulated depreciation (113,098) (40,366) (18,463) (89,725) (1722 (263,374)
FRFE Net hook amount 83,668 4,099 7,648 33,209 432 129,056

HZ2024F128318LEE  Year ended 31 December 2024

A FE Opening net book amount 83,668 4,099 7,648 33,209 432 129,056
NE Additions 11,026 1,747 2,677 5,729 236 21,415
& Depreciation (23,406) (2,084) (2,399 (8,467) (138) (36,494)
HE Disposals = = (65) (78) = (143)
EXEE Exchange differences (1,135) (50) (98) 433) 6) (1,719)
HRKEFE Closing net book amount 70,153 3,712 7,763 29,960 527 112,115
R2024512A318 At 31 December 2024
kA Cost 205,273 45,644 27,830 125,670 2,364 406,781
Zithe Accumulated depreciation (135,120) (41,932) (20,067) (95,710) (1,837)  (294,666)
REHE Net book amount 70,153 3,712 7,763 29,960 527 112,115
HZE2024F12A31BILFE  IHERZA During the year ended 31 December 2024, depreciation expense
11,809,000 7T (20234 : 12,387,00056 of approximately HK$11,809,000 (2023: HK$12,387,000) has
70) B 1T B 2 1 Bs & 4925,033,000/8 been charged in administrative expense and approximately
7T (20234 : 28,609,000/ 7T ) B R tHE K HK$25,033,000 (2023: HK$28,609,000) has been charged in cost of
AR sales respectively.

B ARRRARAR
- X202;1/'[f R 1 5 9
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13EFLEE 13 INTANGIBLE ASSETS
R EH
System Software
FHT
HK$'000
R20235F1A1H At 1 January 2023
XA Cost 7,522
E Accumulated amortisation (6,822)
BREFE Net book amount 700
BZ2023F12A318LLEE Year ended 31 December 2023
B AREDFE Opening net book amount 700
NE Additions 442
s (fiske) Amortisation (Note 6) (501)
ME S E R Exchange differences (4)
HRAREFE Closing net book amount 637
72023F12A31H At 31 December 2023
[DRN Cost 7,964
AT Accumulated amortisation (7,327)
REFEE Net book amount 637
BE2024F128318 L FE Year ended 31 December 2024
BB EF{E Opening net book amount 637
NE Additions 6
B (Mste) Amortisation (Note 6) (351)
HREREFE Closing net book amount 292
72024F12A31H At 31 December 2024
AR Cost 7,970
ZETEEE Accumulated amortisation (7,678)
FREFE Net book amount 292
B E2024F12A31HILFE - BHEHAIYD During the year ended 31 December 2024, amortisation expense of
351,000 7T (20234F : 501,000 7T) 2 approximately HK$351,000 (2023: HK$501,000) has been charged
PITIEREE S 0Bk © in administrative expenses.
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14 ZERETHNERMT A 14 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORIES
2023
FHET
HK$'000
SREE Financial assets
BATEFABENCREE Financial asset at FVTPL (Note 15)
(KtE15) 1,730
RHEBEKNTFTENSREE Financial assets at amortised cost
Z 5 W IE (M5E20) Trade receivables (Note 20) 297,822
e RE M EYRIE (FiE16) Deposits and other receivables
(Note 16) 7,288
JEW — Al & & (b3 FRIE Amount due from a joint venture

(FFEE31(@a)) (Note 31(a)) -
RekReEEY (MiE18) Cash and cash equivalents (Note 18) 274,572
REPRBB=EA Term deposits with original maturity

TEHTF R (Ki5E18) over three months (Note 18) -
581,412
EA ==K Financial liabilities
REERAGTENSRAE Financial liabilities at amortised cost
B 5 e RRIR (Fif5E23) Trade payables (Note 23) 249,755
H b e FTE & EET & Other payables and accruals (Note 24)

(Bff5E24) 132,819
HEBE (HiF21) Lease liabilities (Note 21) 86,650
BEIRK AR Provision for reinstatement costs -
RITE R (FF7E26) Bank borrowings (Note 26) 292,603
JE&f~t — Sl B st 1 B K38 Amount due to a related company

(FEE31(@a)) (Note 31(a)) 171

761,998

BEEFIERER AR
g 20242;& 161
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15 BAFEFTABZNEMEE 15 FINANCIAL ASSET AT FVTPL

2024 2023
FHERT TAET
HK$'000 HK$’000
BAFEFABRSHSREE Financial asset at FVTPL
— AR (P aE) — Convertible bonds (Note) 21,230 1,730
BT Note:
72202241 B28H - A% [E B Talentone Technology On 28 January 2022, the Group entered into a subscription agreement (the “CB
Limited ([TTL DFT R E B ([T RRESR Subscription Agreement”) with Talentone Technology Limited (“TTL”), pursuant
Bl Bt AEERZREATILETOM to which the Group agreed to subscribe two tranches of convertible bonds in the
#t 7K & 48 %8 A44,000,00078 TR AT AR & 55 ([ & aggregate principal amount of HK$44,000,000 (the “CB”) issued by TTL (the “CB
BrRESR]) ((MTRREFRDE]) -SHATBRE Subscriptions”). The issue of each tranche of the CB Subscriptions is subject to the
BEHFERENETATURRESRBBIAEDN fulfillment or waiver (as the case may be) of the conditions precedent set out in
ORI ER KRR R (RIBERME) & 73 AIME the CB Subscription Agreement.
7N & %6 /22,000,000 7T 89 88 — #t AT AR (& The subscription of the first tranche of CB in principal amount of HK$22,000,000
FEMR2022F3A22B TR RE - MASER was completed on 22 March 2022, and the subscription of the second tranche
22,000,000/ 7T B 55 — #E 7] # I% & 55 71 2 722023 of CB in principal amount of HK$22,000,000 was completed on 12 September
FIANHATERRME 2023.
REBB AT 8B —#RE R AIRKRES AT E The first and the second tranches of the CB can be converted into an aggregate of
BRTTLA $£30%0 AR A - I 49 ()4 5 B 7220224 30% equity interest in TTL as enlarged by (i) 10% equity interest of TTL subscribed
3A22BEREMTTIL 10%AEE ([REBRHG]) by the Group on 22 March 2022 (the “Subscription Shares”) and (ii) the new
R (D TTUR R 1T {68 AT #R AR (B 55 BT 7 2 B i T 3% shares issued by TTL pursuant to the exercise of the conversion rights attached
TEVHARG ([ERRGDBEA-HBERQFR to the CB (the “Conversion Shares”) until the maturity date. As disclosed in the
2023F9RNAMEXNERME _ A BRKRESZ announcement of the Company dated 12 September 2023 in relation to the
BTIREXPIEHNASIRE  REERTTLY completion of disclosable transaction regarding the second tranche of the CB,
REME - RE_HAIBRRESHIMEIER both the Group and TTL agreed to extend the maturity date of both the first and
F2025F3 248 ([EMBBHA]) - the second tranches of the CB to 24 March 2025 (the “Extended Maturity Date”).
AR RES BB R F A E1%at B RARTE The CB are unsecured, interest-bearing at 1% per annum and repayable on the
REEIRERSN B E MRk EH R B L Extended Maturity Date or convertible into an aggregate of 30% equity interest in
ZEMRE BB RERBERN RERRMHELR TTL as enlarged by the Subscription Shares and the Conversion Shares from the
BTTLE H30%H) AR HE date of the second tranche of CB subscription until the Extended Maturity Date.
HEATEABSENESREEZZFHN The movement of the financial asset at FVTPL is as follows:
T
2024 2023
FER FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
M1ATH At 1 January 1,730 9,094
NE Addition = 22,000
JEFALE (BFE9) Interest accrued (Note 9) 440 275
BB Interest received (165) (275)
Rére 2 ENERER ZATE  Fair value changes recognised in
28 (Mit7@) consolidated statement of
comprehensive income (Note 7(a)) 19,225 (29,364)
R12A31H At 31 December 21,230 1,730
ERETAFLERMBZAEEBEZE The information about the methods and assumptions used in
KIS TE3.5R4.4 o 88 A TTEHE © determining fair value is set out in Notes 3.5 and 4.4. The balance is

denominated in HK$.
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16 AR & R HMERK

16 PREPAYMENTS,

DEPOSITS AND OTHER

15 RECEIVABLES
2023
FET
HK$'000
A S Non-current portion
e (Kizta) Deposits (Note a) 4,969
BEWE BHEMRERN Prepayments for acquisition of
Tt FRIE properties, plant and equipment 1,858
6,827
BNHAE8 2 Current portion
T RIE Prepayments 14,834
e (Kista) Deposits (Note a) 151
HL A 8 o A5 7R % AT U B 15 (B B Other tax receivables and
VAT recoverable 9,287
H b el I8 (Miska) Other receivables (Note a) 2,168
26,440
33,267

(@) A2024%F 20235128318 & R H M E (@)
WHRENEEEREEAFERE ZSEH8

REEAREE -

AEENZE S REAMEKRANREE

Note:

unsecured and interest-free.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the carrying amounts of deposits
and other receivables approximated their fair values. These balances were

The carrying amounts of the Group’s deposits and other receivables

BATE®BEHE: were denominated in the following currencies:
2023
TET
HK$'000
AR¥ RMB 5,120
BT HK$ 2,168
7,288

BRI ARAR
202445
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17 78 17 INVENTORIES
2023
THET
HK$'000
R4 Raw materials 156,254
X m Work in progress 18,624
S Finished goods 48,950
223,828
HE2024F12A31BLFE HRAE The cost of inventories recognised as expense and included in cost
BAY W AEERANTEER ALY A of sales during the year ended 31 December 2024 amounted to
998,437,0007% 7T (20234 : 1,011,933,000 approximately HK$998,437,000 (2023: HK$1,011,933,000).
BT o
HE2024F12 318 ILFE - FERE B Impairment provision for inventories amounting to approximately
##98,072,0005 7T (20234 : 8,682,000/ HK$8,072,000 (2023: HK$8,682,000) was recognised to profit
TR B ERIAT A [SHERA] - or loss and included in “cost of sales” during the year ended 31
December 2024.
18 RERBITEXK 18 CASH AND BANK BALANCES
2023
TAET
HK$'000
RITIRE Cash at banks 274,181
FHEERES Cash on hand 391
RTINS RFHERS Cash at banks and on hand 274,572
B RIBEBER=EAZ Less: Term deposits with original
TE BT maturity over three months =
Re LREFEY Cash and cash equivalents 274,572
e ERR (TEEFEERS)  Maximum exposure to credit risk
(excluding cash on hand) 274,181
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18 HERBITER (&) 18 CASH AND BANK BALANCES (continued)

RehkAeEBYIEARERERM
EERENTIER:

Cash and cash equivalents include the following for the purpose of
the consolidated statement of cash flows:

2024 2023

FHET FHET

HK$'000 HK$'000

RekReEEY Cash and cash equivalents 235,333 274,572

AKER S KA S S EWRREHE
198 =184 2 5 175 5 IR AL B T 5
A

The carrying amounts of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents
and term deposits with original maturity over three months were
denominated in the following currencies:

2024 2023
FET FHET

HK$/000 HK$’000

AR RMB 15,663 14,226
ETT usD 249,550 257,499
BT HK$ 16,946 1,224
BT ([&x]) Euro (“EUR”) 1,727 1,582
Hith Others 23 41
283,909 274,572

RIS (RRIBABB=EAZEH
TSN 1R 1B B R1T 1 AR HF B B
BRI, o

R2024F12 8318 ASERBHH B HBHE
=8 A 2 E BT RERFEF4.53% °

R2024F 128318 REe RIRESEEB WA
FEEHBBBE =/ ZEHEFEROIER
EEEEATFERE -

M2024F12A318 - AEEMBE € &I
S BYW 4 510,082,000/ 7T (20234
14,004,000/ 7T ) * 17 B3R AR ERTT *
i #% & < & H B = AP BB AT 28 46 59 S0
PE & 5l 48 Bl SR AR PTAA IR ©

Cash at banks except for the term deposits with original maturity
over three months earned interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposits rate.

As at 31 December 2024, the effective interest rate of the Group’s
term deposits with original maturity over three months was 4.53%.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amounts of cash and cash
equivalents and term deposits with original maturity over three
months approximated their fair values.

As at 31 December 2024, cash and cash equivalents of the
Group amounting to approximately HK$10,082,000 (2023:
HK$14,004,000) were deposited with the banks in Chinese
Mainland where the remittance of funds out of Chinese Mainland
is subject to the rules and regulations of foreign exchange control
promulgated by the government of the PRC.

BEARERARAT
R ies 165
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19 REELRZRE

19 INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES

RELLEZIREZEHWT - Movements in the investments in joint ventures are as follows:
2024 2023
TR FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
M1A18 As at 1 January = -
ANE (MizEa) Addition (Note a) 10 -
EiH—ReEtE 2B Share of loss of a joint venture (10) -
R12A31AH As at 31 December = -
Mizra: WRBEARFTETHBAREFIERER Note a: Pursuant to the joint venture agreement signed between the subsidiary of
AR Giken Sakata (S) Limited%2024 the Company, Wise Ally Holdings Limited and Giken Sakata (S) Limited
F3H208 #EFR A E & - WiseGiken on 20 March 2024, WiseGiken Elite Pte. Ltd was established as a joint
Elite Pte. LidiX I B —FA &% Kk venture, in which the Group subscribed 90% of ordinary shares at a
& LA (E1,800%7 7T 3R FE90%H) & i@ AR consideration of SGD1,800 and Giken Sakata (S) Limited subscribed
K Giken Sakata (S) Limited SA{X B200%7 10% of ordinary shares at a consideration of SGD200. The Group has
TLREE10%H) EBR - A KB %R E joint control over this investment. As a consequence, the investment was
HREABRESE Bt ZREHD R classified as an investment in joint venture.
AR—HEAELENIRE -
SE&DES Details of the joint ventures:
BB ML
EREE FREBR FrERERERGL FEFE
Place of business/ % of ownership interest
Name of entity country of incorporation 2024 2023  Measurement method
Talentone Technology Limited &4 10% 10% @~
Talentone Technology Limited ~ Hong Kong 10% 10%  Equity method
WiseGiken Elite Pte. Ltd DI 90% TER A
WiseGiken Elite Pte. Ltd Singapore 90 % N/A  Equity method
202528108 AR AIH —HEE S On 10 February 2025, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
BEMBARIRARNRETTLEITLZFZ Company, and the Company entered into the sale and purchase
BREFEENERT TV E =S HaE N agreement with TTL and Ms. Vivian Chang, the major shareholder
MEP M T HETTL 10%M R R E and director of TTL, to dispose 10% equity interest of TTL to Ms.

/730,000 7T

20 B Z FEWRIE

Vivian Chang at a consideration of HK$730,000.

20 TRADE RECEIVABLES

2024 2023

TR FAET

HK$’000 HK$'000

Z 5 e IE Trade receivables 278,284 304,228
BB 5 EWIE R E R Less: provision for impairment of

(Ff3E3.2(a)) trade receivables (Note 3.2(a)) (7,359) (6,406)

270,925 297,822

1 66 WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

Annual Report 2024



RE MR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

20 B 5 EWIE () 20 TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)
PR20245F K2023F12 8318 - & FEI K As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the carrying amounts of trade
ERmERE A FEES- receivables approximated their fair values.
AEFERBENEFEEHRN FI52120K 1 The Group’s sales are made on credit terms ranging from 15 to 120
o days.
20244 K2023F12 A318 B 5 EIEK As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the aging analysis of trade
TH (IR RVE ) L HEM R 2T receivables, net of impairment, based on invoice date, were as
T follows:
2024 2023
FE T FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000
0E90K 0 to 90 days 262,473 272,386
91%365K 91 to 365 days 5,844 24,430
365K & Over 365 days 2,608 1,006
270,925 297,822
72024912 H31H  4)48,916,0007 JT As at 31 December 2024, trade receivables amounting to
(20234 : 87,634,000 70) H) & 5 FE U 3K approximately HK$48,916,000 (2023: HK$87,634,000) were past
BDBBERRE- due but not impaired.
REBWE ZEKRFTENEEDEL T The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables were
BHEHE: denominated in the following currencies:
2024 2023
FTHET THET
HK$'000 HK$'000
ey USsD 248,742 277,429
ARE RMB 21,775 18,319
7BIT HK$ 408 1,008
BT EUR = 1,066
270,925 297,822
R2024F K2023F 12 A31E REEE The maximum exposure to credit risk as at 31 December 2024 and
B A Tt 2 5 e Uk 28 B BRE T (E o 2023 was the carrying value of the trade receivables mentioned
NEEE I EF A AR IR R E AT - above. The Group does not hold any collateral as security.

BEBRERARAT
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21 fHE
@ RESHBRRREZNRE

RAMBARKRIIRIA T HERER
B A ERET AR RE12 T B =

21 LEASES

(@) Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position

The consolidated statement of financial position shows the
following amounts relating to leases and that the balances were

Ml included in Note 12 “Properties, plant and equipment”:
2023
TR
HK$'000
FRAEEE Right-of-use assets
M (MEE12) Properties (Note 12) 83,668

HE2024F12831B ILFE HRERFE
FREAET1,026,000 7T (20234 :
72,548,000/ 7T ) °

There were additions to the right-of-use assets amounted to
HK$11,026,000 during the year ended 31 December 2024
(2023: HK$72,548,000).

2023
THET
HK$'000

HESE Lease liabilities
FERBE S Non-current portion 66,875
B Current portion 19,775
86,650

AEEMNHERENREEANIE

The carrying amounts of the Group’s lease liabilities were

HETE: denominated in the following currencies:
2023
TAET
HK$'000
AT HK$ 608
ARE RMB 86,042
86,650

WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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21 #HE (&) 21 LEASES (continued)
(b) RFEEZHKBEREZNNIE (b) Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income
SAEEKERIRATHERBR The consolidated statement of comprehensive income shows the
15 following amounts relating to leases:
2024 2023
FE T FET
HK$'000 HK$'000
ERAREENERX Depreciation charge of right-of-use
(HyzE12) assets (Note 12)
o/ E- — Properties 23,406 23,665

HEAERmERS (K9) Finance costs on lease liabilities

(Note 9) 4,262 3,950
) REERERERERNNIE (c) Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement
of cash flows
B E2024%F K2023F12A31H EF The total cash outflows for leases during the years ended 31
B -AREENRABRESRLNT December 2024 and 2023 were as follow:
2024 2023
FTER THET
HK$’000 HK$'000

RETHELENEESRE Cash flows from operating activities

BRANTRENESHEE Payments for short-term leases
EE in respect of:
—MEREES* (HizTe) — Properties and car parks* (Note 6) 3,278 730

METHEENRESRE Cash flows from financing activities

XNHEBBZNELD Payment of interest element of
(Hi5E9) lease liabilities (Note 9) 4,262 3,950
XNEEaBEZREHD Payment of principal element of
lease liabilities 21,654 22,247
29,194 26,927
* EHEENRIUREBZ  HERAM *  Payments for short-term leases were not shown separately, but included
AR AL 728 ()T 2 5148 & E A in the line of “profit before income tax” in respect of the net cash
FRE AN BRASEHAEN]EE generated from operations which were presented in Note 28(a) using
A o the indirect method.

B FERZERBR AR
- Xzozzi%i& 1 69



RE MR MEE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

22 IREFREB 22 DEFERRED INCOME TAX
SAMEIRNRIRABEENTIER - The amounts shown in the consolidated statement of financial

position include the following:

2023

FET

HK$'000

EEFLIH A B Deferred tax assets 4,719

RIEFIE A E Deferred tax liabilities (116)

REFFHIBEE Deferred tax assets, net 4,603

B FHMIBBEE SN The movements on net deferred tax assets were as follows:

2023

FHT

HK$'000

MATH At 1 January 4,838
RiEa 2 EER Credited/(charged) to the consolidated
A (F0BR) (HEEE10) statement of comprehensive income

(Note 10) (127)

fE X =% Exchange differences (108)

M12A31H At 31 December 4,603
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22 IRIEFTSH (8) 22 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued)
B E2024F N2023F12A31H IEFE - I The movement in deferred tax assets during the years ended 31
HEHIBEENE S (K& LB ARB December 2024 and 2023, without taking into consideration the
FEELAERARNAESR) T offsetting of balances within the same tax jurisdiction, was as
follows:
(M) /W&
BERE & HEEE BIBEE @t
(Accelerated)/
decelerated tax
depreciation Provisions  Lease liabilities Tax losses Total
THT THT TR TR THT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
7202361818 At 1 January 2023 (380) 3,172 9,141 2,927 14,860
RiEE2EREE Credited/(charged) to the
A/ (0R) consolidated statement
of comprehensive income 138 1,008 12,856 (2,912) 11,090
ERER Exchange differences - (79) (386) (15) (480)
R2023F12A318 & At 31 December 2023 and
2024F181H 1 January 2024 (242) 4,101 21,611 - 25,470
e 2 EREE Credited/(charged) to the
A/ (10R) consolidated statement
of comprehensive income 250 1,333 (4,836) = (3,253)
ERER Exchange differences - (59) (295) = (354)
#2024F12A31H At 31 December 2024 8 5,375 16,480 - 21,863

BEEEERARA A
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22 RIEFREH (&) 22 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued)
B E2024F K2023F 12 A31HIEFE - & The movement in deferred tax liabilities during the years ended
ERBEENEE (K& RIKEERT 31 December 2024 and 2023, without taking into consideration
ERERERNREEER) T - the offsetting of balances within the same tax jurisdiction, was as
follows:
EREEE KEHBRR et
Right-of-use Unremitted
assets earnings Total
FHET FHET FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R2023F1A1H At 1 January 2023 (8,724) (1,298) (10,022)
RiEa 2 ElER (Charged)/credited to the
(#0BR) FT A consolidated statement of
comprehensive income (12,515) 1,298 (11,217)
ME H =R Exchange differences 372 - 372
R2023F12A318 & At 31 December 2023 and
2024%F1H1H 1 January 2024 (20,867) - (20,867)
RizEEERERTA Credited to the consolidated
statement of comprehensive
income 5,103 - 5,103
ME W, =R Exchange differences 283 - 283
2024512 A31H At 31 December 2024 (15,481) - (15,481)
HZE2024F 128318 KEEH— T EH A PRC subsidiary of the Group have undistributed earnings of
MR By R R B F 4 537,487,000 approximately HK$37,487,000 as of 31 December 2024 (2023:
7C (20234 : 31,778,000/ 7T) " M EVE & HK$31,778,000), which, if paid out as dividends, would be
BB R Bl BRI BN IE - 71 subject to tax in the hands of the recipient. Assessable temporary
JERRERNUE=Z=8 BRIV A a) e differences exist, but no deferred tax liabilities have been recognised
SRR EB AT DRI SRR - BFEH as the parent entity is able to control the timing of distributions of
2R B R DR ZESA) -t g dividends from the PRC subsidiary and is not expected to distribute
P EERI A G - these profits in the foreseeable future.
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23 BEZBNRE

23 TRADE PAYABLES

2024 2023
FER FET

HK$’000 HK$'000

B S RNFIA Trade payables 285,421 249,755

MR2024F %2023F12A31H - B 5 ENK
TR EZEAHMERRDITIOT

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the aging analysis of trade
payables, based on invoice date, were as follows:

2024 2023

TET THETT

HK$'000 HK$’000

0£90K 0 to 90 days 240,069 190,030
91E365K 91 to 365 days 39,762 46,363
365K k£ Over 365 days 5,590 13,362
285,421 249,755

7552 B 5 1 50 #0 R T ELDA T 51 5%
WA

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade payables were
denominated in the following currencies:

2024 2023
FET T T

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT HK$ 19,748 1,423
ETT usb 136,031 110,045
AREE RMB 128,092 135,762
BT EUR 1,484 2,297
i) Others 66 228
285,421 249,755

MN20244% 2023512 83180 B S ER K
HREREEREEAFERE

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the carrying amounts of trade
payables approximated their fair values.

BFERERERAR
20245 %5

1,728
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0 EHEE HMENKERE 24 CONTRACT LIABILITIES, OTHER PAYABLES AND

TEHA ACCRUALS
2023
THET
HK$'000
fEFHE BRI X Accrued employee benefit expenses 20,183
FEFHHERERX Accrued sale commission expenses 3,114
BEWE BEEREN Payables for acquisition of properties,

& FRIE plant and equipment 3,059
BERE Customer deposits 93,469
Hit EANIAREE R Other payables and accruals 35,058
EHaE (MEs50) Contract liabilities (Note 5(c)) 12,495

167,378
R2024F &2023F12A31H - & &EE As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the carrying amounts of
HiEMRELEFEANERDESRER contract liabilities, other payables and accruals approximated their
N ERE - fair values.
AEBEMEMNRELETEZHAOERT The carrying amounts of the Group’s other payables and accruals
BUATIEEEHE were denominated in the following currencies:
2023
THET
HK$'000
ARE RMB 3,844
e usD 101,322
BT HK$ 27,653
132,819
25 R E 25 DIVIDENDS
M2023F3F28E BTN EE@ @ E L At the board meeting held on 28 March 2023, the directors of
RARABEFEFHRMNEZE2022912A31 the Company recommended the payment of a final dividend of
HIEFERRIRB &R EBIK0.05%8 HK$0.05 per ordinary share for the year ended 31 December 2022,
7T * A 5,000,000 7T R HINE BB I MR amounting to a total of HK$5,000,000. The final dividend was
BEE2023F12A31IBIFEENERZRE reflected as an appropriation of retained earnings for the year ended
F 53 B o 31 December 2023.
AKABEFTTIAEZREE2023F K The directors of the Company do not recommend the payment of a
2024F12 A31 B IEFE RN AREARE - final dividend for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2024.
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26 SRITER 26 BANK BORROWINGS

2024 2023
F# T FET
HK$'000 HK$'000
RITER—FBER AR Bank loans — secured and repayable
ERER on demand 188,279 292,603
Rt M BBRBREBERNEERETT The bank borrowings were repayable, without taking into account
B UNN the repayable on demand clauses, as follows:
2024 2023
FHET FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000
—FR Within 1 year 188,279 292,603

MR2024F 2023512 A31H  IRITIERZ
FREEEEAFERE B AN TE®EE
&:

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the carrying amounts of bank
borrowings approximate their fair values and are denominated in the
following currencies:

2024 2023
FExT FABT

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT HK$ 155,234 259,600
AR RMB 33,045 33,003
188,279 292,603

202412 A31 8 - SR1TE ZR 89 INHEF 5
BRERRE5.7% (20234 : 6.8%) °

As at 31 December 2024, the weighted average effective interest
rate on bank borrowings was 5.7% (2023: 6.8%) per annum.

BFEEFERER AR
Xzozzi%i& 1 75
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26 SRITER (&)

26 BANK BORROWINGS (continued)

R2024F F%2023F12 A31H  KEEET
RITERRIBITRHE HEBAR R RAIT
BERERBRRAZELERAARIE
AR R SR BB SL B MG BRI - 2R
BELAERABELEENNAFH
REZERTREATEAQRER K2
BREMKIKEBEEEEABONERREN
AARRBATAMGRIT WEEHRNE
B BEEEAATMNBERR  Kii)
HAFBEAEEEDERARREZRE Y
51% R EEAERQABE—HAKRE -

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, certain Group’s bank
borrowings and banking facilities were secured through the
undertakings given by Mr. Raymond Chu, an executive director and
Controlling Shareholder of the Company, and Mr. Wilson Chu, a
Controlling Shareholder of the Company. The undertakings given
by Mr. Raymond Chu and Mr. Wilson Chu stipulate that for so long
as these bank facilities are available to the Company, Mr. Raymond
Chu and Mr. Wilson Chu undertake to (i) notify the bank before
pledging their shares of the Company; if their shares are pledged, a
facility review of the Company will be triggered, and (ii) at all times
collectively maintain at least 51% of the beneficial shareholding
interest in the Company and collectively remain the single largest
shareholder of the Company.

27 RER KRG &EE 27 SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM

B EE m{E IR0 E

Number of Nominal Share

shares value premium

F % T T FHET

000 HK$'000 HK$'000

202351518 20234 At 1 January 2023,

12H31H 20241818 & 31 December 2023,
2024912 A31H 1 January 2024 and

31 December 2024 100,000 20,000 80,355

WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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28 IREBRTREBRWE

28 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS
Q REEENRE (@) Cash generated from operations
2024 2023
THET FAET
HK$'000 HK$'000
R BT 15 B A0 & F Profit before income tax 83,188 5,485
FIAT B IAEHAE: Adjustments for:
EhE A (F7E9) Finance income (Note 9) (4,107) (4,073)
EhE AR (FEE9) Finance costs (Note 9) 19,673 19,958
& (KMs12) Depreciation (Note 12) 36,842 40,996
BiE (MiEE13) Amortisation (Note 13) 351 501
FEREREE (KE17) Provision for impairment of inventories
(Note 17) 8,072 8,682
B 5 EWGRIBRE RS, Provision for/(reversal of) for impairment
(FEm) (BH3E3.2(a) of trade receivable (Note 3.2(a)) 953 (672)
LEME  BFE LR ERIEE  Loss on disposal of properties, plant and
(M &E7 (@) equipment (Note 7(a)) 102 2,059
—MaEtRZEAGEE Share of loss of a joint venture (Note 19)
(f4=E19) 10 =
BRATEFABRHNESREE (Gain)loss on fair value changes of
ZRAFEZE (M=), financial asset at FVTPL (Note 15)
18 (F4EE15) (19,225) 29,364
125,859 102,300
EEETEE: Changes in working capital:
— 8 5 KA A FEWGRIA — Trade and other receivables 18,583 70,811
—FE — Inventories 16,070 (10,009)
— BB = (b 3 2 KRR — Balance with a joint venture (26) =
—HAREEE 5 2 KRR — Balances with related parties - (167)
— B 5 KHE A ERNRIE —Trade and other payables 22,871 (69,254)
—ENEE — Bills payables - (3,614)
REELNFHRS Net cash generated from operations 183,357 90,067

b) REEHREREBRT  HEW
¥ BENRBHRERERSE:

proceeds from disposal of properties, p
equipment comprised:

(b) In the consolidated statement of cash flows,

lant and

2024 2023
FExT THET
HK$’000 HK$'000
& BREDFE Net book amounts disposed 143 3,598
HEMR BB RREH Loss on disposal of properties,
B (7@ ) plant and equipment (Note 7(a)) (102) (2,059)
HEME BERREFRRF Proceeds from disposal of properties,
IR plant and equipment 41 1,539
BFRERZERARAR
Sourw 177
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28 IMEBERERMTE (&) 28 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS (continued)

(c) The reconciliations of liabilities arising from
financing activities were as follows:

o MERHELENERYRY
T

178

HEESE BITER
Lease Bank
liabilities borrowings
THETT FHETT
HK$'000 HK$'000
A2023F181H At 1 January 2023 37,938 275,340
RERE Cash flows
—IRITIEFRFTEF0R — Proceeds from bank borrowings - 910,269
—BERRITEX — Repayments of bank borrowings - (892,480)
—XNHEEaEZAREHY — Payment of principal element of
lease liabilities (22,247) -
—ZNHEAEZFNET D — Payment of interest element of
lease liabilities (3,950) =
—XHRITERZ M EFX — Payment of interest expenses
on bank borrowings - (16,008)
HAh3ER ¢ & Other non-cash movements
-AEHEARE — Addition of lease liability 72,500 —
—FEMX — Interest expenses 3,950 16,008
—EXERE — Exchange difference (1,541) (526)
A2023F12A318 K At 31 December 2023 and
202451818 1 January 2024 86,650 292,603
REME Cash flows
—RITIERFTISFRIA — Proceeds from bank borrowings = 721,746
—BRRITENK — Repayments of bank borrowings = (826,654)
—XNHEEaEzRE MY — Payment of principal element of
lease liabilities (21,654) =
—XNHEEREZMEHMY — Payment of interest element of
lease liabilities (4,262) =
—XfHRITERZ A EFRX — Payment of interest expenses
on bank borrowings - (14,354)
Hi IR & Other non-cash movements
-ANEHEAE — Addition of lease liability 9,277 .
—HMEMX — Interest expenses 4,262 15,411
—[EHE% — Exchange difference (1,180) (473)
20245128318 At 31 December 2024 73,093 188,279

WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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29 FEMBRARFHE

29

N EE B PA2024F 2023F 12 A31H M =
EMBRAREHINMN T -BRBEHRBIN B
Al SHmBENRAEHASEEERFA
B S BARAER - B BRI AR LB
ERAEBRRAE ML ERH

WEREM AR T ZERME -

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

The Group’s principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2024 and 2023
are set out below. Unless otherwise stated, they have share capital
consisting solely of ordinary shares that are held directly by the
Group, and the proportion of ownership interests held equals the
voting rights held by the Group. The locations of incorporation or
registration are also their principal place of business.

FREFRNEERER
Ownership interest held
by the Group
2024 2023
MR B BERTREHRE
Wi 2 R & REABENER TEXBREELY LES BEER HARD
Place of incorporation/
registration and Principal activities and Issued and fully Interest Interest
Name of subsidiary kind of legal entity place of operation paid up capital held held
EffE:
Direct interests:
Brilliant Holdings Investments EERAES AR REBRAHSETR 1ET
Group Limited AR B1ER
Brilliant Holdings Investments BVI; limited liability Investment holding usD1 100% 100%
Group Limited company in BVI
R

Indirect interests:

EFERBERAR

Wise Ally Holdings Limited

REBHENEXERAT

Dongguan Wise Ally Industrial

Co., Ltd.*

BE BRAR
Hong Kong; limited
liability company

HEARAT

The PRC; limited
liability company

REBHEBTER 100,000/ 72
Trading of electronic HK$100,000 100% 100%
products in Hong Kong

RPERERHEET 64,800,000
Em

Manufacturing and HK$64,800,000 100% 100%
trading of electronic
products in the PRC

*  The English translation is for identification purpose only. This company does
not have official English name.

BEEEERARA A
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30 EREE

RER BRINERAELFRBERE

30 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Capital expenditure in relation to the purchases of plant and

MR 2 BRI T machinery contracted for but not yet incurred at the end of the year
was as follows:
2024 2023
FExT FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
BRT4E & R EE Contracted but not provided for 1,939 2,838

31 B LSR5 R&sk 31 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES
BERE 75 58 A 7 4R~ 2R 1R ) R S o
BEHRBEERNNEMFTTEEAY
LN ERBEBREHRNEDHTES
REEZEABER: URALENERE
BEHEEREN UYEREEDRNS
EHRTT B B LRSI
| AR 25 B 75 o B R U5 AT LA 2 1
NERE M B o

Related parties are those parties that have the ability to control,
jointly control or exert significant influence over the other party in
holding power over the investee; exposure, or rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee; and the ability to use
its power over the investee to affect the amounts of the investor’s
returns. Parties are also considered to be related if they are subject to
common control or joint control. Related parties may be individuals
or other entities.

22 A AR SR P S 14 B

The Controlling Shareholders are disclosed in Note 1.

Major related parties that had transactions with the Group during

FRAEAEEFEXZNEZHEE TN

T the year were as follows:
BT 20245 2023512831 A R A S BB F

Related parties Relationship with the Group as at 31 December 2024 and 2023

180

REEBERE ERBRREARBESE

Mr. Raymond Chu Controlling Shareholder and Director of the Company
REERE PR AR

Mr. Wilson Chu Controlling Shareholder

RAXEFRE RRRESE

Mr. Chu Man Yin Arthur Newton Director of the Company

FtExs RRARESE

Mr. Lau Shui Fung Director of the Company
BEEXBRAA i 4% AR AR BR 2

Defond Electrical Industries Limited Controlled by Controlling Shareholders
Talentone Technology Limited BEME

Talentone Technology Limited Joint Venture

WiseGiken Elite Pte. Ltd BEME

WiseGiken Elite Pte. Ltd
Smartview Investments Limited
Smartview Investments Limited

Annual Report 2024
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31 BB A RS KiEes (&)

(a) ERBARE TS 2 K5 BR

31 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES

(continued)

(@) Balances with related parties

2024 2023
FTEx FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000
FESMHE Non-trade nature
EBW—EE&EhERE Amount due from a joint venture
-WiseGiken Elite Pte. Ltd — WiseGiken Elite Pte. Ltd (“WiseGiken”)
('wiseGiken |) 26 -

MR2024F12 A31H » E L WiseGiken
REEIFESHEE EEHF 2ER

BRARTZEANEE-

within the next twelve months.

As at 31 December 2024, the amount due from WiseGiken
was non-trade in nature, unsecured, interest-free and repayable

2024 2023
FET FET
HK$'000 HK$’000
EZMHE Trade nature
FEf — BB B 2 B RKH Amount due to a related company
—EEEXERAF — Defond Electrical Industries Limited
(regl) (“Defond”) 171 171

M20244 202312 H318 -
EREAEBESME EER - 2ER

ARART —_EAAREE-

720244 }2023F12 318 - FEfS 12
LRIEIREZEANERROITOT ¢

&

within the next twelve months.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the amount due to Defond
was trade in nature, unsecured, interest-free and repayable

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the aging analysis of the
amount due to Defond, based on invoice date, was as follows:

2024 2023
FTERT TR

HK$'000 HK$’000

0ZE30X 0 to 30 days 171 171

BEERERERAR

2024435 1 81
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31 EBARE Kimes (&)

(b) ERBAEE T VX 53

182

BREGE T RREMI D TIEES
G B E20244F 2023128318 1E
FE UTRSHEFTERBENK
TR RAES 5 T

31 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES
(continued)

(b) Transactions with related parties

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial

statements, the following transactions were carried out with
related parties during the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023, at terms mutually agreed by both parties:

Continuing transaction

(i)

Purchase of goods

2024 2023

FTERx THETT

HK$’000 HK$’000

BRERBER Purchase of goods from Defond 720 551

FPREMARZ IR NE T E
BB EMGTET - AARES
RE REXHTINAEENA
FEBBARETALREEHEHED

fERARAETT

(i) EREERAEERSRFTIRITER
B ARGE X

HE2024F X2023F12A318 1
FE - BTASEIRITERAK
FE26FTEL AN RIIE AR IR R B AR
ER VEHE 4 o

WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
Annual Report 2024

(ii)

The above related party transactions were carried out on
terms mutually agreed between the parties. In the opinion
of the directors of the Company, these transactions were
conducted in the ordinary course of business of the Group
and in accordance with the terms of the underlying
agreements.

Letter of undertaking given by controlling shareholders in
respect of certain Group’s bank borrowing

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023,
certain bank borrowings of the Group were secured by a
letter of undertaking from the Controlling Shareholders of
the Company as set out in Note 26.
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S1EBAR G NG (F) 31 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES

(continued)
b) EEBAENRS (&) (b) Transactions with related parties (continued)
BEXS (&) Continuing transaction (continued)

(iii) LT E -GS BEITLH (ili) Put option agreement entered between the controlling

ESEEL A

RATIERBE RN EEREE L
HR2023F9 128 EBTTLEI 2
HEAEm S ERRBELEER
TTL TR LA B K R 1TE HB
(BB IE AT IR (B 5 R BB i
EOARBRESNAEBEASE
% EFEEB T EEE ¥ H S
f8) #2277 £ {844,000,00078 7T #&
ETTLHFRMD (A AEFBELE
BEAEERRAFATITLEHTR
DEEZ30%ER) - BFREHE
A (HF ) TTLARE
HA B #5208 o S 0 B 8 B2023
FOA0B 2 HRASEE - £
MEZHEWIER T BRERTTLR F
HEZAEMBRRELNEER
SEFENTREEFNHKE
BALHE-

218 5% 4120252 A10H &
TILRTTLZ EERRRESH =
WA RIS IERE - LA IE E
i Rh HARE 1 o SR IR RE 2 BT
5F34 °

shareholder and a joint venture

Mr. Raymond Chu, the Controlling Shareholder and
Director of the Company, entered into a put option
agreement with TTL on 12 September 2023 in which
Mr. Raymond Chu grants the right to TTL to require him
to purchase new shares of TTL at the exercise price of
HK$44,000,000 during the exercise period (i.e. a period of
fourteen business days from the Maturity Date exercisable
upon the redemption of the outstanding principal amount
of the convertible bond pursuant to the CB Subscription
Agreement) to the extent that the Group and Mr. Raymond
Chu shall together hold 30% of the total number of shares
issued by TTL. For the put option to be effective, among
other things, TTL has to maintain operational subsistence
at the Maturity Date. As disclosed in the supplemental
announcement dated 20 September 2023, the rationale of
the above arrangement is to ensure that TTL would have
financial means to repay the outstanding principal amount
of convertible bond held by the Group upon the Maturity
Date.

Mr. Raymond Chu entered into a termination deed with
TTL and Ms. Vivian Chang, the major shareholder and
director of TTL, for the termination of the above put option
agreement on 10 February 2025. Please refer to Note 34 for
the details.

() TBZEEEHMN

(c) Key management compensation

IEERBENHENEREEEDN

Compensation paid or payable to key management for employee

HMZIRAT services is shown below:
2024 2023
FHET THET
HK$'000 HK$’000
I&ERES Wages and salaries 17,953 19,291
BAREHA—FREMRMKETE]  Pension costs — defined contribution plan 108 144
18,061 19,435

EFEEERARA A
g Xzozﬂ;tgiﬁz 1 83
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NREENFERES 32 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
@ EEME (@) Directors’ emoluments
FRESHHMEY T - The remuneration of each director is set out below:

RER BEIHEME
g B¢ BERL  RMNE  TEOER REEA it

Employer's

Allowances  contribution

Discretionary  and benefits ~to pension  Termination

Fees Salary honus in kind scheme benefts Total
TEn TEn TR TEn TEn TR TR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BZ2045128318 For the year ended

LLEE 31 December 2024
GEEE Executive directors
-5 - Chu Wai Hang Raymond
-R¥E - Chu Man Yin Arthur Newton
i - ~Lau Shui Fung
BUFHTES Independent non-executive

directors

-34f - Lee Wa Lun Warren
IR - Szeto Yok Ting
-EEX - Hlizabeth Law
BZ2023%128318 For the year ended

LLEE 31 December 2023
SEEES Executive directors
-5 - Chu Wai Hang Raymond - 4,700 - - - e 4,700
-KXE ~ Chu Man Yin Arthur Newton - 1,300 30 - 18 = 1,348
-2 - Lau Shui Fung - 2,250 50 - 18 = 2318
BUFHTES Independent non-executive

directors

—&20 (W) - Ling Imma Kit Sum (Note i) 241 - - - - - 241
-2¥R ~Lee Wa Lun Warren 360 - - - . _ 360
- AfEE - Saeto Yuk Ting 360 - - . - - 360
-BE% (M) - Hlizabeth Law (Note i) 210 - - - - . 210

117 8,250 80 - 36 - 9,537
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NEETNNEZRERS (F) 32 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(continued)

@ EBME (&)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (continued)

GER

() FEEZLLZETENR2023F6A1BBHIAR
RAIBVIENITES

iy BEELTEN2023F6A18EZRTA
RAREIERITESE

H E2024F K2023F12A31H I F
€ BB AR R E BB RN
IS A EHM: (DB EARF
EHNEMBRREBMNAE BRI
Bk B & -

HE2024F K2023%F12A318 IEF
B BMEARAEESHNEREREN
ETMEE -

(b) EERABRIRLKILFR

H E20244F K2023F12 A318 IE 5
B HMERRIESRENESEE
SEE A RELME  RIKEF
SRIB AR F IV (] JE A 5K -

RERHESREMAE=A
RERLE

HE2024%F K2023%12H318 IEF
B HERERERESREMRE=
FIRERE-

d EERXE ZHERENTH

EXER

BRiRAUEHRREMIBOFEERSE
I KRB BEET L AR A ESNE
o E ek A A AR S A R
a3 220245 %2023%F12A318 1t
FEANTIERTEREAREEER
EBENERAR S THREL-

Notes:

() Ms. Ling Imma Kit Sum has resigned as the independent non-executive
director of the Company on 1 June 2023.

(i) Ms. Elizabeth Law has been appointed as the independent non-
executive director of the Company on 1 June 2023.

None of the directors of the Company (i) received or paid any
remuneration in respect of accepting office; (ii) received or
paid emoluments in respect of services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company or its subsidiaries’
undertaking during the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023.

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, none of
the directors of the Company waived or has agreed to waive any
emolument.

(b) Directors’ retirement benefits and termination

benefits

No emoluments, retirement benefits, payments or benefits in
respect of termination of directors” services were paid or made,
directly or indirectly, to the directors; nor were any payables
during the years 31 ended December 2024 and 2023.

(c) Consideration provided to third parties for making

available directors’ services

No consideration was provided to third parties for making
available directors’ services during the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023.

(d) Directors” material interests in transactions,

arrangements or contracts

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, no significant transactions, arrangements and
contracts in relation to the Group’s business to which the
Company was a party and in which a director of the Company
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted
at the end of the year or at any time during the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023.

EFEEERARA A
- X2024%*&& 1 85
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33 RANFIMBRARREZREEE 33 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND

EQUITY MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

(@) A1 A BRRE

(@) Statement of financial position of the Company

2023
Bt aE FAET
Note HK$'000
aE ASSETS
RBEE Non-current asset
KA E A E Investment in a subsidiary 67,908
RBEE Current assets
FEft IR Prepayments 133
JFE L — Fe B J88 2 ) RKIE Amount due from a subsidiary 102,572
REMRREEFED Cash and cash equivalents 22
B 102,727
BEE Total assets 170,635
FEE EQUITY
AARERFTAA Equity attributable to equity
PEiGREE holders of the Company
[N Share capital (b) 20,000
A7 4 B Share premium (b) 80,355
BANEE Capital reserve (b) 67,898
(REtEB) BiFWE (Accumulated losses)/retained (b)
earnings 2,379
) £ Total equity 170,632
REBEE Current liability
HibENRIBERETEA  Other payables and accruals 3
BERkEEAR Total equity and liability 170,635

2R B H) B B R0 2k B 70202543 A
26HEBEFEHMAE WHNMTAL

The statement of financial position of the Company was
approved by the Board of Directors on 26 March 2025 and was

REREZ- signed on its behalf.
KEE 2+x Chu Wai Hang Raymond Lau Shui Fung
EF BEF Director Director
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IBEAATMBEMRREREZRESH 33 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND

(#&) EQUITY MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
(continued)
(b) RABERLE (b) Equity movement of the Company
Bk,
B& {3 EE EARE  (RHEB) BER
Retained
earnings/
Share Share Capital  (Accumulated Total
capital premium reserve losses) equity

T T T TR TR
HKS000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

R2023F1 818 284 Balance at 1 January 2023 20,000 80,355 67,898 1,161 169,414
REWE Comprehensive income
FREH Profit for the year - - - 6218 6,218
2EkEAE Total comprehensive income = = = 6,218 6,218
BRBAETHNRS Transaction with owners
) Dividend - - - (5,000) (5,000)

BEBAETHRZEH Total transaction with owners

#2023F12A318 & Balance at 31 December 2023 and
202451818 2 &8h 1 January 2024

:EER Comprehensive loss

ENEBR Loss for the year

EEEEAE Total comprehensive loss

20245128310 2 &8 Balance at 31 December 2024

B BERERERAR
> 20242?43 1 87
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34 Bl E1H 34 SUBSEQUENT EVENT

R2025%F2 8108  BFIZERBR A A
(BRI ARARNEEZEHBAGF)
MARGREERZE([BEHF])RTTL
FIVEERZ B BEFEERKGRE
HEMERAEEBRHREBEETTLAI0%
BETRG KRB A730,0008 T ([HE
EE]) HEFBEE MN2025F2813H
TR C-REESETKE BEFTHERFS
TTLE AT 4 o

R2025F2 8108 - ARREF #MITE
ERTHRAHAZERE ([KREE])E
TTILEBE TR IR (T4 L2, ]) -
B (AR 83E) RAEABETTLR2023
FOANAF Y ZR S ERE (BT
R BRREEREETTILIRGD UE S
MREEAEBATTLRTHRMETIL
BEITERMAEZ30%EE 1TEEA
44,000,000 C) B N2 T EEFI R ET
ERE AR IERIRIE B 4K IE o

REB BFEREREEBHZIUETR
Ham A2 EERE ([&E]) Bt Kk
A S AR I AT AT SR B 3 R B R GE - AR IR
A #2575 SR B W i 2 R I AR - IR
FEHAROI4EZSERAR RKKRTTLZ
AMED N RAREEZATREESA
e ERBEEMIHA (BFE%A)
M EEBAREERFFE -

A EE A REEENIEAEE(F
TEENEE2024F12A31B L FER
A TEHRER BB ERAE-

WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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On 10 February 2025, Wise Ally Holdings Limited (the “Vendor”),
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and the
Company entered into the sale and purchase agreement with Ms.
Chang Wai Han Vivian (the “Purchaser”) and TTL, pursuant to
which the Vendor conditionally agreed to sell, and the Purchaser
has conditionally agreed to purchase, 10% issued shares of TTL at
a consideration of HK$730,000 (the “Disposal”). The Disposal has
been completed on 13 February 2025. Upon completion of the
Disposal, the Vendor ceased to hold any equity interest in TTL.

On 10 February 2025, Mr. Chu Wai Hang Raymond (“Mr. Chu”),
the chairman, executive Director and chief executive officer of the
Company, entered into a termination deed (“Termination Deed”)
with TTL and the Purchaser, pursuant to which, among others, all
the rights and obligations of Mr. Chu and TTL under the put option
agreement dated 12 September 2023 entered into between Mr. Chu
and TTL in relation to the grant of the right to require Mr. Chu to
purchase new shares of TTL, to the extent that the Vendor and Mr.
Chu shall together hold 30% of the total number of shares issued
by the TTL after the new issue of shares of TTL at the exercise price
of HK$44,000,000, was terminated with immediate effect upon
execution of the Termination Deed.

On the same date, the Vendor received a deed of undertaking
(“Undertaking”) issued by Mr. Chu, in favour of the Vendor,
pursuant to which Mr. Chu unconditionally and irrevocably
agrees and undertakes to pay, within 14 business days after the
Extended Maturity Date, to the Vendor for and on behalf of TTL
the outstanding principal amount of the CB, together with all
outstanding accrued interests accrued up to and including the
Extended Maturity Date, pursuant to the terms and conditions of the
CB Subscription Agreement.

This is a non-adjusting event after the financial year ended and does
not result in any adjustments to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2024.



Wise Ally International Holdings Limited
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